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TO O U R SH AR EHOLDER S

We are pleased to present this 2018 Annual Report
to the shareholders of Farm Credit West.
Farm Credit West had another year of record
earnings in 2018. To thank you for your business,
we are proud to announce a cash patronage distribution of 1.00% of average eligible loan balances
for both of our patronage pools — the Farm Credit
West borrowers and the Farm Credit Services
of Southwest borrowers. The total patronage
is a record $115.7 million in cash and represents
the 18th consecutive year of paying patronage
to you, our member-owners. Your Board of

Directors determined this level of patronage
was justified due to our continued strong earnings
and stable performance. The 2018 patronage
represents an increase from the 0.75% Farm Credit
West declared for the past six years and the 0.50%
it declared for the seven years prior to that. As a
member of the Farm Credit System, Farm Credit
West is a customer-owned cooperative that serves
our member-owners. Therefore, as a cooperative,
we are able to distribute earnings to you (in excess

BACK ROW Mark A. Cook, Colin Mellon, Douglas C. Filipponi, Blake Harlan, Craig Gnos, Brian Talley, Robert Hansen, Sureena S. Thiara
FRONT ROW Tom Ikeda, Joseph C. (Joey) Airoso, Catherine Fanucchi, Mark Osterkamp, Barry Powell, Robert E. Amarel, Jr., Teresa Castanias
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of what is necessary for us to retain as capital to
maintain safety and soundness), thereby reducing
your borrowing costs. Patronage is a way of returning
a portion of Farm Credit West’s net income to our
member-owners and it represents one of the three
pillars of Farm Credit West’s value proposition. The
other two pillars are to provide highly competitive rates
and to deliver products and services in an extraordinary
way. We believe that 2018 represents a year where we
met all three of these value propositions.
We recognize that 2018 was a challenging year for
many of our borrowers and, because of your continued
loyalty, we are pleased that we are able to return cash
patronage distributions to you at a time when you
may need it the most. We strive to be more than just
a lender to you as we work to build relationships with
our members that often span several generations.
The agricultural industry continues to face many
challenges, environmental and market-driven.
There seems to be no end to devastating events that
affect our borrowers and their neighbors as well
as our colleagues and friends across the Farm Credit
System. In California, we again saw extreme damage
and loss from unrelenting fires. Although there has
been ample rainfall and snowpack recently, debates
surrounding water rights and supply in California
and Arizona continue to cause uncertainty for
agricultural producers. Domestic and foreign demand
for certain agricultural products, especially tree nuts
and dairy products, which are our largest financed
commodities, has declined due to a slowing global
economy and uncertainty in trade negotiations.
Interest rates continue to be in the news and
speculation regarding rising interest rates change
almost daily. Any one of these challenges could
cause stress in a particular area of our loan portfolio.
Farm Credit West and your Board are committed
to supporting agriculture across our communities.
We are fortunate that your Board is very engaged
in addressing challenges within our territory and

SUMMARY OF OUR 2018
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
AND CONDITION
NET INCOME for 2018 was $248 million

compared to $220 million in 2017. Net
income in 2018 was positively impacted
by an increase in our net interest income
due to strong performance and stability in
our loan portfolio as well as the impact of
rising interest rates on our growing capital.
EARNING ASSETS grew to $10 billion by

the end of 2018 from $9.7 billion at the end
of 2017. Average earning assets were $9.6
billion for 2018 compared to $9.5 billion for
2017. While earning asset growth in 2018
was much lower than we experienced in
prior years, it allowed us to continue to
increase our capital position. Maintaining a
strong capital position is critical to ensuring
that Farm Credit West will be protected
from unexpected future losses and is prepared for future challenges.
ASSET QUALITY declined slightly to 95.6%

non-adversely classified loans at year-end
2018 compared to 95.9% at the end of 2017.
However, nonaccrual loans and other property owned decreased to $113 million at the
end of 2018 compared to $117 million at the
end of 2017.
TOTAL CAPITAL at the end of 2018 was

$2.2 billion compared to $2.1 billion at the
end of 2017. Our primary capital ratio measurement is common equity tier 1 (CET1).
The CET1 ratio was 14.0% at the end of
2018 compared to a CET1 ratio of 13.3% at
the end of 2017. Both were well in excess of
the regulatory requirements. Loan growth
requires additional capitalization and our
strong earnings and slower loan growth
allowed us to increase our capital ratios.
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nationally within the Farm Credit System. Time and money are spent each
year on stewardship events and opportunities that support agriculture.
The Board and staff continue to serve as advocates for agriculture both
locally and nationally.
In 2018, we experienced some changes within the Farm Credit West
Board. There was one retirement, and as such, we want to thank
Dick Eastman for his many years of dedicated service and the valuable
business expertise that he shared in the boardroom. Additionally,
we welcomed a new elected director — Mark Osterkamp from our
Southwest region.
Our mission for more than 100 years has not changed — to ensure that
farmers, ranchers and agribusinesses have a consistent, affordable
and reliable source of funding — in good times and bad — in spite
of the challenges that agriculture faces. This mission requires our
continued focus. Our strong performance year after year would not have
been possible without the support and contributions from our Board,
our staff and our members — past and present.
On behalf of the Farm Credit West Board and staff, thank you for your
business. We are proud to be of service to the agricultural industry
and we look forward to meeting with you at our upcoming customer
appreciation events.

Sincerely,

JOSEPH C. AIROSO		MARK D. LITTLEFIELD
Chairman of the Board of Directors		President and Chief Executive Officer
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com·mu·ni·ty
\kə-ˇ myü-nə-tē

1. A
 group of people with a common characteristic
or interest living together within a larger society
2. Joint ownership or participation

Throughout history, people have gathered
together to share in the benefits of living
as a community. In addition to sharing
ideas, members receive protection,
share the cost of labor, and work together
to accomplish joint goals. By investing in
their community, not only do the members
benefit, but so does the group at large.
As a member-owned cooperative, we’re
well acquainted with this dynamic. Every
day, our staff arrive at work ready to work
with you to develop unique solutions for
your business, providing you with the right
financing and financial services that will
help your farm or ranch to thrive. Our staff
both live and work locally, and can often
be found serving alongside you at industry
events. Most lending decisions are made
at your local branch, allowing our staff
the flexibility to develop the perfect solution

for your situation. Farm Credit West’s success
is only possible if you are successful.
Just as with any other community, we join
with our members to reach a common
goal, securing the continued vitality and
strength of agriculture in America. We listen
to our members and staff, sharing ideas
and identifying/developing products that
provide value. In turn, we invest in our future,
providing opportunities for young, beginning,
and small farmers — in addition to farmerveterans — to improve their skills and get
a jump start in their operation. We give back
to our communities, both locally and at the
national level, as we continue to advocate
for the future of agriculture.

At Farm Credit West, community
isn’t just somewhere you live.
It’s the core of our strength.
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Your Community
Building Blocks
WHAT WE 'RE MADE OF

Asset Quality

FINANCIAL
STRENGTH

Earnings

Capital

Customers

ENGAGEMENT

Board of Directors

Staff

Exclusive Focus
on Agriculture

EXPERTISE

Risk Analysis

Financial
Reporting
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Local Advisory
Committee

Management
Team

Farm Credit West
WHO WE ARE

LARGEST
PATRONAGE
DISTRIBUTION
ON RECORD

26.3%

$248

AVERAGE
CUSTOMER
APPROVAL
RATING

1% of eligible loan
balances returned
as cash dividend
to borrowers

Significantly better
than the 40%
average ratio for the
Farm Credit System

Our earnings
engine remained
robust in 2018

1 represents excellent
on a 5-point scale

EFFICIENCY
RATIO

NET
INCOME

MILLION

1.2

Making a Difference
OUR L ASTING IMPACT

Exclusive
Industry Reports

KNOWLEDGE
SOURCE

Young, Beginning
and Small Farmer
Resources
Community
Events

STEWARDSHIP

Financial
Commitment

Time
Commitment

ADVOCATE FOR
AGRICULTURE

Loyal to Our
Borrowers

All this equals
a community
working to secure
a successful future
for agriculture

Advocates
to Congress
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Building Blocks
WHAT WE 'RE MADE OF

FINANCIAL STRENGTH
Strength of our members

There’s strength in numbers.
You’ve all heard the old adage that two is better than one. At Farm Credit West,
we take that a step further. Our association’s strength and vitality is directly tied
to the strength of our member-owners, all 5,500 of them. We work with you in the bad
times, and celebrate with you in the good. This business model has served us well
over the last 100 years, and 2018 is no exception. ■

Assets
$10,001 | $113

2018

26.3%

2017

$9,679 | $117

2017

27.7%

2016

27.4%

2015

26.7%

2014

25.4%

$9,445 | $142

2016

$8,975 | $120

2015

EARNING ASSETS
(IN MILLIONS)

IS BE T TER THAN ONE

Earnings

2018

2014

5,500

$7,101 | $72
NONEARNING ASSETS
(IN MILLIONS)

NET INCOME
(IN MILLIONS)

$248
$220
$206
$169
$163
OPERATING
EFFICIENCY RATIO

Capital
$2,181

2018

$2,080

2017

$1,936

2016

$1,783

2015
2014

$1,527

TOTAL CAPITAL (IN MILLIONS)

2018
2017

14.0%
13.3%

2016

13.5%

2015

13.5%

2014
CET1 CAPITAL RATIO
(NEW RATIO 1/1/17)

14.9%

CORE SURPLUS RATIO
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ENGAGEMENT
In the spotlight and behind the scenes

“The ear of the leader must ring with
the voices of the people.” — WOODROW WILSON
You’re only as good as your team. Cross collaboration
and sharing ideas is a key benefit to any community.
Farm Credit West is well acquainted with this tenet.
We are serious about seeking out, listening, and
responding to comments and suggestions received
from both inside and outside our organization.
Farm Credit West’s leadership team, employees,
and customers regularly connect with one another as
a means to stay current on trends within the industry
and identify emerging needs in the agriculture sector.
Staying deeply connected to the agricultural
community is critical for our association’s success.
However, maintaining highly trained and qualified
staff and directors within the organization is equally
important. While the mission of Farm Credit West

is to provide superior service to our customers,
it is our people who ultimately ensure success.
Our association is committed to getting the right
people in the right place, doing the right work,
at the right time to provide excellent service to
our member-owners. As such, Farm Credit West
invests significant resources to attract, develop,
and retain high-quality staff and Board members.
As of today, most Farm Credit West directors
are fully certified graduates of the Premier
Governance Series, a state-of-the-art development
program designed specifically for high-performing
directors. In addition, all Directors are active
participants in NACD, a nationally recognized
director development organization. ■

Engagement by the Numbers

320
STAFF
MEMBERS
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48

LOCAL ADVISORY
COMMIT TEE
MEMBERS

8

NOMINATING
COMMITTEE
MEMBERS

15

MEMBERS
OF THE BOARD
OF DIRECTORS

7

EXECUTIVE
MANAGEMENT
TEAM MEMBERS

E XPERTISE
Our exclusive focus on agriculture

Diversification

TREE NUTS 19.9%
DAIRY 13.7%
PROCESSING/MARKETING < 20%

7.2%

PROCESSING/MARKETING > 20%

6.7%

WINE GRAPES 5.6%
VEGETABLES

4.7%

TABLE GRAPES 4.0%
WINE 3.6%
DECIDUOUS TREE FRUIT

Our strength lies in our
diversity — and our solidarity.
As a lending institution, Farm Credit West
actively works to reduce our exposure to risk.
Focusing exclusively on agricultural loans, leases,
and financial services, we are uniquely positioned
to provide the expertise our customers require,
while also mitigating their risk as a shareholder
in our operation. By proactively managing
the commodity distribution of our loan portfolio,
Farm Credit West is taking steps to ensure that
challenging times impacting one commodity
won’t negatively influence our ability to continue
providing financial services to our customer base.

3.5%

BEEF CATTLE 3.3%
CROP SERVICES 2.8%
ORANGES

2.4%

NURSERY/GREENHOUSE

2.1%

FOREST PRODUCTS 2.0%
RICE

1.8%

RURAL INFRASTRUCTURE

1.8%

HAY

1.5%

LEMONS

1.2%

NON-FARM INCOME

1.0%

OTHER 11.2%

WE KNOW AGRICULTURE

Our intense focus on mitigating the risks
associated with financing agriculture is rooted
in our extensive knowledge of the industry.
Many of our staff, both in the branch and in
management, have worked and lived on farms
and ranches. While every operation is unique,
rest assured, when you become a member-owner
at Farm Credit West, we will be by your side.
We understand what it takes to feed the world
— and can help you do it.
Farm Credit West has been supporting rural
communities and agriculture with reliable,
consistent credit and financial services for
more than 100 years. ■
2 01 8 A N N UAL R EP O R T
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Farm Credit West
WHO WE ARE

2018 IN RE VIEW
A successful community

historic
patronage:

1%

of eligible average loan balances
returned to customers as a cash
patronage dividend in 2018

&

$706,000,000
in patronage payments since 2002

Patronage Distribution (in millions) and Basis Points (BPS)
2018

$115.7 / 100 BPS
$82.7 / 75 BPS

2017

$79.5 / 75 BPS

2016
2015
2014

$66.7 / 75 BPS
$57.0 / 75 BPS

2 01 8 A N N UAL R EP O R T
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2018 IN REVIEW
A successful community

$248 million
NET INCOME

Our earnings engine remains
robust, generating a steady
stream of income in 2018.

26.3%
EFFICIENCY RATIO

For every dollar we earn, we spend
less than $0.27. That’s one of the best
efficiency ratios in the Farm Credit
System — and the financial industry.

over

300

COMMODITIES REPRESENTED
This diversification is one of the
many reasons why Farm Credit West
remains solid, ready to serve both
you — and future generations.

12,000
LOANS AND LEASES

At Farm Credit West, you are
a member of our community,
with 5,500 farmers and ranchers
utilizing multiple products.

14
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2018 IN RE VIEW
A successful community

$10.6 billion
TOTAL ASSETS

Your association remains
very strong — and continues
to serve your community.

$2.2 billion
TOTAL CAPITAL

Farm Credit West is solidly positioned
to weather any storms of the future
with well-stocked financial reserves.

1.2

AVERAGE CUSTOMER
APPROVAL RATING
On a 5-point scale, our customers
continue to rate us as excellent (1),
a testament to our constant effort to
provide you excellent customer service.

98.9%

OF LOAN VOLUME
IS PRODUCING INCOME
Asset quality at Farm Credit West
continues to remain very strong, with
$10 billion in loan volume producing
income for the association.

2 01 8 A N N UAL R EP O R T
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Making a Difference
OUR L ASTING IMPACT

KNOWLEDGE SOURCE
Providing exclusive information to our member-owners

“An investment in knowledge pays the best interest.”
— BENJAMIN FRANKLIN

Lending exclusively to the agricultural
sector comes with its advantages. Not only
does this specialization attract expert staff
well acquainted with your unique business
model, but also positions Farm Credit West
to anticipate the needs of our customers,
providing a unique added value.
Through aggregation of data and decades
of in-depth experience (both quantitative
and qualitative), Farm Credit West captures
and repackages lessons learned through
a variety of reports, presentations, and
one-on-one interviews and conversations.
As a member-owner of Farm Credit West,
you are unlocking the door to a community
that encourages and provides resources
for customers to learn, grow and ultimately
become even stronger.

Why do we do this?
Because we are deeply
invested in your success.

EXCLUSIVE
INDUSTRY REPORTS

YOUNG, BEGINNING,
AND SMALL FARMER
RESOURCES

COMMUNIT Y
EVENTS

We have one focus in mind: provide excellent
customer service that helps our memberowners excel in their operations. ■

2 01 8 A N N UAL R EP O R T
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STEWARDSHIP
Our commitment to maintaining the strength of agriculture

“We make a living by what we get. We make a life by what we give.”
— WINSTON S. CHURCHILL

Farm Credit West has a long history of investing
in our local communities. Not a week goes by
where you won’t find our staff volunteering at local
industry and community events, or our logo shown
in support of a worthy cause. In 2018, our staff
spent an accumulated 9,300 hours volunteering
their time in the same communities where you
farm and live.
As an organization, our values reflect those of our
customer base, donating over $944,000 in 2018.
Over a quarter of these funds were in support
of youth programs, ranging from the Arizona FFA

to the California Ag in the Classroom Foundation.
With the average age of the American farmer
exceeding 50, we are intentional about promoting
agriculture among youth.
When disaster strikes, Farm Credit West acts,
sending multiple organizations disaster relief
dollars and offering reduced fees and flexible
terms to get those borrowers impacted back
on their feet. Last year was no exception as
we donated over $20,000 to those impacted
by catastrophic events. ■

YOUTH PROGRAMS
$230,845

RURAL COMMUNITIES
$196,755

Giving Back
$944,625 in 2018
INDUSTRY SUPPORT
$426,390

EDUCATION & RESEARCH $41,220
VETERAN PROGRAMS $26,375
FOOD PROGRAMS $17,750
MEMORIAL DONATIONS $5,290
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ADVOCATE FOR AGRICULTURE
Preserving our future

Every day, Farm Credit West fulfills our
commitment to build and deliver value to our
member-owners. This extends from interactions
between staff and customers in our chartered territory,
all the way to sharing our story with lawmakers in
Washington D.C. When you engage in business with
Farm Credit West, you are investing in a full-time
advocacy team, dedicated to securing a successful
future for agriculture in America. ■
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Success is sweet,
but even sweeter
when shared.
What makes Farm Credit West different from our competitors?
In a word: community.
As a member of this community, we are
joined together both in the challenging times,
and in our success. So deeply is this idea
woven into the fibers of our organization
that the Farm Credit West Board of Directors
voted to increase our patronage distribution
program by 25 BPS (0.25%) in 2018.

20
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At Farm Credit West, member-owners share
in our success, now enjoying a 1% cash
patronage return on average eligible loan
and lease balances in 2018.

Now that is sweet.

2018 Annual Report

2018 ANNUAL REPORT | 21

Five-Year Summary of Selected Financial Data
2018

(dollars in thousands)
At December 31:
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data
Loans and leases
Less: allowance for loan losses
Net loans and leases
Investment securities
Investment in CoBank
Other property owned
Other assets
Total assets

2017

2016

2015

2014

$ 10,112,715
(61,800)
10,050,915
—
321,888
1,211
240,756
$ 10,614,770

$

9,699,371
(64,900)
9,634,471
91,538
315,570
5,085
220,707
$ 10,267,371

$

9,469,588
(55,600)
9,413,988
114,712
303,675
3,483
205,339
$ 10,041,197

$ 8,951,406
(45,200)
8,906,206
137,434
271,801
5,831
173,349
$ 9,494,621

$ 6,998,977
(37,300)
6,961,677
168,353
212,294
6,337
143,531
$ 7,492,192

Obligations with maturities of one year or less
Obligations with maturities longer than one year
Total liabilities

$

$

$

$ 7,695,607
16,211
7,711,818

$ 5,958,971
6,321
5,965,292

Preferred stock
Capital stock and participation certificates
Additional paid-in-capital
Unallocated retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income
Total members’ equity
Total liabilities and members’ equity

378,105
5,025
133,312
1,669,518
(5,010)
2,180,950
$ 10,614,770

399,667
5,200
133,312
1,545,742
(4,210)
2,079,711
$ 10,267,371

384,119
5,200
133,312
1,416,252
(3,369)
1,935,514
$ 10,041,197

350,595
4,998
133,312
1,297,179
(3,281)
1,782,803
$ 9,494,621

320,544
4,130
—
1,201,239
987
1,526,900
$ 7,492,192

$

$

$

$

$

For the year ended December 31:
Consolidated Statement of Income Data
Net interest income
Provision for loan losses
Noninterest expense, net
(Provision for) benefit from income taxes
Net income
Comprehensive income

$
$

Consolidated Key Financial Ratios
For the year ended December 31:
Return on average assets
Return on average members’ equity
Net interest income as a %
of average earning assets
Net charge-offs as a % of average loans
At December 31:
Members’ equity as a % of total assets
Ratio of debt to members’ equity
Allowance for loan losses as a % of loans
Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) Capital ratio
Tier 1 Capital ratio
Total Capital ratio
Tier 1 Leverage ratio
Minimum URE Leverage ratio
Permanent capital ratio (1)
Other
Patronage distribution declared
Preferred stock dividends declared
Loans serviced for others

$
$
$

8,417,487
16,333
8,433,820

274,318
(7,936)
(18,274)
(9)
248,099
247,299

$
$

8,170,679
16,981
8,187,660

258,367
(11,626)
(26,598)
72
220,215
219,374

$
$

8,089,920
15,763
8,105,683

250,417
(20,216)
(24,018)
(119)
206,064
205,976

$
$

209,848
(19,759)
(20,646)
(50)
169,393
165,125

2.44%
11.28%

2.21%
10.66%

2.14%
10.75%

2.13%
10.24%

2.32%
10.90%

2.86%
0.11%

2.73%
0.02%

2.69%
0.11%

2.75%
0.16%

2.77%
0.07%

20.55%
3.9 to 1
0.61%
14.00%
14.00%
14.66%
15.29%
16.95%
17.64%

20.26%
3.9 to 1
0.67%
13.33%
13.33%
13.95%
14.37%
15.99%
17.37%

19.28%
4.2 to 1
0.59%
—
—
—
—
—
—

18.78%
4.3 to 1
0.50%
—
—
—
—
—
—

20.38%
3.9 to 1
0.53%
—
—
—
—
—
—

115,700
8,623
2,967,831

$
$
$

82,700
8,025
2,834,877

$
$
$

79,500
7,491
2,538,177

$
66,676
$
6,777
$ 2,032,354

(1) For the 2012-2016 Core Surplus, Total Surplus, and Permanent capital ratios prior to the new capital regulations implemented
in 2017, see Disclosure Information Required by Farm Credit Administration Regulations on page 75.
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$
$

185,129
(6,877)
(15,189)
(178)
162,885
160,833

$
57,000
$
6,094
$ 1,570,359

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Introduction

Farm Credit Administration (FCA) which supervises,
examines, and regulates System institutions.

The following discussion summarizes the financial position
and results of operations of Farm Credit West, ACA and its
subsidiaries Farm Credit West, FLCA, Farm Credit West,
PCA, and Farm Credit Services Southwest, ACA (Southwest)
and Southwest’s wholly owned subsidiaries, Farm Credit
Services Southwest, FLCA and Farm Credit Services
Southwest, PCA (collectively, Farm Credit West) for the year
ended December 31, 2018. Comparisons to prior years are
included.

Our Structure

We have emphasized material known trends, commitments,
events, or uncertainties that are reasonably likely to impact
our financial condition and results of operations. The
discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with
the consolidated financial statements, footnotes, and other
sections of this report. The accompanying consolidated
financial statements were prepared under the oversight of our
Audit Committee.
Our annual and quarterly reports to shareholders are available
on our website, www.farmcreditwest.com, or can be obtained
free of charge by calling our corporate headquarters at
916-780-1166, or by writing to Farm Credit West, 3755
Atherton Road, Rocklin, CA 95765. Annual reports are
mailed to all stockholders within 90 days after year-end and
are available on our website within 75 days after year-end;
quarterly reports are available on our website within 40 days
after each calendar quarter-end. The 2019 quarterly reports
to shareholders will be available on approximately May 10,
2019, August 9, 2019, and November 8, 2019.

Business Overview
Farm Credit System Structure and Mission
We are one of 69 associations in the Farm Credit System
(System), which was created by Congress in 1916 and has
served agricultural producers for over 100 years. The
System’s mission is to provide sound and dependable credit
to American farmers, ranchers, and producers or harvesters of
aquatic products, and farm-related businesses through a
member-owned cooperative system. This is done by making
loans and providing financial services to creditworthy
individuals and businesses. Through its commitment and
dedication to agriculture, the System continues to have the
largest portfolio of agricultural loans of any lender in the
United States. The Farm Credit Act established the Farm
Credit System Insurance Corporation (Insurance Corporation
or FCSIC) to administer the Farm Credit Insurance Fund
(Insurance Fund). By law, the Insurance Fund is required to
be used (1) to ensure the timely payment of principal and
interest on System wide debt obligations (Insured Debt), (2)
to ensure the retirement of protected stock at par or stated
value, and (3) for other specified purposes. The System’s
independent safety and soundness federal regulator is the

As a cooperative, we are owned by the members we serve.
We emphasize our cooperative structure by providing
superior service at competitive rates and then, when
circumstances allow, paying significant cash patronage.
Patronage of $115.7 million was declared in 2018 and
distributed to customers in early 2019. This resulted in a
return of 1.00% of average 2018 eligible loan balances for
Farm Credit West and Farm Credit Services Southwest
customers which effectively lowers their borrowing costs.
Our chartered territory covers a diverse area in parts of
California, though it is primarily concentrated in the southern
San Joaquin Valley, Central Coast, Sacramento Valley, and
Imperial Valley; virtually all of Arizona; and a small region
of Nevada. Note 1 to the financial statements includes a
more detailed description of our chartered territory.
We make long-term real estate mortgage loans to farmers,
ranchers, agribusiness, and rural residents; production and
intermediate-term loans for agricultural production or
operating purposes; and financing leases. Additionally, we
provide other related services to our borrowers. Our success
begins with our extensive agricultural lending experience and
market knowledge. Serving our customers is of paramount
importance.
The primary funding source for our lending and operations is
our direct note from CoBank, ACB (CoBank). CoBank is a
cooperative of which we are an owner and member. The
financial condition and results of operations of CoBank
materially affect the risk associated with shareholder
investments in Farm Credit West. Shareholders of Farm
Credit West may obtain copies of CoBank’s financial
statements free of charge by calling 916-780-1166 or by
writing to Farm Credit West, 3755 Atherton Road, Rocklin,
CA 95765, or by accessing CoBank’s website at
www.cobank.com.
We purchase technology and other operational services from
Financial Partners, Inc. (FPI), which is a technology service
corporation. We are a shareholder in FPI along with four
other FPI customers. Our equity investment in FPI is $3.7
million as of December 31, 2018. In addition, we purchase
payroll and other human resource services from Farm Credit
Foundations, a human resources service provider which
serves a number of System entities and our equity investment
is less than $0.1 million. We are a shareholder in
Foundations along with other System entities. We also have
invested $8.2 million in AgDirect, which is an agricultural
equipment financing program offered through equipment
dealers. Our investment is determined by the pool of loans
and leases that have originated in our territory and that we
have agreed to capitalize.

2018 ANNUAL REPORT | 23

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Fulfillment of Our Public Policy Purpose/Mission
A healthy America requires a strong agricultural economy.
Congress enacted the Farm Credit Act to help ensure an
effective credit delivery system dedicated to financing rural
America that will further the public interest. We strive to
ensure our mission is met through operational strategies
which focus on public policy fulfillment, customer service,
maintaining a fiscally sound organization, and attracting,
developing, and retaining high quality directors and staff.


For public policy fulfillment, our operational strategies
focus on being a responsible organization meeting our
chartered purpose of legally and ethically serving the
needs of rural America.



For customer service, our operational strategies focus on
providing superior value-added service to all eligible
customers within our chartered territory, with emphasis
on outreach to young, beginning, small, and minority
agricultural producers (as discussed in the Young,
Beginning, and Small Farmer and Rancher Program
section of this report). We are dedicated to being
responsive to the needs of customers and potential
customers as well as to addressing market demands.



For maintaining a fiscally sound organization, our
operational strategies focus on using resources efficiently
and effectively to build a safe and sound organization
that is positioned to consistently provide “superior
customer service at competitive interest rates.”



For human resource strategies, we emphasize the need to
attract, develop, and retain the people required to ensure
success in meeting our public policy purpose and
mission, serving customers, and maintaining fiscal
stability. We are striving to ensure diversity across our
human resources.

As more fully detailed throughout this Annual Report, our
performance is consistent with our public policy
responsibilities. The successful results achieved are
reflective of consistent progress.

Governance
Board of Directors Oversight and Independence
We are governed by a 15-member Board of Directors (Board)
that provides governance and direction to our Association.
Of these directors, 13 are elected by the stockholders and 2
are appointed by the elected directors.
The Board maintains four committees: a Corporate
Governance Committee, a Human Capital Committee, an
Enterprise Risk Management Committee, and an Audit
Committee. These committees are discussed in greater detail
in the Disclosure Information Required by FCA Regulations
section of this Annual Report. The Board and the four Board
committees meet regularly to oversee and discuss our
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strategic plans, operating plans and performance, financial
reporting, legal and regulatory compliance, chief executive
officer compensation and evaluation, issues faced, and risks
managed.
The Board has adopted a Charter and a Code of Ethics to
support their leadership and oversight roles in the
accomplishment of our mission. In their Code of Ethics, the
Board, and each director, commits to conduct business in
accordance with the highest ethical standards.
All directors must exercise sound judgment in deciding
matters in our interest. All of our directors are independent
from the perspective that none of our management or staff
serve as Board members. However, we are a financial
service cooperative, and the Farm Credit Act and FCA
Regulations require our elected directors to have a lending
relationship with us.
The elected directors, as borrowers, have a vested interest in
ensuring our Association remains strong and successful.
However, the borrowing relationship could be viewed as
having the potential to compromise the independence of an
elected director. For this reason, the Board has established
independence criteria to ensure that a loan relationship does
not compromise the independence of our Board. On an
annual basis, in accordance with our Board of Directors’
Charter and in conjunction with our independence analysis
and reporting on our loans to directors, each director provides
financial information and any other documentation or
assertions needed for the Board to review and ensure the
independence of each director (as defined in the Charter).
Following the most recent analysis of established criteria, the
Board determined that each of our directors met the
independence criteria.
Governance and Financial Reporting Control
The Board has monitored the requirements of public
companies under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. While we are not
subject to the requirements of that Act, we have implemented
the following steps to strengthen governance and financial
reporting: (1) a system for the receipt and treatment of
anonymous “whistleblower” complaints; (2) a code of ethics
for our directors and executives; (3) open lines of
communication between the independent auditors, the
Board’s Audit Committee, and management; (4) this “plain
English” annual report to stockholders; (5) officer
certification of accuracy and completeness of the financial
statements; and, (6) information disclosure through our
website.
.
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Financial Condition
Loan, Lease, and Investment Security Volume
We offer production, intermediate-term, and long-term loan
products to stockholders/borrowers for qualified agricultural
purposes within our chartered territory. Current product
options include variable and fixed interest rates. Loans are
also made to farm-related businesses and agricultural
processing and marketing operations. Additionally, our
portfolio contains leases and purchased loans (participations
purchased). We have consistently been successful in
marketing and competitively pricing loan products to those
agricultural producers who generate economic activity in our
chartered territory. Our loan and lease volume outstanding
was $10.1 billion at December 31, 2018. This was a 4.3%
increase compared with $9.7 billion of outstanding volume at
December 31, 2017. At year-end 2016, loan and lease
volume of $9.5 billion was outstanding.
For years ended 2017 and 2016, we held Federal Agricultural
Mortgage Corporation (Farmer Mac) guaranteed agricultural
mortgage-backed securities (AMBS) in addition to loans and
leases. These securities were backed by loans that we
originated and were included in earning assets in those years.
These investments in guaranteed securities are included in
this report’s Consolidated Balance Sheet as either investment
securities – available-for-sale or investment securities – heldto-maturity at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016.
We did not hold securities at December 31, 2018.
Total earning assets were $10.0 billion at December 31, 2018
which was a 3.3% increase over year-end 2017. The
$9.7 billion combined volume of loans and securities
outstanding at December 31, 2017 was a 2.5% increase over
the December 31, 2016 volume of $9.4 billion.
Effective December 1, 2018, Farm Credit West re-purchased
$60.2 million of securitization certificates held by CoBank.
The re-purchase of the securities from CoBank resulted in the
cancellation of the servicing contract and the remaining
mortgage servicing rights of $2.0 million were written off
through other non-interest income on the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income in 2018. Additionally,
Farmer Mac remitted the underlying loans totaling $134.1
million in the securitization trusts to Farm Credit West in
exchange for the redemption of the securitization certificates,
the dissolution of the trusts, and the termination of the
participating interests and securitization agreements.
As a result of these transactions, Farm Credit West
recognized total loans of $134.1 million with Farmer Mac
Long-Term Standby Commitment to Purchase agreements on
the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2018.
Accordingly, the investments in Farmer Mac AMBS and the
unrealized gain on investment securities available-for-sale
were no longer reflected on our Consolidated Balance Sheet.

The types of loans outstanding at December 31 are reflected
in the following table.
December 31,
Real estate mortgage loans
Production and
intermediate-term loans
Agribusiness loans
Direct financing leases
Rural infrastructure loans
Total

Percentage of Principal Outstanding
2018
2017
2016
60.8%

60.5%

59.1%

18.0%
16.7%
1.9%
2.6%

19.0%
15.5%
2.2%
2.8%

19.3%
16.7%
2.3%
2.6%

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

Long-term farm mortgages generally finance the purchase of
farm real estate, refinance existing mortgages, help construct
various facilities used in agricultural operations, and help
purchase other rural real estate for both full-time and parttime farmers. These loans generally have maturities ranging
from five to 30 years. By federal regulation, a real estate
mortgage loan must be secured by a first lien and may only
be made in an amount not to exceed 85% of the original
appraised value of the property or up to 97% of the appraised
value if the loan is guaranteed by certain state or federal
agencies. Under our risk based underwriting standards, we
loan less than the regulatory limits allow. Production and
intermediate-term loans are generally made for operating
funds, equipment financing, and other purposes and are
generally short term. Agribusiness loans are comprised of
loans to processors and marketers, farm-related businesses,
and cooperatives.
Portfolio Diversification
Although our charter limits us to making loans and providing
financially-related services primarily to the agricultural and
rural sectors and certain related entities, our loan portfolio is
diversified by commodity segments, geographic locations,
and participations purchased and sold.
Farm Credit West’s outstanding loan volume percentage by
primary source of revenue and/or commodity segment is
shown in the following table. The table reflects a loan
portfolio that is well diversified among major commodities or
types of agriculture. Repayment ability of our customers is
closely related to the production and the profitability of the
commodities they raise. If a loan fails to perform,
restructuring or other servicing alternatives are influenced by
the underlying value of the collateral which is impacted by
industry economics. Management is committed to
maintaining sound credit quality, but future performance
would be negatively impacted by adverse agricultural
conditions. The degree of the adverse impact would be
correlated with the specific commodities or industries
impacted and the magnitude and duration of the impact.
Additionally, further diversification exists within the
identified commodities as most farmers and ranchers produce
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more than one commodity.

December 31,
Tree Nuts
Dairy
Processing/Marketing < 20%
Processing/Marketing > 20%
Wine Grapes
Vegetables
Table Grapes
Wine
Deciduous Tree Fruit
Beef Cattle
Crop Services
Oranges
Nursery/greenhouse
Forest Products
Rice
Rural infrastructure
Hay
Lemons
Non Farm Income
Other
Total

Percentage of Principal Outstanding
2018
2017
2016
19.9%
13.7%
7.2%
6.7%
5.6%
4.7%
4.0%
3.6%
3.5%
3.3%
2.8%
2.4%
2.1%
2.0%
1.8%
1.8%
1.5%
1.2%
1.0%
11.2%

18.4%
13.9%
7.2%
6.7%
5.5%
4.6%
3.7%
4.1%
3.5%
3.4%
2.4%
2.3%
1.2%
1.9%
1.9%
1.9%
1.6%
1.2%
1.0%
13.6%

17.0%
14.0%
8.2%
6.3%
5.5%
4.7%
3.4%
4.1%
3.1%
3.3%
2.6%
2.4%
1.5%
2.0%
1.9%
1.4%
1.6%
0.9%
1.5%
14.6%

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

In the chart above, loans for processing and marketing are
separated into two risk categories based on the amount of
product processed or marketed that is also produced by the
borrower. A processing and marketing loan > 20% indicates
the borrower also produces more than 20% of what is being
processed and as such has less risk as compared to a
processing and marketing loan < 20%. The various types of
processing and marketing loans can include dairy, nut,
poultry, livestock, fruit or vegetable processing. The Other
category includes numerous different commodities that are
each less than 1% of total loans which indicate further
diversity in our portfolio.

The geographic distribution of loans by county is illustrated
in the following table. We originate and service loans in
areas outside of our chartered territory with the concurrence
of the Farm Credit associations where those loans are
physically located. We purchase loan participations outside
our territory to diversify risk and those are included in Other
in the table.
December 31,
Tulare
Kern
Fresno
San Luis Obispo
Sutter
Kings
Santa Barbara
Ventura
Los Angeles
Yolo
Colusa
Imperial
Madera
Maricopa, AZ
Yuma, AZ
Butte
Monterey
Other
Total

Percentage of Principal Outstanding
2018
2017
2016
12.5%
8.9%
8.5%
5.7%
5.1%
4.7%
4.1%
3.7%
2.6%
1.8%
1.8%
1.7%
1.6%
1.6%
1.5%
1.4%
1.4%
31.4%

12.9%
9.0%
8.4%
5.7%
5.2%
4.6%
4.1%
4.3%
2.7%
1.8%
1.8%
1.9%
1.8%
1.8%
1.6%
1.4%
1.3%
29.7%

12.7%
9.1%
8.1%
5.5%
5.0%
4.6%
4.3%
4.1%
2.9%
1.7%
1.5%
1.8%
1.5%
1.8%
1.8%
1.4%
1.2%
31.0%

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

Farm Credit West’s loan portfolio is diversified to a
considerable extent both geographically and by commodity or
industry as reflected in the previous two tables. The average
loan (including loan volume that we service for others) had
$1.1 million outstanding at year-end 2018. This is a
relatively large average loan size, but management does not
consider this concentration to be of significant concern given
portfolio asset quality, commodity diversity, and collateral
values underlying the portfolio. Six percent of our loan
volume, approximately $587 million, is attributable to our net
hold position of our ten largest customers. The financial
failure of any one of these large borrowers could materially
affect our future operating results. As discussed in the Credit
Risk Management section, management has implemented
processes to help manage loan size and commodity
concentrations within our portfolio.
Credit Commitments
We may participate in financial instruments with off-balancesheet risk to satisfy the financing needs of our borrowers.
These financial instruments include commitments to extend
credit. The instruments involve, to varying degrees, elements
of credit risk in excess of the amount recognized in our
consolidated financial statements. Commitments to extend
credit are agreements to lend to a borrower as long as there is
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not a violation of any condition established in the contract.
Commitments and letters of credit generally have fixed
expiration dates or other termination clauses and may require
payment of a fee by the borrower. We may also participate in
standby letters of credit to satisfy the financing needs of our
borrowers. These standby letters of credit are irrevocable
agreements to guarantee payments of specified financial
obligations.
The following table summarizes the maturity distribution of
unfunded credit commitments on loans at December 31,
2018.
Standby letters
of creditfinancial

Total
Commitments

2,018,495
313,538
339,805
174,416

$

6,639
19,008
12,061
—

$

2,846,254

$

37,708

$

Commitments
(dollars in thousands) to extend credit
Less than 1 year
1-3 years
3-5 years
Over 5 years
Total

$

$

2,025,134
332,546
351,866
174,416
2,883,962

Since many of these commitments are expected to expire
without being drawn upon, the total commitments do not
necessarily represent future cash requirements. However,
these credit-related financial instruments have off-balance
sheet credit risk because their amounts are not reflected on
the Consolidated Balance Sheet until funded or drawn upon.
The credit risk associated with issuing commitments and
letters of credit is substantially the same as that involved in
extending loans to borrowers and we apply the same credit
policies to these commitments. The amount of collateral
obtained, if deemed necessary upon extension of credit, is
based on our credit evaluation of the borrower. Other than
stated below, no material losses are anticipated as a result of
these credit commitments.
In December 2018, Farm Credit West recorded a $3.0 million
liability associated with undisbursed loan commitments. It is
probable that a portion of a specific borrower’s standby letter
of credit and unfunded commitment will be drawn in 2019
and represent a loss to the Association. Due to its terms,
Farm Credit West is required to honor the commitment but its
collectability is in doubt.
Loan Participations
We purchase participation interests in loans from other
System and non-System entities to generate additional
earnings and diversify risk related to the existing
commodities we finance and our geographic area served. In
addition, we sell a portion of certain large loans and a portion
of our lease portfolio to other System entities and
occasionally, non-System entities, to reduce risk in loan
concentrations and comply with lending limits we have
established.

The following table summarizes our three-year history with
respect to loan and lease participations outstanding.
Participations purchased volume includes loan syndications.
2018

2017

2016

Participations purchased
FCW-originated loan
participations sold

$ 1,726,758

$ 1,541,564

$ 1,597,909

(2,628,604)

(2,473,774)

(2,162,052)

Net participations sold

$ (901,846)

$ (932,210)

$ (564,143)

December 31, (in thousands)

Throughout the reporting period, we have pursued a strategic
initiative to position ourselves to benefit from enhanced
participation relationships with other Farm Credit institutions.
It is management’s conclusion that we are adequately
compensated for participation interests sold relative to the
incremental cost of servicing the “sold” portions of those
assets. Accordingly, no servicing asset or liability has been
established related to participations sold.
Economic Overview
Agriculture in the area served by Farm Credit West is
generally less susceptible to market declines than most areas
of the U.S. because of the diversity in commodities produced
and the relatively low level of dependence on government
support programs (other than rice).
The Agricultural Improvement Act of 2018 (Farm Bill) was
signed into law on December 20, 2018. This new Farm Bill
will govern an array of federal farm and food programs,
including commodity price support payments, farm credit,
conservation programs, research, rural development and
foreign and domestic food programs for five years through
2023. The new Farm Bill continues to provide support for
crop insurance programs and commodity support programs,
strengthen livestock disaster programs, and provides dairy
producers with an updated voluntary margin protection
program that will provide more flexibility to dairy operations.
The Farm Bill also authorizes the production and marketing
of industrial hemp in accord with state and federal
regulations. Many provisions of the Farm Bill will require
the United States Department of Agriculture to develop rules
and procedures to fully implement these authorities. The
timing for the issuance of those rules is uncertain.
The State of California’s election results in 2017 to legalize
the production of marijuana continues to pose customer
relationship challenges for Farm Credit West. The
cultivation of marijuana for any purpose is a federal offense.
As a federally chartered entity, it remains illegal for Farm
Credit West to be associated with marijuana production in
any form and therefore cannot loan to any customer that is
involved directly or indirectly with marijuana production.
Additionally, this creates uncertainty as to the value of
greenhouses that could potentially be used for marijuana
production.
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Land values in some portions of the territory are influenced
by the proximity to the ocean and to the Los Angeles,
Phoenix and San Francisco metropolitan areas. Most of Farm
Credit West’s territory experienced stable land values in
recent years.
During 2017 and 2018, California endured a series of
wildfires that burned thousands of acres of land and
destroyed or damaged many structures. These fires did not
have a material impact on Farm Credit West or its customers.
After five years of drought in California, heavy precipitation
during the 2016-2017 rain season resulted in the drought
designation for California being lifted. Due to the rainfall
and snowpack accumulation that occurred in early spring of
the 2018-2019 rain season, reservoirs continue to be
maintained at encouraging levels. An additional
consideration surrounding California water availability is the
unknown long term impacts of the Sustainable Groundwater
Management Act of 2014 (SGMA). The required reduction
in groundwater usage under SGMA is expected to impact
land values, and in some cases may require fallowing
acreage.
Uncertainty around global trade activity could have a
negative impact on some industries we finance. The tree nut
and dairy industries are very dependent on an export market
and these issues can potentially cause some stress to these
borrowers including the potential for the implementation of
tariffs by foreign trade partners.
Tree nuts, which include almonds, pistachios, walnuts and
pecans, represent the largest commodity concentration in the
Association’s loan portfolio. Walnut prices deteriorated in
2018 which may have impacted the profitability of some
borrowers; however, borrowers in all other tree nut crops are
expected to remain profitable into 2019.
The Arizona and California dairy industry continue to face
economic challenges as a result of global production coupled
with existing high inventories of dairy products, other than
butter, exceeding current demand. This down cycle is
anticipated to continue into 2019 as many dairy farmers are
operating at or below breakeven levels.
The yields from wine grapes in the 2018 harvest were
average. Wine grape contracts have been more available,
with most producers under contracts for the majority of their
production capacity. California wine sales have continued to
grow steadily but new vineyard plantings will likely continue
to shrink due to water constraints, particularly in the Paso
Robles area where there is an existing moratorium on new
water use. The current conditions affecting wine grape
production will likely result in a leveling off of supply growth
through fewer new vineyard plantings after the significant
new acreage established in the last few years matures.
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Portfolio Quality
We review the credit quality of the loan portfolio on an
ongoing basis as part of our risk management practices. Each
loan is classified according to the Uniform Classification
System, which is used by all Farm Credit System institutions.
Below are the classification definitions.
Nonadversely Classified Assets
 Acceptable – Assets are expected to be fully collectible
and represent the highest quality.
 Other Assets Especially Mentioned – Assets are
currently collectible but exhibit some potential weakness.
Adversely Classified Assets
 Substandard – Assets exhibit some serious weakness in
repayment capacity, equity, or collateral pledged on the
loan.
 Doubtful – Assets exhibit similar weaknesses to
substandard assets. However, doubtful assets have
additional weaknesses in existing facts, conditions and
values that make collection in full highly questionable.
 Loss – Assets are considered uncollectible.
As shown in the following table, the credit quality of our loan
portfolio (principal and interest) declined slightly by 0.3% in
2018 and 0.4% in 2017.
December 31,
Nonadversely classified
Adversely classified

2018
95.6%
4.4%

2017
95.9%
4.1%

2016
96.3%
3.7%

Although adversely classified loans increased to 4.4% of
loans at December 31, 2018 compared to 4.1% in 2017,
Farm Credit West’s December 31, 2018 loan quality of
95.6% non-adversely classified remains relatively strong
based on historic standards.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Nonearning Assets
The following table summarizes Farm Credit West’s threeyear history of nonearning assets. Other property owned is
comprised of real or personal property that has been acquired
through foreclosure, deed in lieu of foreclosure, or other
means. Nonaccrual loans represent loans where there is a
reasonable doubt as to collection of principal and interest.

Allowance for Loan Losses and Loss Experience

December 31,
(dollars in thousands)

2018

Nonaccrual loans
Other property owned

$ 111,886
1,211

$

112,284
5,085

$

138,986
3,483

$ 113,097

$

117,369

$

142,469

Total
Total as a percentage
of total assets
Total as a percentage
of total members' equity

There were no restructured accrual loans at December 31,
2018 or 2017. At December 31, 2016, there were $14.7
million restructured accrual loans. At December 31, 2018
there were $0.7 million in loans 90 days past due and
accruing interest. At December 31, 2017 there were $3.6
million in loans 90 days past due and accruing interest; and at
December 31, 2016, there were $0.2 million in loans 90 days
past due and accruing interest.

2017

2016

1.07%

1.14%

1.42%

5.19%

5.64%

7.36%

The volume of nonearning assets decreased $4.3 million in
2018 to $113.1 million. During 2017 nonearning assets
decreased $25.1 million. The current level of nonearning
assets, while manageable, has a negative impact on earnings.
The decreases in 2018 and 2017 are a result of management
efforts to focus on collections and workouts in an effort to
reduce the level of nonearning assets.
Nonaccrual loan volume decreased $0.4 million in 2018 to
$111.9 million. The net decrease was a result of
$34.5 million in net repayments and $11.3 million in loan
charge-offs during the year. Partially offsetting these
decreases was $45.4 million in transfers of loans to
nonaccrual status. We are adequately collateralized on much
of the $111.9 million in nonaccrual loan volume outstanding
at December 31, 2018. However, we have $28.6 million of
nonaccrual loan volume where we have established specific
loan loss allowances of $12.5 million. In 2017, nonaccrual
loan volume decreased $26.7 million.
During 2018, other property owned decreased $3.9 million to
$1.2 million at December 31, 2018, from $5.1 million at
December 31, 2017 due to the sale of one of the properties
and partial sales on another during the year. In 2017, other
property owned increased $1.6 million due primarily to the
acquisition of a property during the year. We actively market
other property owned assets and intend to dispose of each
property in an orderly and timely fashion. During 2018,
2017, and 2016 there were no losses due to lower estimated
net realizable values on assets held in other property owned.
The operation and sale of other property owned generated
gains of $0.4 million in 2018 and $0.1 million in 2017 and
2016.

The allowance is our best estimate of the amount of probable
losses existing in, and inherent to, our loan portfolio as of the
balance sheet date. We determine the allowance based on a
regular evaluation of the loan portfolio, which considers
recent and historic charge-off experience among other
relevant factors. See Note 2 to the financial statements for
more detailed information regarding the allowance for loan
losses.
Charge-offs net of recoveries totaled $11.0 million in 2018,
$2.3 million in 2017, and $9.8 million in 2016. Net loan
charge-offs in the last three years have been related mostly to
loans in the processing and marketing, livestock, nursery and
dairy segments of our portfolio.
The allowance for loan losses for the three most recent years,
including charge-offs and recoveries by loan type, is detailed
below.
2018

(dollars in thousands)
Balance at beginning of year

$

Balance at December 31

64,900

$

7,936

Provision for loan losses
Charge-offs:
Real estate mortgage loans
Production and
intermediate-term loans
Agribusiness loans
Direct financing leases
Total charge-offs
Recoveries:
Production and
intermediate-term loans
Agribusiness loans
Total recoveries
Net charge-offs
Net charge-offs
to average loans

2017

$

55,600

2016
$

45,200

11,626

20,216

(286)

(1,770)

(67)

(8,711)
(1,190)
(1,112)
(11,299)

(680)
(89)
—
(2,539)

(7,922)
(1,900)
(407)
(10,296)

263
—
263
(11,036)

93
120
213
(2,326)

342
138
480
(9,816)

61,800
0.11%

$

64,900
0.02%

$

55,600
0.11%

In addition to nonaccrual loans, we have certain loans that are
considered non-performing such as accruing restructured
loans and accrual loans 90 days past due. These three types
of loans make up the Association’s total impaired loans.
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The amount of the allowance determined by loan type is
detailed in the following table.
2018

December 31, (in thousands)
Real estate mortgage loans
Production and
intermediate-term loans
Agribusiness loans
Direct financing leases
Rural infrastructure loans
Rural residential
Total allowance
for loan losses

$

13,458

2017
$

26,694
12,989
7,339
1,319
1
$

61,800

14,966

2016
$

30,742
12,115
5,367
1,709
1
$

64,900

11,027
24,755
13,575
4,092
2,151
—

$

55,600

The allowance as a percentage of loans outstanding and as a
percentage of certain other credit quality indicators is shown
below.
December 31,

2018

Allowance as a percentage of:
Total loans
Total impaired loans
Nonaccrual loans

0.61%
54.91%
55.23%

2017
0.67%
55.99%
57.80%

2016
0.59%
36.13%
40.00%

The financial position of agricultural producers remained
relatively strong during 2018 for most of the commodity
segments we finance. However, we continue to see some
stress in the dairy and nursery segments. The allowance for
loan losses decreased due primarily to the net charge-offs of
$11.0 million taken during the year.
Credit Risk Management
The credit risk in our portfolio arises from the potential
failure of a borrower to meet repayment obligations that
result in a financial loss. Credit risk is actively managed on
an individual and portfolio basis through application of sound
lending and underwriting standards, policies, and procedures.
Underwriting standards are developed and utilized to
determine an applicant’s operational, financial, and
management resources available for repaying debt within the
term of the notes and loan agreement. Processes are
established and followed for information gathering, financial
statement verification, loan analysis, credit approvals,
disbursement of proceeds, and subsequent loan servicing
actions. Underwriting standards vary by industry and are
updated periodically to reflect market and industry
conditions. Among other things, those standards evaluate the
following.


Character – borrower integrity, credit history and
management capabilities;



Capacity – repayment capacity of the borrower based on
cash flows from operations or other sources of income;
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Collateral – to protect the lender in the event of default
and also serve as a secondary source of loan repayment;



Capital – ability of the operation to survive unanticipated
risks; and,



Conditions – intended use of the loan funds, terms, and
restrictions.

To help manage and diversify credit risk, our credit risk
management framework includes credit guarantees and loan
participations. Although these tools allow us to reduce risk in
our portfolio, they also result in Farm Credit West receiving
less interest income.
As of December 31, 2018, Farm Credit West held
$279.3 million of loan volume, which includes $134.1
million of loans converted from a Farmer Mac securitization,
covered under a Long Term Standby Commitment to
Purchase agreement (LTSCP) with Farmer Mac. That
guaranteed volume totaled $177.8 million at December 31,
2017 and $191.3 million at December 31, 2016. The LTSCP
guarantee serves as a risk reduction measure as it gives us the
right to sell any loan identified in the agreement to Farmer
Mac in the event a delinquency of four months occurs. As
discussed previously, Farm Credit West held an investment
portfolio of Farmer Mac AMBS of $91.5 million at
December 31, 2017 and $114.7 million at December 31,
2016. These were also covered with an LTSCP. Effective
December 2018, these AMBS securities were terminated and
the underlying loans are included in the LTSCP amount at
December 31, 2018.
Fees paid to Farmer Mac for guaranteed loans and
securitizations related to loans we originated totaled
$1.3 million in 2018, $1.6 million in 2017, and $1.8 million
in 2016. Farmer Mac fees are offset against interest income
and other noninterest income.
Our transactions with Farmer Mac create counterparty risk.
As part of our counterparty risk policy, at least annually we
complete an analysis of our exposure with Farmer Mac to
ensure that our counterparty risk with Farmer Mac is within
policy guidelines related to potential impacts on capital and
potential impacts on return on equity. Other than the
contractual obligations arising from these Farmer Mac
business transactions, Farmer Mac is not liable for any debt
or obligation of ours and we are not liable for any debt or
obligation of Farmer Mac. For more information on Farmer
Mac, refer to their website at www.farmermac.com.
We also have credit guarantees with certain U.S. government
agencies, primarily the Farm Services Agency (FSA).
Approximately $22.9 million of loan volume with FSAguarantees, with guarantee coverage on about 90 percent of
this volume, was outstanding at December 31, 2018. We use
FSA guarantees on loans made to young, beginning, and
small farmers and to assist borrowers experiencing financial
difficulties.
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The majority of the loans we originate are farm real estate
loans collateralized by a first mortgage on the pledged
collateral. Production and intermediate-term lending
accounts for most of the remaining volume and is also
typically collateralized. Real estate and chattel evaluations
are made following FCA and Uniform Standards of
Professional Appraisal Practices requirements.
Additionally, to manage the overall level of risk inherent in
the loan portfolio, we have established maximum internal
lending limits that are considerably lower than those
established by FCA regulation. Our limits differentiate
among borrowers based on each borrower’s risk profile. We
have adopted an individual loan size maximum of
approximately 3% of capital for our highest quality
customers.
We have established internal authorized lending delegations
to properly control the loan approval process. Delegations to
staff are based on our risk-bearing ability, loan size, loan
complexity, loan type and risk, as well as the expertise of the
credit staff member. Larger and more complex loans are
typically subject to a more rigorous approval process, which
requires review by both lenders and underwriters and
approval by our most experienced and knowledgeable credit
staff. We use credit analysts to increase the level of
independent analysis on many loans in our portfolio.
Additionally, we use experienced Special Assets staff to
assist with distressed accounts.
We use a Combined System Risk Model (Model) to assess
risk. The Model is a two dimensional risk rating system that
measures each loan’s probability of default (the likelihood of
a borrower defaulting in the next twelve months) and loss
given default (an estimate of the anticipated loss on each
loan, should the borrower default in the next 12 months).
The Model is utilized in loan and portfolio management
processes (including allowance for loan loss estimates)
providing a more detailed risk evaluation, particularly related
to loans classified Acceptable under the Uniform
Classification System. Information from the Model is
integrated into our Economic Capital analysis, which is
discussed in more detail in the Capital section that follows.
Other Assets
Farm Credit West held $18.2 million of employee benefit
related assets at December 31, 2018. The Other assets line
item on the Consolidated Balance Sheet was also comprised
of $6.3 million in financed lease assets at December 31,
2018.
Farm Credit West has equity investments in AgDirect and
FPI. At December 31, 2018, our investment in these entities
totaled $8.2 million and $3.7 million, respectively.
Farm Credit West owns commercial real estate parcels which
are held as investments in land to accommodate future

expansion. At December 31, 2018, the balance in land
investments was $4.0 million.
The Association has joined with other Farm Credit
institutions as a limited partner for certain Rural Business
Investment Companies (RBICs) for mission-related reasons.
These RBICs facilitate investments in agriculture-related
businesses that create growth and job opportunities in rural
America. At December 31,2018, $0.2 million in total funds
were committed to these programs.
Other Liabilities
As discussed more fully in Note 9, we accrue patronage to
our members annually upon the approval of our Board of
Directors. At December 31, 2018, patronage distribution
payable was $115.7 million, and was distributed in February
2019.
Employee benefits payable and accounts payable totaled
$33.4 million and $2.6 million at December 31, 2018,
respectively. Additionally, at December 31, 2018, the FCSIC
premium payable was $6.5 million.
At December 31, 2018, we had a $3.0 million liability for
undisbursed loan commitments. It is probable that a portion
of a specific borrower’s standby letter of credit and unfunded
commitment will be drawn in 2019 and represents a loss to
the Association.

Results of Operations
Net Income Summary
As shown in the table below, net income for 2018 was
$248.1 million, compared with $220.2 million in 2017, and
$206.1 million in 2016. The following is a summary of
major components of the change in net income over the last
three years.

(in thousands)
Net income, prior year
Increase (decrease) due to:
Net interest income
Provision for loan losses
Noninterest income
Noninterest expense
Provision for income taxes
Total increase
in net income
Net income, current year

2018
versus
2017

2017
versus
2016

$ 220,215

$

15,951
3,690
11,775
(3,451)
(81)
27,884
$ 248,099

206,064

2016
versus
2015
$

7,950
8,590
1,453
(4,033)
191

$

14,151
220,215

169,393
40,569
(457)
11,861
(15,233)
(69)

$

36,671
206,064

Net income increased $27.9 million in 2018, $14.2 million in
2017, and $36.7 million in 2016 as compared to the prior
year.
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Net income does not include other comprehensive losses of
$0.8 million recorded in 2018, $0.8 million recorded in 2017,
and $0.1 million recorded in 2016.

The following table reflects our earnings history relative to
asset and equity levels.

The key components in the 2018 $27.9 million year-overyear increase in net income are as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2018

Net income as a percentage of:
Average assets
Average members’ equity

2.44%
11.28%



Net interest income increased $16.0 million due to strong
growth in average earning assets and rising interest rates
in 2018.



Noninterest income increased $11.8 million due to a
special cash patronage received from CoBank, a FCSIC
refund received, an increase in patronage from other
Farm Credit institutions and an increase in loan fees in
2018 which were partially offset by a write-off of
mortgage servicing rights resulting from the repurchase
of Farmer Mac securities from CoBank.



Provision for loan losses decreased by $3.7 million due
primarily to a decrease in the current year allowance as a
result of lower required specific allowance reserves due
to 2018 repayments and charge-offs on nonaccrual loans.

Partially offsetting the increases:


Noninterest expense increased by $3.5 million due
primarily to a provision recorded for unfunded
commitments, increases in salaries and benefits, and
occupancy and equipment, partially offset by a decrease
in FCSIC insurance premiums.

For 2017, the $14.2 million increase in net income was due to
an $8.6 million reduction in provision for loan losses due
primarily to lower charge-offs; an $8.0 million increase in net
interest income due to growth in average earning assets and
rising interest rates; and a $1.5 million increase in noninterest
income due to an increase in CoBank patronage as a result of
higher average direct note borrowings and an increase in
patronage received from other associations. These increases
were partially offset by a $4.0 million increase in noninterest
expense due primarily to increases in salaries and benefits,
information technology services and occupancy and
equipment.
In 2016, the $36.7 million increase in net income was due to
a $40.6 million increase in net interest income due to strong
growth in average earning assets; and an increase of
$11.9 million in noninterest income due to an increase in
CoBank patronage income and patronage received from other
associations. These increases were partially offset by a
$15.2 million increase in noninterest expense primarily from
increases in salaries and benefits, Farm Credit System
Insurance Corporation (FCSIC) premiums, and information
technology services.
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2017
2.21%
10.66%

2016
2.14%
10.75%

Net Interest Income
Net interest income is our core earnings source and it
increased in each of the three years presented. In 2018, the
interest rate spread decreased slightly at 2.45% compared
with 2.46% in 2017. The interest rate spread decreased
0.03% in 2017 from 2.49% in 2016. The 2018 net interest
margin was 2.86%, an increase of 0.13% over 2017. In 2017
the net interest margin increased 0.04% over 2016.
Throughout 2016 market interest rates remained at historic
low levels. However, in December 2016, the Federal Open
Market Committee (FOMC) raised the Fed Funds target rate
by 0.25%, the second increase in seven years. In 2017 the
FOMC raised the Fed Funds target rate three times by 0.25%
in March, June, and December. In 2018 the FOMC raised the
Fed Funds target rate four times by 0.25% in March, June,
September and December. Farm Credit West’s net interest
margin benefits when interest rates rise due to the impact of
equity financing.
The following tables show our growth in average total
interest earning assets, average interest-bearing liabilities,
average equity financing and their related interest.
2018
(dollars in thousands)

Average
Balance

Net interest income components
Interest earning assets:
Loans and leases
$ 9,478,378
Investment securities
77,794
Total interest earning
assets
9,556,172
Interest-bearing liabilities:
Note payable to CoBank
Future payment funds
Total interest-bearing
liabilities

Interest

$ 455,352
3,471

4.80%
4.46%

458,823

4.80%

7,485,685
408,343

179,222
6,456

2.39%
1.58%

7,894,028

185,678

2.35%
2.45%

Interest rate spread
Impact of equity financing
Net interest income and
net interest margin

Rate

$ 1,662,144

0.41%
$ 273,145

2.86%
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2017
Average
Balance

(dollars in thousands)
Net interest income components
Interest earning assets:
Loans and leases
$
Investment securities
Total interest earning
assets
Interest-bearing liabilities:
Note payable to CoBank
Future payment funds
Total interest-bearing
liabilities

9,276,481
102,313

Interest

$

383,616
4,274

4.14%
4.18%

9,378,794

387,890

4.14%

7,397,609
429,214

126,784
5,003

1.71%
1.17%

7,826,823

131,787

1.68%

Interest rate spread
Impact of equity financing

Rate

2.46%
$

1,551,971

Net interest income and
net interest margin

0.27%
$

256,103

2.73%

2016
Average
Balance

(dollars in thousands)
Net interest income components
Interest earning assets:
Loans and leases
$
Investment securities
Total interest earning
assets
Interest-bearing liabilities:
Note payable to CoBank
Future payment funds
Total interest-bearing
liabilities

8,950,403
123,848

Interest

$

332,121
4,783

3.71%
3.86%

9,074,251

336,904

3.71%

7,161,411
451,960

88,104
4,537

1.23%
1.00%

7,613,371

92,641

1.22%

Interest rate spread
Impact of equity financing
Net interest income and
net interest margin

Rate

2.49%
$

1,460,880

0.20%
$

244,263

2.69%

The financial market for debt instruments has remained fairly
stable. Combined with the growth in earning assets, an
adequate spread and net interest margin are important
components of our net interest income and net income
growth. The historically low interest rate environment in
prior years reduced the impact of equity financing on net
interest income despite higher levels of average equity. For
the three years presented, the Association’s average equity
financing balance remained strong due to increasing net
earnings and solid levels of preferred stock outstanding, but
the impact of equity financing to our net interest margin did
not increase until rates began to increase in 2017.
The following table provides a breakdown of changes in net
interest income over the three most recent years based on:

(1) changes in the dollar volumes of assets and liabilities and
(2) changes to interest rates acting on those assets and
liabilities.

(in thousands)
Net interest income,
prior year
Increase (decrease) due to:
Changes in volume of
assets and liabilities
Changes in interest rates
Changes in income on
nonaccrual loans
Total increase
in net interest income
Net interest income,
current year

2018
versus
2017

2017
versus
2016

$ 258,367

$

250,417

2016
versus
2015
$

209,848

6,966
10,076

8,778
3,062

40,036
(3,007)

(1,091)

(3,890)

3,540

15,951

7,950

40,569

$ 274,318

$

258,367

$

250,417

In 2018, average earning asset volume increased 1.9%, or
$177.4 million, and contributed to the increase in net interest
income, along with rising interest rates. Average earning
asset volume increased 3.4% in 2017 and 20.7% in 2016.
Collections of nonaccrual interest income in 2016 created a
positive impact on net interest income.
Provision for Loan Losses
Changes in the allowance for loan losses impact net income
when the allowance is increased through a provision for loan
losses or decreased through loan loss reversals. We review
our loan portfolio on a regular basis to determine if any
change in our allowance for loan losses is necessary based on
an assessment of the probable losses in our loan portfolio.
We recorded provisions for loan losses of $7.9 million in
2018, $11.6 million in 2017, and $20.2 million in 2016.
The 2018 provision for loan losses was related to
$11.0 million in net loan charge-offs during the year, offset
by a $3.1 million reduction in estimated losses due to a
reduction in specific reserves.
The 2017 provision for loan losses was related to $2.3 million
in net loan charge-offs during the year. Additionally, a
$9.3 million increase in estimated losses due to both growth
in the portfolio and an increase in adverse assets contributed
to the 2017 provision for loan losses.
The 2016 provision for loan losses was related to $9.8 million
in net loan charge-offs during the year and a $10.4 million
increase in estimated losses inherent in the portfolio due to
growth and an increase in adverse assets.
Noninterest Income
Total noninterest income increased $11.8 million in 2018 as
compared to 2017. During 2018, we recorded noninterest
income of $73.7 million compared with $61.9 million in 2017
and $60.4 million in 2016.
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For the year ended December 31,
(in thousands)
Patronage income
Loan and other fees
Loan servicing income
Other noninterest income
Total noninterest income

2018
$ 56,274
11,014
991
5,384

$

47,920
9,287
1,594
3,087

17.4%
18.6%
(37.8%)
74.4%

$ 73,663

$

61,888

19.0%

For the year ended December 31,
(in thousands)
Patronage income
Loan and other fees
Loan servicing income
Other noninterest income
Total noninterest income

2017

Percent
Change

2017
$

$

2016

47,920
9,287
1,594
3,087

$

61,888

$

Percent
Change

44,724
9,827
2,129
3,755

7.1%
(5.5%)
(25.1%)
(17.8%)

60,435

2.4%

The increase in noninterest income in 2018 was due primarily
to a $6.5 million special cash patronage declared by CoBank,
a $6.1 million FCSIC refund received for excess premium
payments from 2012-2017, a $1.4 million increase in
patronage received from other Farm Credit institutions and a
$1.1 million increase in loan fees. These increases were
partially offset by a $2.0 million write off of terminated
mortgage servicing rights in loan servicing income as a result
of the repurchase of Farmer Mac securities held by CoBank.
In August 2017, CoBank management announced changes to
their capital plans and patronage programs for eligible
customer-owners designed to address marketplace challenges.
The new target patronage levels will be reduced from 45
basis points of average direct note volume to 40 basis points
in 2019. In 2020 patronage will be reduced to 36 basis
points. These patronage changes are expected to have a
minimal impact to Farm Credit West’s future earnings.
Noninterest Expense
The dollar amounts and year-over-year percentage changes in
each noninterest expense component are reported in the
following tables.
For the year ended December 31,
(in thousands)
Salaries and employee benefits
Information technology services
Occupancy and equipment
Supervisory and examination
Other operating expense
Total operating expense
Insurance Fund premiums
(Gain) loss on other property
owned, net
Total noninterest expense
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2018
$ 51,175
10,847
6,326
2,346
15,179
85,873
6,466

2017

4.9%
8.4%
23.7%
5.1%
28.4%
10.2%
(39.1%)

$

48,773
10,007
5,114
2,232
11,821
77,947
10,611
(72)

458.3%

$

88,486

3.9%

(402)
$ 91,937

Percent
Change

For the year ended December 31,
(in thousands)
Salaries and employee benefits
Information technology services
Occupancy and equipment
Supervisory and examination
Other operating expense
Total operating expense
Insurance Fund premiums
(Gain) loss on other property
owned, net
Total noninterest expense

2017
$

48,773
10,007
5,114
2,232
11,821
77,947
10,611

$

88,486

2016

Percent
Change

$

46,292
9,246
4,649
2,120
10,547
72,854
11,746

5.4%
8.2%
10.0%
5.3%
12.1%
7.0%
(9.7%)

(147)

(51.0%)

$

84,453

(72)

4.8%

Total noninterest expense increased by $3.5 million in 2018
as compared to 2017 and $4.0 million in 2017 as compared to
2016. The 2018 increase was primarily due to a $3.0 million
provision for unfunded commitments (included within other
operating expense) which was the result of recognizing a
liability associated with a standby letter of credit commitment
that is likely to be drawn on in early 2019. In addition, there
were increases of $2.4 million in salaries and benefits as a
result of general merit increases year over year. There was
also an $0.8 million increase in information technology
expense due to increases in core services and a $1.2 million
increase in occupancy and equipment due primarily to an
increase in depreciation expense.
Partially offsetting these increases was a decrease of
$4.1 million in FCSIC premiums as a result of premiums set
at 9 basis points in 2018, a decrease of 6 basis points from the
15 basis points assessed in 2017. Premiums are set by the
FCSIC Board based on their evaluation of risk and growth in
System loan portfolios.
The $4.0 million increase in 2017 noninterest expense was
primarily driven from a $2.5 million increase in salaries and
benefits, $0.8 million increase in information technology
expense, $0.5 million increase in occupancy and equipment
and $1.3 million increase in purchased services (included in
Other operating expense ) due to legal fees and expenses
related to technology projects. The 2016 FCSIC premiums
were 16 basis points for the first half of the year and rose to
18 basis points for the second half of 2016 compared to 15
basis points in 2017.
Our noninterest expenses are modest relative to our earning
asset size. The control of expense is a key component in
providing “added value” to our customers. We measure our
operating efficiency two ways. The first measure is a ratio of
our noninterest expense (excluding other property owned
gains/losses) to combined revenue, which is defined as net
interest income and noninterest income. This banking
industry standard ratio, termed the operating efficiency ratio,
reflects the dollars expended to generate a dollar of revenue.
For example, our operating efficiency ratio was 26.3% in
2018, thus it took 26.3 cents to generate a dollar of revenue.
The operating efficiency ratio was 27.7% in 2017 and 27.4%
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in 2016. Farm Credit West’s efficiency ratio continues to be
one of the best (lowest) in the System. The second measure
is a ratio of noninterest expense to average earning assets.
This represents how much is spent to support each $100 of
average earning assets. Excluding FCSIC premium expense,
which we do not control, our ratios were 0.90% in 2018,
0.82% in 2017, and 0.79% in 2016.
Income Tax Expense
We recorded a provision for income taxes of less than $0.01
million in 2018, a benefit from income taxes of $0.1 million
in 2017, and a provision for income taxes of $0.1 million in
2016. Farm Credit West is a cooperative and files taxes as a
Subchapter T entity under the Internal Revenue Code. In
each year, patronage distribution deductions offset
substantially all taxable income.

Liquidity and Funding Sources
Our policy is to maintain adequate liquidity. Liquidity is
monitored on a regular basis by the Farm Credit West Asset
Liability Committee.
Our primary source of liquidity is the ability to obtain funds
for lending operations through our borrowing relationship
with CoBank. CoBank’s primary source of funds is the
issuance of debt securities through the Federal Farm Credit
Banks Funding Corporation. Our note payable to CoBank is
collateralized by a pledge to CoBank of substantially all of
our assets. Substantially all cash received is applied to the
note payable and substantially all cash disbursements are
drawn on the note payable. Our indebtedness to CoBank as
well as liquidity support, is governed by a general financing
agreement. That agreement is subject to periodic renewal in
accordance with normal business practices and includes a
promissory note that is renewed annually. The annual
average principal balances of the note payable to CoBank
were $7.5 billion in 2018, $7.4 billion in 2017, and $7.2
billion in 2016.
The average interest rate paid to CoBank during 2018 was
2.39% while the weighted average interest rate at
December 31, 2018 was 2.68% as shown in the following
table. At December 31, 2018, the note payable to CoBank
consisted of the interest rate products shown in the following
table.
(dollars in thousands)
Interest Rate Product Type
Variable rate component
Fixed rate component
LIBOR, Prime, Adjustable rate component
Total note payable to CoBank

Weighted
Average
Interest Rate

Balance

2.54%
2.89%
2.71%

$ 4,873,706
2,953,332
100,737

2.68%

$ 7,927,775

We generally match fund our debt with CoBank to the
specific loan products we offer. The majority of our loans are
funded with variable rates. Variable interest rates are set
administratively and are primarily influenced by market
movements in the one-month London Interbank Offered Rate
(LIBOR) rate. Fixed rates are significantly influenced by
market rates at the time a customer elects to fix their rate.
LIBOR, adjustable, and prime rate-based interest rates are
tied to market indices. Due to the higher funding costs, we
have generally limited the use of interest rate products tied to
market indices.
Customer-owned interest bearing future payment funds are an
additional funding source for us and an assurance regarding
the payment of borrower debt. Year end 2018, 2017, and
2016 balances in those accounts were $326.6 million,
$427.9 million, and $407.5 million, respectively. The interest
rate on those accounts is targeted to give customers a
competitive return at a cost to us that is similar to our short
term funding cost from CoBank.
Our retained earnings and preferred stock provide equity
financing, which is average earning assets less average
interest-bearing liabilities. This amount was $1.7 billion in
2018 and 2017, and $1.6 billion in 2016. This funding is
related to our earnings net of patronage paid and preferred
stock investments made by our customers. The preferred
stock program was implemented in 2003 and has grown to a
balance of $378.1 million at December 31, 2018. Although
$500.0 million is authorized for issuance, we maintain an
internal issuance limit of $425.0 million due to regulatory
capital limitations. The preferred stock program provides an
alternative source of funding to the Association and provides
a competitive return to our customer/investors.

Asset Liability Management
Our asset/liability management policy calls for interest rate
risk to be minimized. The interest rate risk inherent in our
loan portfolio is substantially mitigated through our funding
relationship with CoBank, which allows loans to be matchfunded. Borrowings from CoBank match the pricing,
maturity, and option characteristics of our loans to customers.
CoBank manages interest rate risk through their direct note
pricing and asset/liability management processes.
Although CoBank incurs and manages the primary sources of
interest rate risk, we are still exposed to interest rate risk from
the impact of interest rate changes on earnings generated
from assets funded with our equity.
To stabilize earnings from assets funded with our equity, we
have committed a portion of our equity with CoBank at a
fixed rate for a specified term as a part of CoBank’s
Association Equity Positioning Program (AEPP). This
enables us to reduce our overall cost of funds with CoBank
without significantly increasing our overall interest rate risk
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position. At December 31, 2018 we had $1.2 billion
committed to this program.
The interest rate products we offer include variable, fixed,
and adjustable/indexed interest rate products/programs.
While some of those loan products provide reasonable
flexibility in the maintenance of net interest income, interest
rate, operating expense, and liquidity changes, certain
programs involve the establishment of a fixed spread over our
cost of funds. Given the long-term nature of many of our
loan assets, the extent to which these fixed spreads limit net
interest income makes it important that we maintain
appropriate control of operating expenses and nonearning
assets. We also monitor and limit the duration of fixed
interest spreads. Interest rates charged are based on the
following factors: the competitive rate environment; the
interest rate charged by CoBank; our existing rates and
spreads; and our profitability and capital accumulation
objectives.

Members’ Equity
Capital Levels
Capital supports asset growth and provides protection for
unexpected credit and operating losses. Capital is also
needed for investments in new products and services. A
sound capital position is critical to our long-term financial
success due to the volatility and cycles in agriculture.
Maintaining adequate capital is also a key area of regulatory
focus.
Over the past several years, we have built capital through net
income and with our preferred stock program. Members’
equity at December 31, 2018 totaled $2.2 billion, compared
with $2.1 billion at December 31, 2017, and $1.9 billion at
December 31, 2016. Members’ equity includes common and
preferred stock purchased by our customers and retained
earnings accumulated through net income, less preferred
stock dividends and patronage distributed to customers.
Members’ equity also includes additional paid-in-capital as a
result of the merger with Southwest and accumulated other
comprehensive income. Our capital position is reflected in
the following ratio comparisons.
December 31,
Members’ equity as a
percent of total assets
Ratio of debt to
members’ equity

2018
20.55%
3.9 to 1

2017
20.26%
3.9 to 1

2016
19.28%
4.2 to 1

Capital Composition
Our retained earnings increased $123.8 million to $1.7 billion
at December 31, 2018, up from $1.5 billion at December 31,
2017. This increase was a result of net income of
$248.1 million, offset by $115.7 million of patronage
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distributions and $8.6 million of preferred stock dividends.
Steady growth in both retained earnings and total members’
equity is reflected in the following table.
As a result of the merger with Southwest in 2015 and as
required under generally accepted accounting principles,
Farm Credit West recorded additional paid-in-capital of
$133.3 million as a component of members’ equity. This
amount represents the fair value of the assets net of liabilities
acquired at the time of the merger.
Total members’ equity as reported below is net of accrued
patronage dividends and preferred stock dividends.
December 31, (in thousands)

2018

2017

2016

Unallocated retained earnings
Additional paid in capital
Preferred stock
Capital stock and
participation certificates
Accumulated other
comprehensive loss

$ 1,669,518
133,312
378,105

$ 1,545,742
133,312
399,667

$ 1,416,252
133,312
384,119

5,025

5,200

5,200

(5,010)

(4,210)

(3,369)

Total members' equity

$ 2,180,950

$ 2,079,711

$ 1,935,514

We have three sources of accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss): unrealized gains on investment securities –
available-for-sale; an unrealized net actuarial loss on a
defined benefit pension restoration plan; and an unrealized
net actuarial loss on a pension plan at FPI, a service
corporation that we own with four other Farm Credit
associations.
Customer-owned Equities
Because we are a cooperative, each customer is required to
make a common equity investment in our capital stock (for
agricultural producers) or participation certificates (for nonagricultural producers). At December 31, 2018 (and for all
periods presented), the required investment was $1 thousand
per stockholder. Capital stock (voting) and certificates of
participation (non-voting) totaled $5.0 million at
December 31, 2018.
Our common equity holders may voluntarily invest in our
preferred stock. At December 31, 2018, preferred stock
investments totaled $378.1 million. Purchases are limited to
$4 million per eligible customer. Although preferred stock
makes up a portion of our equity, it is not included in our
regulatory capital.
Both forms of customer-owned equity investments are at-risk
and are purchased in cash not advanced by Farm Credit West.
Retirement of common or preferred stock is at the sole
discretion of the Board, or by our President when consistent
with authority delegated by the Board to the President and
CEO. Retirements of stock may also require approval by the
FCA.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Patronage Program
We have a patronage program that allows us to distribute a
portion of our net earnings to our shareholders. This program
provides for the allocation of net earnings in the manner
described in our Bylaws. When determining the amount and
method of patronage to be distributed, the Board considers
funds necessary to increase retained earnings in order to (1)
meet capital adequacy standards established by Farm Credit
regulations, (2) meet our internal capital adequacy standards
to support competitive pricing at targeted earnings levels, and
(3) maintain reasonable reserves. Patronage distributions are
based on average eligible loan balances with us during the
year. The Board declared patronage distributions of
$115.7 million in 2018. Farm Credit West patrons will
receive $105.0 million and Southwest patrons will receive
$10.7 million of the $115.7 million total. The Board declared
patronage of $82.7 million in 2017, and $79.5 million in
2016. These cash payments were made shortly after the end
of the year for which the dividends were declared.
In 2018, 2017 and 2016, Farm Credit West maintained two
patronage pools. Patrons of Southwest are eligible to receive
patronage distributions from the consolidated patronagesourced net earnings of Southwest and its two direct
subsidiaries, and patrons of Farm Credit West are eligible to
receive patronage distributions from Farm Credit West’s
patronage-sourced net earnings excluding Southwest’s
earnings.
The Board also approves the allocation of the remainder of
our net income available for distribution in the form of
nonqualified written notices of allocation. This amount has
been added to Farm Credit West’s unallocated retained
earnings account. The Board considers these earnings to be
permanently invested in Farm Credit West and there is no
plan to revolve or redeem these amounts.
Capital Adequacy
Each year, our Board establishes a formal capital adequacy
plan that addresses capital targets in relation to risks. Capital
adequacy plans assess the capital level necessary for financial
viability and to provide for growth. Our plan is updated
annually and approved by our Board. The capital adequacy
plan identifies key risk components and estimates capital
levels to compensate for those risks. The plan encompasses
credit risk, loan concentrations, participated loans, allowance
for loan losses levels, loan growth, and other key risk factors.

The New Capital Regulations, among other things,
replace existing core surplus and total surplus requirements
with common equity tier 1 (CET1), tier 1 and total capital
risk-based capital ratio requirements. The New Capital
Regulations also add a tier 1 leverage ratio for all System
institutions, which replaces the existing net collateral ratio for
System banks. In addition, the New Capital Regulations
establish a capital conservation buffer and a leverage buffer;
enhance the sensitivity of risk weightings; and, for System
banks only, require additional public disclosures.
The New Capital Regulations set the following minimum
risk-based requirements:




A CET1 capital ratio of 4.5 percent;
A tier 1 capital ratio (CET1 capital plus additional
tier 1 capital) of 6 percent; and
A total capital ratio (tier 1 plus tier 2) of 8 percent.

The New Capital Regulations also set a minimum tier 1
leverage ratio (tier 1 capital divided by total assets) of
4 percent, of which at least 1.5 percent must consist of
unallocated retained earnings (URE) and URE equivalents,
which are nonqualified allocated equities with certain
characteristics of URE.
The New Capital Regulations establish a capital cushion
through a capital conservation buffer of 2.5 percent above the
risk based CET1, tier 1 and total capital requirements. In
addition, the New Capital Regulations establish a leverage
capital cushion through a leverage buffer of 1 percent above
the tier 1 leverage ratio requirement. If capital ratios fall
below the regulatory minimum plus the buffer, capital
distributions (dividend payments and cash patronage
payments) and discretionary senior executive bonuses are
restricted or prohibited without prior FCA approval. The
New Capital Regulations establish a three-year phase-in of
the capital conservation buffer beginning January 1, 2017.
There is no phase-in of the leverage buffer. The Permanent
Capital Ratio continues to remain in effect, however; the
determination of the risk-adjusted assets were changed to
align with the new capital ratios.

In 2016, the FCA, our regulator, adopted final rules (the New
Capital Regulations) relating to regulatory capital
requirements for the Farm Credit System (System) banks and
associations. The New Capital Regulations took effect
January 1, 2017.
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As shown in the following table, Farm Credit West
substantially exceeded each regulatory minimum capital
requirement at December 31, 2018. Preferred stock is not
included in any regulatory ratios other than permanent
capital.

December 31,

2018

2017

Common Equity Tier 1
Capital (CET1) ratio
Tier 1 Capital ratio
Total Capital ratio
Tier 1 Leverage ratio
Minimum URE Leverage ratio
Permanent capital ratio

14.00%
14.00%
14.66%
15.29%
16.95%
17.64%

13.33%
13.33%
13.95%
14.37%
15.99%
17.37%

Regulatory
Minimum
with Buffer**
7.00%
8.50%
10.50%
5.00%
1.50%
7.00%

** The new capital requirements have a three-year phase-in of the capital
conservation buffer applied to the risk-adjusted capital ratios. There is no phase-in
of the leverage buffer. Amounts shown reflect the full capital conservation buffer.

The minimum ratios established were not intended to be
adopted as the optimum capital level. As such, we have
established goals in excess of the regulatory minimum. Our
Tier 1 Capital ratios were above the 13% target capital level
established by the Board in their 2018 Capital Adequacy
Plan.
Economic Capital
Risk is an inherent part of our business activities. The
Association’s capital management framework is intended to
ensure there is sufficient capital to support the underlying
risks of its business activities, exceed all regulatory capital
requirements, and achieve certain capital adequacy
objectives. Farm Credit West uses economic capital
software, methodologies, and assumptions to quantify the
capital requirements related to primary areas of risk. We
periodically quantify our economic capital requirements,
based on the credit risk, interest rate risk, operational risk,
and market risk inherent in our operations. Due to the
evolving nature of economic capital, it is anticipated that we
will continue to refine our methodologies and assumptions.
Any refinement of these methodologies and assumptions
could result in a material change to economic capital.
Economic capital is a measure of risk and is defined as the
amount of capital required to absorb potential unexpected
losses resulting from extremely severe events over a one-year
period. Our economic capital analyses indicate we have total
capital equivalent to the amount of economic capital required
to meet a very strong “AA” solvency standard, which equates
to a default only three times in 10,000 situational simulations.
This means the likelihood of incurring losses in excess of the
required economic capital amount is estimated to be similar
to the likelihood of a “AA” rated bond defaulting (0.03%
probability).
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Young, Beginning and Small Farmer and
Rancher Program
Definitions
We have specific young, beginning, and small farmer and
rancher programs to provide credit and related needs to
young, beginning, and small (YBS) customers and potential
customers in our chartered territory. The definitions of YBS
farmers and ranchers follow.
Young: A farmer, rancher, or producer or harvester of
aquatic products who was age 35 or younger as of the date
the loan was originally made.
Beginning: A farmer, rancher, or producer or harvester of
aquatic products who had 10 years or less farming or
ranching experience as of the date the loan was originally
made.
Small: A farmer, rancher, or producer or harvester of aquatic
products who normally generated less than $250,000 in
annual gross sales of agricultural or aquatic products at the
date the loan was originally made.
Our YBS Mission Statement
We will encourage the financing of young, beginning, small,
minority, and military veteran farmers, ranchers, and
producers or harvesters of aquatic products by implementing
programs designed to meet the needs of these applicants to
the fullest extent of their creditworthiness. The Association
will support government efforts to provide beginning farmer
assistance through special programs.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Demographics

YBS Qualitative Goals

The following table outlines the percentage of each type of
YBS operation in the market as a whole (the “Percent of
Market” column) and the percentage of our portfolio that is
made up of each type of YBS loan (the “Farm Credit West
Percent” column) at December 31, 2018. Market data is from
the 2012 U.S Department of Agriculture (USDA) Census, the
most current data available, and is based on the number of
farms in our territory. Using the USDA Census, there were
18,057 farms in our territory; 23% of those operations are
classified as “Young”. Our percentages are based on the
number of loans in our portfolio and 10% of our loans are to
“Young” borrowers. Although YBS definitions differ
between USDA and the FCA regulations, the USDA
information is utilized as it is the best comparative
information available.

We establish annual marketing goals with the objective of
increasing our market share of loans to YBS farmers and
ranchers. Our goals emphasize:

USDA Farms Percent of
in Market
Market
Total number of Farms
Total number of Loans

18,057

Young Farmer
Beginning Farmer
Small Farmer

4,086
12,468
12,516

Farm Credit Farm Credit
West Loans West Percent
8,895

23%
69%
69%

901
1,535
1,260

10%
17%
14%

USDA farm demographics are based on farms with annual
sales of $10,000 or greater; except in the Small Farmer
category which consists of farms with annual sales of
$10,000 to $249,999.
Due to regulatory definitions, a farmer may be included in
multiple categories as he would be included in each category
in which the definition was met.
Young Farmer Loans: The table shows that 10% of our
total loans are in the young category, compared with USDA
“Percent of Market” at 23% of farms.
Beginning Farmer Loans: The table shows that 17% of our
total loans are in the beginning category, compared with the
USDA “Percent of Market” at 69% of farms.
Small Farmer Loans: The table shows that 14% of our total
loans are in the small category, compared with the USDA
“Percent of Market” at 69% of farms.



Promoting related services, either directly or in
coordination with others, that are responsive to the needs
of YBS farmers and ranchers in our territory;



Coordinating credit and services offered with other
System institutions as well as with governmental and
private sources who offer credit and services to YBS
farmers and ranchers in our territory; and,



Implementing effective outreach programs to attract
YBS farmers and ranchers.

YBS Outreach Programs
Our YBS outreach programs include the following.
Young Farmer and Rancher Executive Institute: We
began the Young Farmer & Rancher Executive Institute to
provide a combination of real life scenarios and sound
professionally developed theory to generations transitioning
from farm employees to management. This program was
developed by Farm Credit West in conjunction with
professors at California Polytechnic State University, San
Luis Obispo (Cal Poly) who designed a hands-on curriculum
to meet the needs of our YBS customers. This one year
program has been refined to include industry experts as well
as Cal Poly professors.
Internships: We provide a paid internship to about six to
eight college students each year. They receive the
opportunity to gain practical experience and explore careers
in agriculture. The ten-week program provides the interning
students hands-on experience in agri-finance and real estate
appraisal.
College Scholarships: We are committed to supporting the
role of education in agriculture’s future. Each school year
Farm Credit West awards a number of college scholarships to
students with majors directly related to agriculture. For the
past 24 years, Farm Credit West has provided scholarships to
232 scholars and committed over $797,500 to this program.
Loan Contest: We sponsor a loan contest in conjunction
with Cal Poly, which provides an opportunity for students to
experience reality-based loan scenarios and make
recommendations based upon their credit analysis. Teams of
two or three students are given a few weeks to complete
written credit analyses. The top five groups present their
recommendations and loan conditions to a panel of our staff
members, who grade the teams on presentation skills and
credit understanding.
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High School Ag-Finance Contest: We work with FFA high
school classes in Tulare, Kings, and Kern counties to provide
educational information for a seminar focusing on agriculture
finance. Specifically, topics covered include requirements to
obtain a farm loan and the credit analysis process. After
receiving this instruction, FFA students complete a loan quiz
and the top responders receive monetary rewards.
Multicultural Mentorship and Scholarship Program at
CSU Fresno: Since 2012, we have partnered with American
AgCredit, Fresno-Madera Farm Credit, Golden State Farm
Credit, and CoBank to contribute monetarily to Fresno State
University annually. This contribution is used to establish an
endowment in our names to support Multicultural Scholars in
Agriculture. Future contributions to this endowment fund
may be made by each of the participating organizations.
Small and Ethnic Farmer Tour Program with UC Davis:
Together with American AgCredit, Fresno-Madera Farm
Credit, Golden State Farm Credit and CoBank, Farm Credit
West sponsors the Small and Ethnic Tour program managed
by UC Davis. The program introduces small farmers to
wholesale distributors interested in offering a line of locally
grown food and helps farmers create an action plan for selling
their crops.
Veteran Program: Partnering with the Farmer Veteran
Coalition, we have established a program to support returning
servicemen and women in joining or creating viable
agricultural businesses and careers. Farm Credit West works
with participating veterans interested in agriculture as a
career by providing financial skills training, mentoring, and
access to other related programs such as FCW’s internship
and scholarship programs.
Multilingual Customer Access: We provide access to
multilingual staff to support our current and future borrowers’
needs.
Work with Agribusiness Department at Cal Poly: In
partnership with American AgCredit, Fresno Madera Farm
Credit, Golden State Farm Credit, Yosemite Farm Credit, and
CoBank, Farm Credit West provides funds for curriculum
and advanced course development in agri-finance, lending
and appraisal fields at Cal Poly, San Luis Obispo. Funds also
support activities such as risk management workshops and
instructor field tours. Farm Credit initiated this outreach to
foster more advanced education of potential Farm Credit
employment candidates, provide learning opportunities for
customers and to share industry information and experience
with Agribusiness professors.

Center for Agriculture, Dairy and Rural Development:
Beginning in 2014 with CoBank, and including Fresno
Madera Farm Credit and Golden State Farm Credit in 2015,
Farm Credit West partnered with Valley Small Business
Development Corporation (VSBDC) to implement a new
center encompassing the counties of Fresno, Kern, Kings and
Tulare. The center is designed to assist farmers and ranchers
in the following areas:


Technical assistance to achieve financial viability for
existing dairy operations.



Use of credit enhancement tools to access credit for
agriculture.



Financial literacy for beginning farmers and minority
farmers.



Youth development through financing of 4-H and FFA
projects.

YBS Quantitative Programs
We have developed quantitative targets to guide our progress
in serving YBS customers. In 2018, our goals were
expressed as new loan activity during the fiscal year for
young, beginning and small farmers. For example, our goal
for December 31, 2018 was to establish 200 loans to young
farmers, compared to the actual of 177 loans for 2018.
Young
Farmer
Farm Credit West YBS Results
December 31, 2018
Farm Credit West YBS Goals
December 31, 2018

Beginning
Farmer

Small
Farmer

177

264

162

200

300

200

Quantitative targets are expressed in terms of the number of
new loans to each of the YBS segments as is noted in the
following table.
Young
Farmer

Beginning
Farmer

Farm Credit West YBS Goals - New Loans
December 31, 2019
150
December 31, 2020
155
December 31, 2021
160

230
235
240

Small
Farmer
140
145
150

Management provides quarterly reports to our Board
detailing the number, volume, and credit quality of our YBS
customers.
YBS Program Safety and Soundness
We established a small loan function in 2003 to better serve
YBS customers. Service to those customers through that
function has expanded each year. Procedures have been
established to streamline the delivery of small loans utilizing
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credit scoring. Loans will continue to be made on a sound
basis, with proper emphasis on the fundamentals of sound
credit. Loans made under this program meet all our
requirements for eligibility and scope of financing, interest
rates, and length of term. Co-makers and guarantors
(financially responsible family members or other individuals)
and secondary collateral are utilized when available and
appropriate to minimize risk. Excessively ambitious growth
plans are restricted.

Forward-Looking Information
This management discussion contains forward-looking
statements. These statements are not guarantees of future
performance; future operations involve certain risks,
uncertainties, and assumptions that are difficult to predict.
Words such as “anticipates,” “believes,” “could,”
“estimates,” “may,” “should,” or “will” are intended to
identify forward-looking statements. These statements are
based on management’s assumptions and analyses made in
light of experience and other historical trends, current
conditions, and expected future developments. However,
actual results and developments may differ materially from
our expectations and predictions due to a number of risks and
uncertainties, many of which are beyond our control.
Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these
forward-looking statements. We will not update any
forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances
arising after they are made.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our financial statements are based on accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. Our
significant accounting policies are critical to the
understanding of our results of operations and financial
position because some accounting policies require us to make
complex or subjective judgments and estimates that may
affect the value of certain assets or liabilities. These policies
are considered critical because we have to make judgments
about matters that are inherently uncertain. For a complete
discussion of significant accounting policies see Note 2 to the
financial statements.

Customer Privacy
Customer financial privacy and the security of other nonpublic information are important to Farm Credit West.
Therefore, we hold customer financial and other non-public
information in strictest confidence. Federal regulations allow
Farm Credit West to disclose customer information to others
only in certain situations. Examples of these situations
include legal or law enforcement proceedings; when such
information is requested by another Farm Credit System
entity or other financial institution with which customers do
business; or consumer reporting agencies.
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Report of Management
Farm Credit West’s financial statements are prepared by management, who are responsible for their integrity and objectivity,
including amounts that must necessarily be based on judgments and estimates. In the opinion of management, the accompanying
financial statements fairly present Farm Credit West’s financial condition and results of operations, in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles appropriate in the circumstances. Other financial information included in this 2018 Annual
Report is consistent with that in the financial statements.
To meet its responsibility for reliable financial information, management depends on Farm Credit West’s accounting and internal
control systems, which have been designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that assets are safeguarded and
transactions are properly authorized and recorded. These systems have been designed to recognize that the cost must be related
to the benefits derived. To monitor compliance, Farm Credit West’s internal audit and review staff perform audits of the
accounting records, review accounting systems and internal controls, and recommend improvements as deemed appropriate. The
financial statements are audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent auditors, who consider internal controls in
connection with the audit of Farm Credit West’s financial statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United States of America. Farm Credit West is also examined by the Farm Credit System’s regulator, the Farm Credit
Administration (FCA).
The Board is comprised of directors who are not employees and who have met independence criteria established in the Farm
Credit West Board of Directors’ Charter. The Board has established an Audit Committee which has oversight responsibilities for
Farm Credit West’s system of internal controls and financial reporting. This Annual Report has been prepared under the
oversight of the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee consults regularly with management and meets periodically with the
independent auditors and internal auditors to review the scope and results of their work. The independent auditors and internal
auditors have direct access to the Audit Committee.
The undersigned certify that this 2018 Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with all applicable statutory or regulatory
requirements, that the information contained herein is true, accurate, and complete to the best of our knowledge and belief, and
that we have reviewed this report.

Joseph C. Airoso
Chairman of the Board of Directors
March 8, 2019
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Mark D. Littlefield
President and Chief Executive Officer

Jean L. Koenck
Executive Vice President –
Chief Financial Officer

Report of the Audit Committee
The Audit Committee (Committee) is comprised of five members from the Board of Directors of Farm Credit West, ACA. In
2018, nine Committee meetings were held. The Committee oversees the scope of the Association’s internal audit program, the
independence of the outside auditors, the adequacy of the Association’s system of internal controls and procedures, and the
adequacy of management’s actions with respect to recommendations arising from those auditing activities. The Committee’s
responsibilities are described more fully in the Internal Audit Policy and the Audit Committee Charter. The Committee
approved the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers, LLP (PwC) as the Association’s independent auditors for 2018.
The fees for professional services rendered for the Association by its independent auditor, PwC, during 2018 were $272,332 for
audit services, $81,304 for assessment work on internal controls over financial reporting and $30,062 for a transfer pricing
analysis.
The Committee reviewed the non-audit services provided by PwC and concluded these services were not incompatible with
maintaining the independent auditor’s independence.
Management is responsible for the Association’s internal controls and the preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. PwC is responsible for performing an
independent audit of the Association’s consolidated financial statements in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America and to issue a report thereon. The Committee’s responsibilities include monitoring and
overseeing these processes.
In this context, the Committee reviewed and discussed the Association’s Quarterly Reports and the Association’s audited
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018 (the “Financial Statements”) with management. The Committee also
reviewed with PwC the matters required to be discussed by Statements on Auditing Standards. Both PwC and the Association’s
internal auditors directly provide reports on significant matters to the Committee.
Based on the foregoing review and discussions and relying thereon, the Committee recommended that the Board of Directors
include the Financial Statements in the Association’s Annual Report to Shareholders for the year ended December 31, 2018 and
for filing with the Farm Credit Administration.

Barry T. Powell
Chairman of the Audit Committee

Audit Committee Members
Barry T. Powell, Chairman
Catherine Fanucchi, Vice Chairman
Teresa Castanias
Colin Mellon
Mark Osterkamp
March 8, 2019

2018 ANNUAL REPORT | 43

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting
Farm Credit West’s principal executives and principal financial officers are responsible for establishing and maintaining
adequate internal control over financial reporting for Farm Credit West’s consolidated financial statements. For the purposes of
this report, “internal control over financial reporting” is defined as a process designed by, or under the supervision of Farm
Credit West’s principal executives and principal financial officers, and effected by the Board of Directors, management and
other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting information and the preparation
of consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.
Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that: (1) pertain to the maintenance of records
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect transactions and dispositions of assets of Farm Credit West; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and that receipts and expenditures are being made only
in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of Farm Credit West; and (3) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of Farm Credit West’s assets that could
have a material effect on its consolidated financial statements.
Management has completed an assessment of the effectiveness of Farm Credit West’s internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2018. In making the assessment, management used the framework in Internal Control – Integrated Framework
(2013) promulgated by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, commonly referred to as the
“COSO” criteria.
Based on the assessment performed, Farm Credit West concluded that as of December 31, 2018, the internal control over
financial reporting was effective based upon the COSO criteria. Additionally, based on this assessment, Farm Credit West
determined that there were no material weaknesses in the internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018.

Mark D. Littlefield
President and Chief Executive Officer
March 8, 2019
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Jean L. Koenck
Executive Vice President –
Chief Financial Officer

Report of Independent Auditors
To the Board of Directors of Farm Credit West, ACA and Subsidiaries:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Farm Credit West, ACA and its
subsidiaries (the “Association”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2018,
2017 and 2016, and the related consolidated statements of comprehensive income, of changes in members’
equity, and of cash flows for the years then ended.
Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America;
this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation
and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the
Association's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Association's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such
opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Farm Credit West, ACA and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2018,
2017 and 2016, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

March 8, 2019
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 1100 Walnut Street, Suite 1300, Kansas City, MO 64106
T: (816) 472 7921, F: (816) 218 1890, www.pwc.com/us
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
2018

December 31, (in thousands)

2017

2016

Assets
Loans and leases
Less: allowance for loan and lease losses
Net loans and leases

$ 10,112,715
(61,800)
10,050,915

$

Cash
Accrued interest receivable
Investment securities — available-for-sale
Investment securities — held-to-maturity
Investment in CoBank
Other property owned
Premises and equipment, net
Accrued patronage receivable from CoBank
Other assets
Total assets

11,864
93,455
—
—
321,888
1,211
43,413
44,072
47,952
$ 10,614,770

827
78,793
70,648
20,890
315,570
5,085
42,154
43,683
55,250
$ 10,267,371

11,968
67,942
86,882
27,830
303,675
3,483
36,578
41,742
47,109
$ 10,041,197

$

$

$

9,699,371
(64,900)
9,634,471

$

9,469,588
(55,600)
9,413,988

Liabilities
Note payable to CoBank
Future payment funds
Accrued interest payable
Patronage distribution payable
Other liabilities
Total liabilities

7,927,775
326,630
14,846
115,700
48,869
8,433,820

7,598,740
427,927
11,182
82,700
67,111
8,187,660

7,544,838
407,470
7,573
79,500
66,302
8,105,683

Commitments and contingent liabilities (Note 15)
Members' Equity
Preferred stock
Capital stock and participation certificates
Unallocated retained earnings
Additional Paid-in-Capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total members' equity
Total liabilities and members' equity

378,105
5,025
1,669,518
133,312
(5,010)
2,180,950
$ 10,614,770

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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399,667
5,200
1,545,742
133,312
(4,210)
2,079,711
$ 10,267,371

384,119
5,200
1,416,252
133,312
(3,369)
1,935,514
$ 10,041,197

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
2018

For the year ended December 31, (in thousands)

2017

2016

Interest Income
Loans and leases
Investment securities
Total interest income

$

456,525
3,471
459,996

$

385,880
4,274
390,154

$

338,275
4,783
343,058

Interest Expense
Note payable to CoBank
Future payment funds
Total interest expense

179,222
6,456
185,678

126,784
5,003
131,787

88,104
4,537
92,641

Net interest income

274,318

258,367

250,417

(11,626)

(20,216)

246,741

230,201

56,274
11,014
6,115
991
(731)
73,663

47,920
9,287
—
1,594
3,087
61,888

44,724
9,827
—
2,129
3,755
60,435

Salaries and employee benefits
Information technology services
Occupancy and equipment
Farm Credit Insurance Fund premiums
FCA supervisory and examination expense
Other operating expense
(Gain) loss on other property owned, net
Total noninterest expense

51,175
10,847
6,326
6,466
2,346
15,179
(402)
91,937

48,773
10,007
5,114
10,611
2,232
11,821
(72)
88,486

46,292
9,246
4,649
11,746
2,120
10,547
(147)
84,453

Income before income taxes
(Provision for) benefit from income taxes

248,108
(9)

(7,936)

Provision for loan losses
Net interest income after provision for loan losses

266,382

Noninterest Income
Patronage income
Loan and other fees
Farm Credit Insurance Fund distribution
Loan servicing income
Other noninterest (loss) income
Total noninterest income
Noninterest Expense

Net income

$

248,099

220,143
72
$

220,215

206,183
(119)
$

206,064

Other Comprehensive Income
Change in unrealized gain on investment
securities — available-for-sale
Change in unrealized actuarial losses in Pension
Restoration Plan
Change in unrealized actuarial losses in FPI Pension Plan
Total comprehensive income

$

(813)

(791)

(688)

1,204
(1,191)

(50)
—

600
—

247,299

$

219,374

$

205,976

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Members' Equity

Preferred
Stock

(in thousands)
Balance at December 31, 2015

$

Comprehensive income
Preferred stock issued
Preferred stock retired
Capital stock and participation
certificates issued
Capital stock and participation
certificates retired
Preferred stock dividends
declared and paid
Cash patronage distribution declared
Balance at December 31, 2016
Comprehensive income
Preferred stock issued
Preferred stock retired
Capital stock and participation
certificates issued
Capital stock and participation
certificates retired
Preferred stock dividends
declared and paid
Cash patronage distribution declared
Balance at December 31, 2017
Comprehensive income
Preferred stock issued
Preferred stock retired
Capital stock and participation
certificates issued
Capital stock and participation
certificates retired
Preferred stock dividends
declared and paid
Cash patronage distribution declared
Balance at December 31, 2018
$

350,595

Capital
Stock and
Participation
Certificates
$

4,998

$ 1,297,179

133,312

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (loss)
$

(88)

(323)
(7,491)
(79,500)
1,416,252

133,312

(3,369)

220,215

164,612
(157,089)

(841)

—
(79,500)
1,935,514
219,374
164,612
(157,089)

341

341

(341)

(341)

8,025
5,200

(8,025)
(82,700)
1,545,742

133,312

(4,210)

248,099

173,493
(203,678)

(800)

—
(82,700)
2,079,711
247,299
173,493
(203,678)

322

322

(497)

(497)

8,623
$

205,976
151,672
(125,639)

(323)

5,200

399,667

$ 1,782,803

525

7,491
384,119

(3,281)

Total
Members'
Equity

525

5,025

(8,623)
(115,700)
$ 1,669,518

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Additional
Paid-in
Capital

206,064

151,672
(125,639)

378,105

Unallocated
Retained
Earnings

$

133,312

$

(5,010)

—
(115,700)
$ 2,180,950

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
2018

For the year ended December 31, (in thousands)

2017

2016

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net
cash provided by operating activities:
Provision for loan losses
Depreciation and amortization / accretion
Gain on sale of fixed assets
Gain on other property owned, net
Net accretion of yield related to loans and notes
payable acquired in merger
Increase in accrued interest receivable
Increase in patronage receivable
Decrease (increase) in other assets
Increase in accrued interest payable
(Decrease) increase in other liabilities

$

248,099

$

220,215

$

206,064

7,936
2,958
(134)
(408)

11,626
2,315
(203)
(74)

20,216
1,989
(158)
(218)

(2,026)
(14,662)
(2,989)
7,023
3,664
(17,038)

(2,026)
(10,851)
(4,324)
(5,857)
3,609
759

(2,026)
(10,624)
(6,530)
(1,082)
1,754
(67,237)

232,423

215,189

142,148

(333,638)
263
251
(4,334)
4,282
(3,718)
(916)
—

(212,382)
213
711
(8,399)
1,195
(9,512)
(334)
(1,950)

(506,163)
480
336
(10,551)
2,566
(29,757)
(2,679)
—

(337,810)

(230,458)

(545,768)

Net draw on note payable to CoBank
(Decrease) increase in future payment funds
Net (retirements) issuances of preferred stock
Net (retirements) issuances of capital stock and
participation certificates
Cash patronage distribution paid

330,781
(101,297)
(30,185)

55,648
20,457
7,523

471,860
(19,417)
26,033

(175)
(82,700)

—
(79,500)

202
(70,249)

Net cash provided by financing activities

116,424

4,128

408,429

11,037
827

(11,141)
11,968

Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Increase in loans and investment securities, net
Recoveries of loans charged off
Proceeds from sale of premises and equipment
Acquisition of premises and equipment, net
Proceeds from sale of other property owned
CoBank stock purchase
Increase in AgDirect Investment
FPI stock purchase
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:

Net increase (decrease) in cash
Cash at beginning of year
Cash at end of year

$

11,864

$

827

4,809
7,159
$

11,968

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
2018

For the year ended December 31, (in thousands)

2017

2016

Supplemental Cash Flow Information
Cash paid during the year for:
Interest
Income taxes

$

183,760
55

$

129,924
175

$

$

2,723

$

92,633
80

Supplemental Schedule of Noncash
Investing and Financing Activities
Decrease in loans due to acquisition
of other property owned
Decrease in loans and allowance for loan
losses from charge-offs
Other comprehensive loss
Cash patronage distributions payable
Preferred stock dividends declared
Patronage stock received from CoBank

$

—

11,299
(800)
115,700
8,623
2,600

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2,539
(841)
82,700
8,025
2,383

—

10,296
(88)
79,500
7,491
2,117

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Note 1 – Organization and Operations
Organization
Farm Credit West, ACA and its subsidiaries, Farm Credit
West, FLCA, Farm Credit West, PCA, and Farm Credit
Services Southwest, ACA (Southwest) and Southwest’s
wholly owned subsidiaries, Farm Credit Services Southwest,
FLCA and Farm Credit Services Southwest, PCA
(collectively, Farm Credit West or the Association) are
member-owned cooperatives which provide credit and creditrelated services to and for the benefit of eligible
borrowers/shareholders for qualified agricultural purposes in
its chartered territory. Farm Credit West’s chartered territory
includes the California counties of El Dorado, Imperial, Inyo,
Kern, Kings, Mono, Nevada, Placer, Sacramento, San Luis
Obispo, Santa Barbara, Solano, Sutter, Tulare, Ventura, Yolo,
and Yuba as well as portions of Butte and Los Angeles
counties. In the state of Nevada, the chartered territory
includes Esmeralda county and portions of Mineral, Nye, and
Clark counties. In the state of Arizona, the chartered territory
includes all counties except for those portions of Mohave and
Coconino counties north of the Colorado River known as the
“Arizona Strip”.
Farm Credit West is a lending institution of the Farm Credit
System (System), a nationwide system of cooperativelyowned banks and associations, which was established in 1916
by Acts of Congress to meet the credit needs of American
agriculture and is subject to the provisions of the Farm Credit
Act of 1971, as amended (the Farm Credit Act). At
December 31, 2018, the System was comprised of three Farm
Credit Banks, one Agricultural Credit Bank and 69
affiliated associations. Each System bank serves one or more
Production Credit Associations (PCAs), Federal Land Credit
Associations (FLCAs), and/or Agricultural Credit
Associations (ACAs). PCAs, FLCAs and ACAs are
collectively referred to as Associations.
CoBank, ACB (CoBank), its affiliated associations, and
AgVantis, Inc. are collectively referred to as the District.
CoBank provides the funding to associations within the
District and is responsible for supervising certain activities of
the District associations. CoBank is the funding bank of
Farm Credit West. AgVantis, Inc. which is owned by the
entities it serves, provides technology and other operational
services to certain associations; however, it does not serve
Farm Credit West. As of December 31, 2018, the CoBank
District consisted of CoBank, 22 ACAs which generally have
two wholly-owned subsidiaries (a FLCA and a PCA), and
AgVantis, Inc.
ACA parent companies provide financing and related
services to customers through their FLCA and PCA
subsidiaries. Generally, FLCAs make long-term loans
secured by agricultural real estate or rural homes. PCAs
make short-term and intermediate-term loans for agricultural
production or operating purposes.

Congress has delegated authority to the Farm Credit
Administration (FCA) to regulate System banks and
associations. The FCA examines the activities of System
institutions to ensure their compliance with the Farm Credit
Act, FCA regulations and safe and sound banking practices.
The Farm Credit Act established the Farm Credit System
Insurance Corporation (Insurance Corporation or FCSIC) to
administer the Farm Credit Insurance Fund (Insurance Fund).
By law, the Insurance Fund is required to be used (1) to
ensure the timely payment of principal and interest on System
wide debt obligations (Insured Debt), (2) to ensure the
retirement of protected stock at par or stated value, and (3)
for other specified purposes. The Insurance Fund is also
available for discretionary use by the Insurance Corporation
in providing assistance to certain troubled System institutions
and to cover the operating expenses of the Insurance
Corporation. Each System bank is required to pay premiums,
which may be passed on to the Associations, into the
Insurance Fund based on its pro rata share of Insured Debt
outstanding until the assets in the Insurance Fund reach the
“secure base amount.” The secure base amount is defined in
the Farm Credit Act as two percent of the aggregate Insured
Debt or such other percentage of the Insured Debt as the
Insurance Corporation, in its sole discretion, determines to be
actuarially sound. When the amount in the Insurance Fund
exceeds the secure base amount, the Insurance Corporation is
required to reduce premiums to maintain the Insurance Fund
at the two percent level. As required by the Farm Credit Act,
as amended, the Insurance Corporation may return excess
funds above the secure base amount to System institutions.
CoBank passes this premium expense and the return of
excess funds as applicable through to the Association based
on the annual average adjusted balance of Farm Credit
West’s direct note payable with the bank.
Operations
The Farm Credit Act sets forth the types of authorized
lending activity, persons eligible to borrow from Farm Credit
West, and financial services which can be provided by Farm
Credit West. Farm Credit West is authorized to provide,
either directly or in participation with other lenders, credit,
credit commitments, and related services to eligible
borrowers. Eligible borrowers include farmers, ranchers,
producers or harvesters of aquatic products, their
cooperatives, farm-related businesses, and certain ag product
processors/marketers. Farm Credit West also offers appraisal
services and credit life insurance to its borrowers as
additional services.
Farm Credit West’s financial condition may be impacted by
factors affecting CoBank. The CoBank Annual Report is
available free of charge on CoBank’s website,
www.cobank.com or upon request, shareholders of Farm
Credit West will be provided with a copy of the CoBank
Annual Report at no charge. The CoBank Annual Report
discusses the material aspects of CoBank’s financial
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
condition, changes in financial condition, and results of
operations.
Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies
The accounting and reporting policies of Farm Credit West
conform with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (GAAP) and prevailing practices
within the banking industry. The preparation of financial
statements in conformity with GAAP requires Association
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements
and accompanying notes. Material estimates that are
particularly susceptible to significant change in the near term
relate to the determination of the allowance for loan losses;
the valuation of deferred tax assets; the determination of fair
value of financial instruments and subsequent impairment
analysis. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
Significant estimates are discussed in these footnotes as
applicable.
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of
Farm Credit West, ACA and its wholly-owned subsidiaries,
Farm Credit West, FLCA, Farm Credit West, PCA, and
Southwest, ACA and Southwest’s wholly-owned
subsidiaries, Southwest, FLCA and Southwest, PCA. All
significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated in
consolidation.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In August 2018, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB) issued guidance entitled “Customer’s Accounting for
Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing
Arrangement That Is a Service Cost.” The guidance aligns
the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs
incurred in a hosting arrangement that is a service contract
with the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs
incurred to develop or obtain internal-use software (and
hosting arrangements that include an internal-use software
license). The accounting for the service element of a hosting
arrangement that is a service contract is not affected by this
guidance. This guidance becomes effective for interim and
annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019. The
guidance also requires an entity (customer) to expense the
capitalized implementation costs of a hosting arrangement
that is a service contract over the term of the hosting
arrangement. It further specifies where to present expense
and payments in the financial statements. Early adoption is
permitted. The guidance is to be applied on a retrospective or
prospective basis to all implementation costs incurred after
the date of adoption. The Association is evaluating the
impact of adoption on its financial condition and results of
operations.
In August 2018, the FASB issued guidance entitled
“Disclosure Framework — Changes to the Disclosure
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Requirements for Defined Benefit Plans.” The guidance
modifies the disclosure requirements for employers that
sponsor defined benefit pension or other postretirement plans.
This guidance becomes effective for fiscal years ending after
December 15, 2020. Early adoption is permitted. The
guidance is to be applied on a retrospective basis for all
periods. The adoption of this guidance will not impact the
Association’s financial condition or its results of operations,
but will impact the employee benefit plan disclosures.
In August 2018, the FASB issued guidance entitled
“Disclosure Framework — Changes to the Disclosure
Requirements for Fair Value Measurement.” The guidance
modifies the requirements on fair value measurements by
removing, modifying or adding to the disclosures. This
guidance becomes effective for interim and annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2019. Early adoption is
permitted and an entity is permitted to early adopt any
removal or modified disclosures and delay adoption of the
additional disclosures until their effective date. The
Association early adopted the removal and modified
disclosures during the fourth quarter of 2018. The adoption
of this guidance did not impact the Association’s financial
condition or its results of operations, but did impact the fair
value measurements disclosures.
In February 2018 the FASB issued guidance entitled “Income
Statement — Reporting Comprehensive Income —
Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated
Other Comprehensive Income.” This guidance allows for the
reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive
income to retained earnings for stranded tax effects resulting
from the recently issued tax legislation, Tax Cuts and Jobs
Act (TCJA) that lowered the federal corporate tax rate from
35% to 21%. The amount of the reclassification shall include
the effect of the change in the tax rate on gross deferred tax
amounts and related valuation allowances at the date of
enactment of the TCJA related to items remaining in
accumulated other comprehensive income. The guidance
becomes effective for financial statements issued for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods
within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted. The
Association has early adopted this standard with no impact to
its financial condition or results of operations.
In March 2017, the FASB issued guidance entitled
“Improving the Presentation of Net Periodic Pension Cost
and Net Periodic Postretirement Cost.” The guidance
requires that an employer report the service cost component
in the same line item or items as other compensation costs
arising from services rendered by the pertinent employees
during the period. Other components are required to be
presented in the income statement separately from the service
cost component and outside a subtotal of income from
operations, if one is presented. This guidance became
effective for interim and annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2017. The adoption of this guidance did not

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
impact the Association’s financial condition nor the results of
operations and it did not have a material impact on the
classification of certain items in the results of operations.
In August 2016, the FASB issued guidance entitled
“Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash
Payments.” The guidance addresses specific cash flow issues
with the objective of reducing the diversity in the
classification of these cash flows. Included in the cash flow
issues are debt prepayment or debt extinguishment costs and
settlement of zero-coupon debt instruments or other debt
instruments with coupon interest rates that are insignificant in
relation to the effective interest rate of the borrowing. This
guidance became effective for interim and annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2017. The adoption of this
guidance did not materially impact the Association’s
financial condition or its results of operations, but did change
the classification of certain items in the statement of cash
flows.
In June 2016, the FASB issued guidance entitled
“Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments.”
The guidance replaces the current incurred loss impairment
methodology with a methodology that reflects expected credit
losses and requires consideration of a broader range of
reasonable and supportable information to inform credit loss
estimates. Credit losses relating to available-for-sale
securities would also be recorded through an allowance for
credit losses. For public business entities that are not U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission filers, this guidance
becomes effective for interim and annual periods beginning
after December 15, 2020, with early application permitted.
The Association is evaluating the impact of adoption on its
financial condition and its results of operations.
In February 2016, the FASB issued guidance entitled
“Leases.” The guidance requires the recognition by lessees
of lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet for the
rights and obligations created by those leases. Leases with
lease terms of more than 12 months are impacted by this
guidance. In July 2018, the FASB issued an update entitled
“Leases – Targeted Improvements,” which provides entities
with an additional (and optional) transition method to adopt
the new leases standard. Under this new transition method,
an entity initially applies the new leases standard at the
adoption date and recognizes a cumulative-effect adjustment
to the opening balance of retained earnings in the period of
adoption. An entity that elects this additional transition
method must provide the required disclosures of the now
current standard for all prior periods presented. The guidance
and related amendments in this update became effective for
interim and annual periods beginning after December 15,
2018, with early application permitted. The adoption of this
guidance did not materially impact the Association’s
financial condition or its results of operations.
In January 2016, the FASB issued guidance entitled
“Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and

Liabilities.” The guidance affects, among other things, the
presentation and disclosure requirements for financial
instruments. For public entities, the guidance eliminates the
requirement to disclose the methods and significant
assumptions used to estimate the fair value of financial
instruments carried at amortized cost. This guidance became
effective for interim and annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2017. The Association early adopted this
guidance in 2015 and the adoption of this guidance did not
impact the Association’s financial condition or its results of
operations.
In May 2014, the FASB issued guidance entitled, “Revenue
from Contracts with Customers.” The guidance governs
revenue recognition from contracts with customers and
requires an entity to recognize revenue to depict the transfer
of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Financial
instruments and other contractual rights within the scope of
other guidance issued by the FASB are excluded from the
scope of this new revenue recognition guidance. The
guidance sets forth the requirement for new and enhanced
disclosures. The Association adopted the new standard
effective January 1, 2018, using the modified retrospective
approach. As the majority of the Association’s revenues are
not subject to the new guidance, the adoption did not have a
material impact on the financial position, results of
operations, equity or cash flows.
Loans and Allowance for Loan Losses
Long-term real estate mortgage loans generally have
maturities ranging from five to 30 years. Substantially all
short- and intermediate-term loans for agricultural production
or operating purposes have maturities of ten years or less.
Loans are carried at their principal amount outstanding
adjusted for charge-offs. Interest on loans is accrued and
credited to interest income based upon the daily principal
amount outstanding.
Impaired loans are loans for which it is probable that not all
principal and interest will be collected according to the
contractual terms of the loan. Impaired loans include
nonaccrual loans, restructured loans, and loans past due
90 days or more and still accruing interest. A loan is
considered contractually past due when any principal
repayment or interest payment required by the loan contract
is not received on or before the due date. A loan remains
contractually past due until it is formally restructured or until
the entire amount past due, including principal and accrued
interest, is collected in full or otherwise discharged.
Impaired loans are generally placed in nonaccrual status
when principal or interest is delinquent for 90 days or more
(unless adequately collateralized and in the process of
collection) or when circumstances indicate that collection of
principal and/or interest is in doubt. When a loan is placed in
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nonaccrual status, accrued interest deemed uncollectible is
reversed from current year income (if accrued in the current
year) and/or included in the nonaccrual balance (if accrued in
prior years). Loans are charged-off at the time they are
determined to be uncollectible.
A restructured loan constitutes a troubled debt restructuring
if, for economic or legal reasons related to the debtor’s
financial difficulties, the Association grants a concession to
the debtor that it would not otherwise consider.
When loans are in nonaccrual status, loan payments are
generally applied against the recorded nonaccrual balance. A
nonaccrual loan may, at times, be maintained on a cash basis.
As a cash basis nonaccrual loan, the recognition of interest
income from cash payments received is allowed when the
collectability of the recorded investment in the loan is fully
expected and when the loan does not have a remaining
unrecovered charge-off associated with it. Nonaccrual loans
may be returned to accrual status when principal and interest
are current, the borrower has demonstrated payment
performance, there are no unrecovered prior charge-offs and
collection of future payments is fully expected. If previously
unrecognized interest income exists at the time the loan is
transferred to accrual status, cash received at the time of or
subsequent to the transfer is first recorded as interest income
until such time as the recorded balance equals the contractual
indebtedness of the borrower.
FASB guidance requires loan origination fees and direct loan
origination costs, if material, to be capitalized and the net fee
or cost to be amortized over the life of the related loan as an
adjustment to yield. The Association has not implemented
this guidance because the effects were not material to the
Association’s financial position or results of operations for
any year included in these consolidated financial statements.
The Association purchases loan and lease participations from
other System and non-System entities to generate additional
earnings and diversify risk related to existing commodities
financed and the geographic area served. Additionally, the
Association sells a portion of certain large loans to other
System and non-System entities to reduce risk and comply
with established lending limits. When loans are sold the sale
terms comply with requirements under ASC 860 “Transfers
and Servicing”.
The Association uses a two-dimensional loan rating model
that incorporates a 14-point risk rating scale to identify and
track the probability of borrower default and a separate scale
addressing loss given default over a period of time.
Probability of default (PD) is the probability that a borrower
will experience a default within 12 months from the date of
the determination of the risk rating. A default is considered
to have occurred if the lender believes the borrower will not
be able to pay its obligation in full or the borrower is past due
more than 90 days. The loss given default (LGD) is
management’s estimate as to the anticipated economic loss on
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a specific loan assuming default has occurred or is expected
to occur within the next 12 months.
Each of the probability of default categories carries a distinct
percentage of default probability. The 14-point risk rating
scale provides for granularity of the probability of default,
especially in the acceptable ratings. There are nine
acceptable categories that range from a borrower of the
highest quality to a borrower of minimally acceptable quality.
The probability of default between 1 and 9 is very narrow and
would reflect almost no default to a minimal default
percentage. The probability of default grows more rapidly as
a loan moves from a “9” to other assets especially mentioned
and grows significantly as a loan moves to a substandard
(viable) level. A substandard (non-viable) rating indicates
that the probability of default is almost certain.
The credit risk rating methodology (14-point risk rating scale)
is a key component of the Association’s allowance for loan
losses evaluation, and is incorporated into its loan
underwriting standards and internal lending limit. The
allowance for loan losses (allowance) is maintained at a level
considered adequate by management to provide for probable
and estimable losses inherent in the loan portfolio. The
allowance is increased through provisions for loan losses and
loan recoveries and is decreased through reversals of
provisions for loan losses and loan charge-offs.
The level of the allowance is generally based on recent
charge-off experience adjusted for relevant factors. The
allowance is based on a periodic evaluation of changes in the
following factors when adjusting the historical charge-off
experience: loan portfolio composition, credit risk
classifications, collateral values, risk concentrations, weather
related conditions, and economic conditions. It is based on
estimates, appraisals and evaluations of loans which, by their
nature, contain elements of uncertainty and imprecision. The
possibility exists that changes in the economy and its impact
on borrower repayment capacity will cause these estimates,
appraisals, and evaluations to change.
The allowance for loan losses includes components for loans
individually evaluated for impairment and loans collectively
evaluated for impairment and loans acquired through mergers
with deteriorated credit quality. Generally, for loans
individually evaluated, the allowance for loan losses
represents the difference between the recorded investment in
the loan and the fair value of the collateral, if the loan is
collateral dependent. For those loans collectively evaluated
for impairment, the allowance for loan losses is determined
using the risk rating methodology.
Cash
Cash, as included in the consolidated financial statements,
represents cash on deposit at financial institutions. Cash at
times may exceed federally insured limits.
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Investment Securities
Farm Credit West, as permitted under FCA regulations, can
hold investments to manage risk concentrations. Investments
for which the Association has the intent and ability to hold to
maturity are classified as investments held-to-maturity and
are carried at amortized cost. Investments for which Farm
Credit West may not necessarily intend to hold to maturity
are classified and accounted for as available-for-sale. These
investments are reported at fair value with net unrealized
gains and losses reported as a separate component of
members' equity (accumulated other comprehensive income)
in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Changes in the fair value
of investments classified as available-for-sale are reflected as
direct charges or credits to other comprehensive income. If
an investment is deemed to be other-than-temporarily
impaired, the cost basis of the investment is written down to
its fair value, the credit-related loss is recognized through
earnings and the non-credit related portion is recognized in
other comprehensive income in the period of impairment.
Farm Credit West may also hold investments in accordance
with mission-related investment and other investment
programs, approved by FCA. These programs allow the
Association to make investments that further the System’s
mission to serve rural America. Mortgage-backed securities
issued by the Federal Agricultural Mortgage Corporation
(Farmer Mac) are considered other investments. Missionrelated investments for which the Association has the intent
and ability to hold to maturity are classified as held-tomaturity and carried at cost, adjusted for the amortization of
premiums and accretion of discounts. The Association held
Farmer Mac investments at December 31, 2017 and 2016 that
were classified either as held-to-maturity or available-for-sale
depending on the Association’s ability and intent to hold the
investment to maturity. As explained more fully in Note 4,
effective December 1, 2018, the securitization certificates
were redeemed and the underlying loans were returned to
Farm Credit West.
Investment in CoBank
The Association’s required investment in CoBank is in the
form of Class A Stock. The minimum required investment is
4.0% of the prior year’s average direct note volume. The
investment in CoBank is comprised of patronage-based stock
and purchased stock.
Other Property Owned
Other property owned, consisting of real and personal
property acquired through a collection action, is recorded at
fair value less estimated selling costs upon acquisition. Any
initial reduction in the carrying amount of a loan to the fair
value of the collateral received as other property owned is
charged to the allowance for loan losses. Revised estimates
to the fair value less cost to sell are reported as adjustments to
the carrying amount of the asset, provided that such adjusted

value is not in excess of the carrying amount at acquisition.
Income and expenses from operations and carrying value
adjustments are included in loss on other property owned, net
in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Farm Credit West may, on occasion, finance dispositions of
other property owned. These loans or sales contracts are
made on the same terms as those prevailing at the time for
comparable transactions.
Premises and Equipment
Land is carried at cost. Premises and equipment are carried at
cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is provided
on the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of
the assets. Useful life for buildings is 30 years and ranges
from three to seven years for furniture, equipment and
automobiles. Gains and losses on dispositions are reflected
in current operating results. Maintenance and repairs are
expensed and improvements above certain thresholds are
capitalized. Fixed assets under construction represent
Construction in Progress and are recorded in a similar named
account. They remain in such an account until the assets are
put in service, at which time the costs of the assets are
transferred into their respective property, plant and equipment
accounts to be depreciated.
Other Assets and Other Liabilities
Other assets are comprised primarily of employee benefit
related assets, financed lease assets, mortgage servicing rights
and investments in Farm Credit institutions other than
CoBank. Significant components of other liabilities include
employee benefits payable, accounts payable, and Insurance
Fund premiums payable.
Future Payment Funds
Farm Credit West is authorized under the Farm Credit Act to
accept payments in advance from borrowers. Such payments
are presented as liabilities in the accompanying Consolidated
Balance Sheet. Future payment funds are not insured. Farm
Credit West pays interest on such accounts.
Employee Benefit Plans
Substantially all Farm Credit West employees participate in
the Eleventh District Defined Benefit Retirement Plan
(Defined Benefit Plan) and/or the Farm Credit Foundations
Defined Contribution/401(k) Plan (Defined Contribution
Plan).
The Defined Benefit Plan is a noncontributory plan. Benefits
are based on compensation and years of service. Farm Credit
West recognizes its proportional share of expense and
contributes its proportional share of funding to that plan. The
Defined Benefit Plan was closed to future employees and
current employees not yet vested at December 31, 1997.
The Defined Contribution Plan has two components.
Employees who do not participate in the Defined Benefit
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Plan may receive benefits through the Employer Contribution
portion of the Defined Contribution Plan. In this plan, Farm
Credit West provides a monthly contribution based on a
defined percentage of the employee’s salary. Employees may
also participate in a Salary Deferral Plan governed by Section
401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Farm Credit West
matches a certain percentage of employee contributions.
Employees hired after December 31, 1997 are eligible to
participate only in the Defined Contribution Plan. All
defined contribution costs are expensed in the same period
that participants earn employer contributions.
Farm Credit West also participates in the Eleventh District
nonqualified defined benefit Pension Restoration Plan. This
plan provides retirement benefits above the Internal Revenue
Code compensation limit to certain highly-compensated
eligible employees. Benefits payable under this plan are
partially offset by the benefits payable from the Defined
Benefit Plan. The Pension Restoration Plan was closed to
future employees and current employees not yet vested at
December 31, 1997.
Farm Credit West provides certain health and life insurance
benefits to eligible current and retired employees through the
Farm Credit Foundations Retiree Medical Plan and Retiree
Life Plan. The anticipated costs of these benefits are accrued
during the period of the employee’s active service. The
authoritative accounting guidance requires the accrual of the
expected cost of providing postretirement benefits during the
years that the employee renders services necessary to become
eligible for these benefits.
Income Taxes
As previously described, Farm Credit West, ACA conducts
its business activities through its wholly-owned subsidiaries.
Long-term mortgage lending activities are conducted through
the wholly-owned FLCA subsidiaries which are exempt from
federal and state income tax. Short- and intermediate-term
lending activities are conducted through the wholly-owned
PCA subsidiaries. The PCA subsidiaries, the ACA holding
company and Southwest ACA subsidiary are subject to
income tax. Farm Credit West accounts for income taxes
under the liability method. Accordingly, deferred taxes are
recognized for estimated taxes ultimately payable or
recoverable based on federal, state, or local laws. Farm
Credit West, FLCA provides a variety of services to Farm
Credit West, ACA, Southwest, ACA, Farm Credit West,
PCA, Southwest, PCA and Southwest, FLCA under a
management agreement for a management fee. The
management agreement, in effect, allocates operating
expenses to each entity based on estimated relative service.
Farm Credit West elected to operate as a cooperative that
qualifies for tax treatment under Subchapter T of the Internal
Revenue Code. Accordingly, under specified conditions,
Farm Credit West can exclude from taxable income amounts
distributed as qualified patronage dividends in the form of
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cash, stock, or allocated retained earnings. Provisions for
income taxes are made only on those taxable earnings that
will not be distributed as qualified patronage dividends.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the
expected future tax consequences of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts reflected in the financial
statements and tax bases of assets and liabilities. A valuation
allowance is provided against deferred tax assets to the extent
that it is more likely than not (over 50% probability), based
on management's estimate, that the deferred tax assets will
not be realized. The consideration of valuation allowances
involves various estimates and assumptions as to future
taxable earnings, including the effects of the Association’s
expected patronage program, which reduces taxable earnings.
Deferred income taxes have not been recorded by Farm
Credit West on stock patronage distributions received from
the Bank prior to January 1, 1993, the adoption date of
accounting guidance on income taxes. Association
management’s intent is to permanently invest these and other
undistributed earnings in the Bank, or if converted to cash, to
pass through any such earnings to Association borrowers
through qualified patronage allocations.
Farm Credit West has not provided deferred income taxes on
amounts allocated to the Association borrowers through
qualified patronage allocations. Additionally, deferred
income taxes have not been provided on the Bank’s post1992 allocated earnings.
Farm Credit West has not provided deferred income taxes on
the 2011 recapitalization income received from the Bank, as
it is management’s intent, if the Bank stock is ever converted
to cash, to pass through any related earnings to Association
borrowers through qualified patronage allocations.
The Association accounts for income taxes in accordance
with ASC 740, which provides guidance for how uncertain
tax positions should be recognized, measured, presented, and
disclosed in the financial statements. ASC 740 requires the
evaluation of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in
the course of preparing the Association's tax returns to
determine whether the tax positions are more-likely-than-not
of being sustained upon examination by the applicable tax
authority, based on the technical merits of the tax position,
and then measuring the tax benefit that is more-likely-thannot to be realized. Tax positions not deemed to meet the
more-likely-than-not threshold would be recorded as a tax
expense in the current reporting period.
For California and Arizona tax purposes, Farm Credit West
can effectively exclude from taxable income all patronagesourced income. Therefore, the provision for state income
taxes is made only on non-patronage sourced earnings.
Patronage Distribution from CoBank
Patronage distributions from CoBank are accrued by the
Association in the year earned.
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Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) refers to revenue,
expenses, gains, and losses that are recorded as an element of
members’ equity and comprehensive income, but are
excluded from net income under GAAP. Farm Credit West
records other comprehensive income/(loss) based on: (1)
unrealized market value of its investment securities availablefor-sale; (2), change in unrealized actuarial gains and losses
associated with the Pension Restoration Plan (described in
Note 12); and (3), the Association’s proportional share of
change in unrealized actuarial gains and losses associated
with FPI’s Pension Plan.
Fair Value Measurement
FASB guidance defines fair value, establishes a framework
for measuring fair value, and specifies disclosures about fair
value measurements. It describes three levels of inputs that
may be used to measure fair value.
Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities that the reporting entity has the ability to
access at the measurement date. For Farm Credit West,
assets held in nonqualified benefit plan trusts are valued
under Level 1.
Level 2: Observable inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability
either directly or indirectly. Level 2 inputs include the
following: (a) quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities
in active markets; (b) quoted prices for identical or similar
assets or liabilities in markets that are not active so that
they are traded less frequently than exchange-traded
instruments, the prices are not current or principal market
information is not released publicly; (c) inputs other than
quoted prices that are observable such as interest rates and
yield curves, prepayment speeds, credit risks and default
rates and (d) inputs derived principally from or
corroborated by observable market data by correlation or
other means. Farm Credit West holds no Level 2 assets or
liabilities.
Level 3: Unobservable inputs are those that are supported by
little or no market activity and that are significant to the
determination of fair value of the assets or liabilities.
These unobservable inputs reflect the reporting entity’s
own assumptions about factors that market participants
would use in pricing the asset or liability. Level 3 assets
and liabilities include financial instruments whose values
are determined using pricing models, discounted cash
flow methodologies, or similar techniques, as well as
instruments for which the determination of fair value
requires significant management judgment or estimation.
For Farm Credit West, Level 3 assets include investment
securities – available for sale, mortgage servicing rights,
loans and debt acquired in an acquisition or merger,
certain impaired loans and other property owned.

See Note 16 in these Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for fair value disclosures.
Off-balance-sheet Credit Exposures
Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to
customers generally having fixed expiration dates or other
termination clauses that may require payment of a fee.
Commercial letters of credit are conditional commitments
issued to guarantee the performance of a customer to a third
party. These letters of credit are issued to facilitate
commerce and typically result in the commitment being
funded when the underlying transaction is consummated
between the customer and third party. The credit risk
associated with commitments to extend credit and
commercial letters of credit is essentially the same as that
involved with extending loans to customers and is subject to
normal credit policies. Collateral may be obtained based on
management’s assessment of the customer’s creditworthiness.
Note 3 – Loans and Allowance for Loan Losses
A summary of loan principal outstanding by loan type
follows.
December 31, (in thousands)
Real estate mortgage loans
Production and
intermediate-term loans
Agribusiness loans
Direct financing leases
Rural infrastructure loans
Rural residential loans
Total loans

2018

2017

2016

$ 6,142,538

$5,865,394

$5,590,400

1,819,309
1,691,984
192,763
266,025
96

1,844,903
1,502,847
213,238
272,890
99

1,823,233
1,589,834
219,904
246,116
101

$ 10,112,715

$9,699,371

$9,469,588

Farm Credit West is eligible under FCA regulations to lend to
specific loan types as reflected in the above table. Real estate
mortgage loans represent 60.8% of our loan portfolio.
A substantial portion of the Association’s loans are
collateralized. Accordingly, the Association’s exposure to
credit loss associated with lending activities is considerably
less than the recorded loan balances. An estimate of Farm
Credit West’s credit risk exposure is considered in the
determination of the allowance.
The amount of collateral obtained, if deemed necessary upon
extension of credit, is based on management's credit
evaluation of the borrower. Collateral held varies, but
typically includes farmland and income-producing property,
such as crops and livestock, as well as receivables. Longterm real estate loans are collateralized by first liens on the
underlying real property. FCA regulations state that longterm real estate loans are not to exceed 85% (97% if
guaranteed by a government agency) of the property's
appraised value. Under Farm Credit West’s current
underwriting standards, generally loans are originated at
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levels lower than the regulatory limits allow. However, a
decline in a property's market value subsequent to loan
origination or advances, or other actions necessary to protect
Farm Credit West’s financial interest in the collateral, may
result in loan to value ratios in excess of the regulatory
maximum.
Farm Credit West’s leasing operations consist principally of
the lease financing of various types of agricultural equipment.
Most Farm Credit West leases are classified as direct
financing leases, the financial components of which are
detailed in the following table. Farm Credit West’s financing
of leases typically expire or mature within five years.

Participations Sold
December 31, 2018
(in thousands)

Farm Credit
Institutions

Non-Farm Credit
Institutions

Real estate mortgage loans $ (1,584,008)
Production and
(564,585)
intermediate-term loans
(279,740)
Agribusiness loans
(198,173)
Direct financing leases

$

$ (2,626,506)

$

Total participations sold

(2,098)
—
—
—
(2,098)

Total
$ (1,586,106)
(564,585)
(279,740)
(198,173)
$ (2,628,604)

Farm Credit West classifies loans according to the FCA
Uniform Classification System (UCS). Following are
definitions of the five UCS classifications.

The following table summarizes the components of the net
investment in direct financing leases included as loans in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet.



Acceptable – Assets are expected to be fully collectible
and represent the highest quality.

2018

2016



Other Assets Especially Mentioned – Assets are
currently collectible but exhibit some potential weakness.



Substandard – Assets exhibit some serious weakness in
repayment capacity, equity, and/or collateral pledged on
the loan.



Doubtful – Assets exhibit similar weaknesses to
substandard assets. However, doubtful assets have
additional weaknesses in existing facts, conditions and
values that make collection in full highly questionable.



Loss – Assets are considered uncollectible.

December 31, (in thousands)
Minimum lease payments
receivable
Unearned income
Estimated residual values
Participation interest sold
Direct financing leases

2017

$ 414,719
(47,452)
23,669
(198,173)

$

436,676
(42,805)
32,990
(213,623)

$

442,999
(40,247)
41,740
(224,588)

$ 192,763

$

213,238

$

219,904

During 2018, Farm Credit West sold participation interests in
direct financing leases totaling $69.9 million to CoBank’s
subsidiary, Farm Credit Leasing Corporation (FCL). No gain
or loss was recognized in the financial statements upon sale.
Farm Credit West also sold participation interests in certain
direct financing leases to FCL totaling $72.9 million during
2017 and $110.4 million during 2016. No gain or loss was
recognized in the financial statements upon those sales.
Operating lease assets, where Farm Credit West is a lessor,
are a component of Other assets on the Consolidated Balance
Sheet. Net operating lease assets were $6.2 million at
December 31, 2018, $5.4 million at December 31, 2017, and
$7.2 million at December 31, 2016.
Farm Credit West purchases and sells loan participations with
other parties in order to diversify risk and manage loan
volume. The following tables present information regarding
participations purchased and sold. Participations purchased
volume includes loan syndications where Farm Credit West is
a lending member.
Participations Purchased
December 31, 2018
(in thousands)

Farm Credit Non-Farm Credit
Institutions
Institutions

Real estate mortgage loans $
Agribusiness loans
Rural infrastructure loans
Total participations

Total

540,561
741,915
266,025

$

—
178,257
—

$

$ 1,548,501

$

178,257

$ 1,726,758
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540,561
920,172
266,025
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The following table shows loans and related accrued interest
classified under the FCA Uniform Classification System as a
percentage of total loans and related accrued interest by loan
type.
December 31,

2018

2017

2016

Real estate mortgage loans
Acceptable
OAEM
Substandard
Doubtful
Total

90.1%
5.5%
4.4%
0.0%
100.0%

91.3%
4.7%
4.0%
0.0%
100.0%

94.1%
2.2%
3.7%
0.0%
100.0%

Production and
intermediate-term loans
Acceptable
OAEM
Substandard
Doubtful
Total

86.6%
7.6%
5.8%
0.0%
100.0%

87.9%
6.6%
5.5%
0.0%
100.0%

91.3%
3.4%
5.3%
0.0%
100.0%

Agribusiness loans
Acceptable
OAEM
Substandard
Doubtful
Total

94.7%
1.5%
3.8%
0.0%
100.0%

92.1%
4.5%
3.4%
0.0%
100.0%

94.1%
3.0%
2.9%
0.0%
100.0%

Direct financing leases
Acceptable
OAEM
Substandard
Doubtful
Total

92.3%
4.0%
3.7%
0.0%
100.0%

91.6%
5.5%
2.9%
0.0%
100.0%

96.0%
1.2%
2.8%
0.0%
100.0%

Rural infrastructure loans
Acceptable
OAEM
Substandard
Doubtful
Total

96.7%
3.3%
0.0%
0.0%
100.0%

100.0%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
100.0%

94.6%
5.4%
0.0%
0.0%
100.0%

Rural residential loans
Acceptable
OAEM
Substandard
Doubtful
Total

0.0%
100.0%
0.0%
0.0%
100.0%

0.0%
100.0%
0.0%
0.0%
100.0%

0.0%
100.0%
0.0%
0.0%
100.0%

Total loans
Acceptable
OAEM
Substandard
Doubtful
Total

90.5%
5.1%
4.4%
0.0%
100.0%

91.0%
4.9%
4.1%
0.0%
100.0%

93.7%
2.6%
3.7%
0.0%
100.0%

To mitigate the risk of loan losses, Farm Credit West has
obtained credit enhancements by entering into Long-Term
Standby Commitment to Purchase agreements with Farmer
Mac. Under the agreements, which are effectively credit
guarantees that will remain in place until the loans are paid in
full, Farmer Mac agrees to purchase loans from Farm Credit
West in the event of default (typically when a guaranteed
loan becomes four months past due), subject to certain
conditions. In return, the Association pays Farmer Mac
commitment fees based on the outstanding balance of loans
covered by the Agreements. The principal balance of the
loans under the Long-Term Standby Commitment was
$279.3 million at December 31, 2018, $177.8 million at
December 31, 2017, and $191.3 million at December 31,
2016. Fees paid to Farmer Mac for such commitments
totaled $0.7 million during 2018, $0.8 million during 2017,
and $0.9 million during 2016. Those Farmer Mac fees were
classified as reductions in interest income. Other fees paid to
Farmer Mac related to securitized loans are discussed in Note
4 –Investment Securities.
In addition to Farmer Mac, credit enhancements with federal
and state government agencies of $20.8 million at year-end
2018, $21.7 million at year-end 2017 and $25.9 million at
year-end 2016 were also outstanding.
Impaired loans are loans for which it is probable that not all
principal and interest will be collected according to the
contractual terms. The following table presents information
concerning impaired loans including accrued interest, if any.
December 31, (in thousands)
Impaired nonaccrual loans:
Current as to principal
Past due
Total nonaccrual loans
Impaired accrual loans:
Accrual restructured
Accrual loans 90 days
Total impaired accrual loans
Total impaired loans

2018
$ 61,083
50,803
111,886

2017
$

57,742
54,542
112,284

2016
$

66,381
72,605
138,986

—
672
672

—
3,638
3,638

14,676
210
14,886

$ 112,558

$ 115,922

$ 153,872

At December 31, 2018, there were approximately
$23.7 million in commitments to lend additional funds to
debtors whose loans were classified as impaired. Such
commitments have been considered when establishing the
overall allowance for loan losses.

There were no loans classified as loss at any of the dates
presented above.
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Impaired assets consist of impaired loans and other property
owned. The following table shows impaired assets and
includes a detail of impaired loans by loan type.
2018

December 31, (in thousands)
Nonaccrual loans
Real estate mortgage
Production and
intermediate-term
Agribusiness
Direct financing leases
Total nonaccrual loans

$

61,493

2017
$

27,975
21,448
970
111,886

Accrual restructured loans
Real estate mortgage
Production and
intermediate-term
Total accruing
restructured loans

70,071

2016
$

85,476

29,678
9,579
2,956
112,284

36,709
11,817
4,984
138,986

Recorded Investment in Impaired Loans
December 31, 2017
(in thousands)
Real estate mortgage loans
Production and
intermediate-term loans
Agribusiness loans
Direct financing leases
Total

—

8,330

December 31, 2016
(in thousands)

—

—

6,346

—

—

14,676

Real estate mortgage loans
Production and
intermediate-term loans
Agribusiness loans
Direct financing leases

672

—

—

—
—

112
3,526

—
210

672

3,638

210

Total impaired loans

112,558

115,922

153,872

Other property owned

1,211

5,085

3,483

Total impaired assets

$ 113,769

$

121,007

$

157,355

Additional impaired loan information is shown in the
following tables.

$

Real estate mortgage loans
Production and
intermediate-term loans
Agribusiness loans
Direct financing leases
Total

Impaired
with related
allowance

$

Total

$

7,199

$

17,427
3,360
597
$

28,583

$

54,966

$

62,165

10,548
18,088
373

27,975
21,448
970

83,975

$ 112,558

$

$

70,071

9,067
9,622
1,161
$

82,193

29,790
13,105
2,956
$

21,681

Impaired
with no related
allowance
$

27,402
8,127
3,130
$

115,922

60,340

72,125

Total
Impaired
$

15,653
3,900
1,854
$

2018

December 31, (in thousands)
Real estate mortgage loans
Production and
intermediate-term loans
Agribusiness loans
Direct financing leases

$

93,532

93,806
43,055
12,027
4,984

$

2017

79,442

$

86,416
34,528
970
$ 201,356

153,872

86,285

2016
$

83,440
24,147
2,956
$

196,828

106,380
98,232
23,174
4,984

$

232,770

Related Allowance on Impaired Loans
2018

Real estate mortgage loans
Production and
intermediate-term loans
Agribusiness loans
Direct financing leases
Total

$

2017

837

$

10,261
1,144
235
$

12,477

1,705

2016
$

15,656
1,070
743
$

19,174

3,317
11,535
1,843
885

$

17,580

Average Impaired Loans
2018

December 31, (in thousands)
Real estate mortgage loans
Production and
intermediate-term loans
Agribusiness loans
Direct financing leases
Total
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62,343

Total
Impaired

Unpaid Principal Balance
on Impaired Loans

Total

Total
Impaired

33,729

Impaired
with related
allowance

December 31, (in thousands)

Impaired
with no related
allowance

$

20,723
3,483
1,795

Recorded Investment in Impaired Loans
December 31, 2018
(in thousands)

7,728

Impaired
with no related
allowance

Recorded Investment in Impaired Loans

—

Accrual loans 90 days
or more past due
Real estate mortgage
Production and
intermediate-term
Agribusiness
Total accrual loans 90 days
or more past due

Impaired
with related
allowance

$

71,766

2017
$

36,066
18,956
2,928
$ 129,716

85,497

2016
$

37,245
11,049
4,119
$

137,910

89,479
42,072
12,906
4,080

$

148,537
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Interest income is recognized and cash payments are applied
on nonaccrual impaired loans as described in Note 2. The
following tables present interest income recognized on
impaired loans.
Interest Income Recognized
on Impaired Loans
2018

December 31, (in thousands)
$

Real estate mortgage loans
Production and
intermediate-term loans
Agribusiness loans
Direct financing leases

2017

824

$

1,825

382
194
(12)
$

Total

1,388

2016
$

2,185

712
217
(4)
$

2,750

4,526
77
—
$

6,788

Income on Impaired Loans
For the year ended December 31,
(in thousands)
Interest income recognized on:
Nonaccrual loans
Accrual restructured loans
Accrual loans 90 days
Interest income recognized on
impaired loans

2018

2017

2016

$

1,173
52
163

$

2,264
368
118

$

6,154
501
133

$

1,388

$

2,750

$

6,788

Interest income on nonaccrual loans and accrual restructured
loans that would have been recognized under the original
terms of the loans follows.
For the year ended December 31,
(in thousands)
Interest income which would
have been recognized under
original loan terms
Less: interest income
recognized
Foregone (recovered)
interest income

2018

2017

2016

Real estate mortgage loans
Production and
intermediate-term loans
Agribusiness loans
Direct financing leases
Rural infrastructure loans
Rural residential loans

$

6,008

$

(1,225)
$

4,783

Total loans

Not Past Due
or Less Than 30
Days Past Due

5,211

$

(2,632)
$

2,579

4,876
(6,655)

$

(1,779)

Total
Past Due

Total
Loans

6,164,332

$ 45,664

$ 6,209,996

1,821,472
1,696,768
192,683
266,457
96

13,861
4,757
80
—
—

1,835,333
1,701,525
192,763
266,457
96

$ 10,141,808

$ 64,362

$ 10,206,170

$

Real estate mortgage loans
Production and
intermediate-term loans
Agribusiness loans
Direct financing leases
Total loans

30-89 Days
Past Due
$

$

90 Days or
More Past Due

12,855

$ 32,809

1,459
—
—

12,402
4,757
80

14,314

$ 50,048

Total
Past Due
$

45,664
13,861
4,757
80

$

64,362

A restructuring of a loan constitutes a troubled debt
restructuring (TDR) if, for economic or legal reasons related
to the debtor’s financial difficulties, the Association grants a
concession to the debtor that it would not otherwise consider.
The following tables present additional information regarding
troubled debt restructurings that occurred in 2018 and 2017
(whether accrual or nonaccrual). There were no new TDRs
identified in 2016.
December 31, 2018
(in thousands)
Troubled debt restructurings:
Production and
intermediate-term loans
Total

December 31, 2017
(in thousands)
Troubled debt restructurings:
Agribusiness loans

The following tables provide an age analysis of past due
loans including accrued interest as of December 31, 2018.
Principal and interest
December 31, 2018
(in thousands)

Principal and interest
December 31, 2018
(in thousands)

Total

Pre-modification
Post-modification
Outstanding
Outstanding
Recorded Investment Recorded Investment

$

6,063

$

6,063

$

6,063

$

6,063

Pre-modification
Post-modification
Outstanding
Outstanding
Recorded Investment Recorded Investment
$

78

$

78

$

78

$

78

There were no TDRs that occurred within the previous 12
months respectively, for which there was a subsequent
default during 2018. The following tables provide
information on outstanding loans in troubled debt
restructurings at period end. These loans are included as
impaired loans in the impaired loan table.
TDRs in Accrual Status
2018

December 31, (in thousands)
Real estate mortgage loans
Production and
intermediate-term loans
Total

$

2017

—

$

—
$

—

—

2016
$

—
$

—

8,330
6,346

$

14,676
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A breakdown of the allowance by loan type follows.

TDRs in Nonaccrual Status
2018

December 31, (in thousands)
Real estate mortgage loans
Production and
intermediate-term loans
Agribusiness loans
Total

$

(19)

2017
$

360
63
$

404

2016
267

$

4,138
72
$

4,477

267
4,493
—

$

4,760

Additional commitments to lend to borrowers whose loans
have been modified in a TDR were $0.4 million at December
31, 2018, $0.5 million at December 31, 2017, and less than
$0.1 million at December 31, 2016.
The following table summarizes changes in the allowance
and includes detail regarding charge-off, recovery, and
provision activity by loan type.
2018

(dollars in thousands)
Balance at beginning of year

$

Provision for loan losses/
(loan loss reversal):
Real estate mortgage loans
Production and
intermediate-term loans
Agribusiness loans
Direct financing leases
Rural infrastructure loans
Rural residential loans
Total provision
for loan losses
Charge-offs:
Real estate mortgage loans
Production and
intermediate-term loans
Agribusiness loans
Direct financing leases
Total charge-offs
Recoveries:
Production and
intermediate-term loans
Agribusiness loans
Total recoveries
Net charge-offs
Balance at December 31
Net charge-offs
to average loans

$

64,900

2017
$

55,600

$

45,200

5,709

3,510

4,399
2,065
3,084
(390)
—

6,575
(1,492)
1,275
(442)
1

13,664
2,892
(331)
481
—

7,936

11,626

20,216

(286)

(1,770)

(67)

(8,711)
(1,190)
(1,112)
(11,299)

(680)
(89)
—
(2,539)

(7,922)
(1,900)
(407)
(10,296)

263
—
263
(11,036)

93
120
213
(2,326)

342
138
480
(9,816)

0.11%

$

64,900
0.02%

Real estate mortgage loans
Production and
intermediate-term loans
Agribusiness loans
Direct financing leases
Rural infrastructure loans
Rural residential
Total allowance
for loan losses

$

55,600
0.11%

2017

13,458

$

26,694
12,989
7,339
1,319
1
$

61,800

14,966

2016
$

11,027

30,742
12,115
5,367
1,709
1
$

64,900

24,755
13,575
4,092
2,151
—
$

55,600

The following tables contain summaries of the recorded
investment in loans and the allowance for loan losses by loan
type and whether collectively or individually evaluated for
impairment.
Recorded Investment in Loans
Principal and interest
December 31, 2018
(in thousands)

Collectively
Evaluated for
Impairment

Individually
Evaluated for
Impairment

Real estate mortgage loans
Production and
intermediate-term loans
Agribusiness loans
Direct financing leases
Rural infrastructure loans
Rural residential loans

$ 6,148,503

$

Total

Total
Loans

61,493

$ 6,209,996

1,807,358
1,680,077
191,793
266,457
96

27,975
21,448
970
—
—

1,835,333
1,701,525
192,763
266,457
96

$ 10,094,284

$ 111,886

$ 10,206,170

Allowance for Loan Losses

December 31, 2018
(in thousands)
Real estate mortgage loans
Production and
intermediate-term loans
Agribusiness loans
Direct financing leases
Rural infrastructure loans
Rural residential loans
Total
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$

2016

(1,222)

61,800

2018

December 31, (in thousand

Collectively
Evaluated for
Impairment

Individually
Evaluated for
Impairment

$

$

12,621
16,433
11,845
7,104
1,319
1

$

49,323

837

Total
Allowance
$

10,261
1,144
235
—
—
$

12,477

13,458
26,694
12,989
7,339
1,319
1

$

61,800
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Allowance for Loan Losses

Recorded Investment in Loans
Principal and interest
December 31, 2017
(in thousands)

Collectively
Evaluated for
Impairment

Individually
Evaluated for
Impairment

Real estate mortgage loans
Production and
intermediate-term loans
Agribusiness loans
Direct financing leases
Rural infrastructure loans
Rural residential loans

$ 5,850,824

$

Total

1,828,600
1,500,553
210,282
273,442
99
$ 9,663,800

$

Total
Loans

70,071

$ 5,920,895

29,678
9,579
2,956
—
—

1,858,278
1,510,132
213,238
273,442
99

112,284

$ 9,776,084

Allowance for Loan Losses

December 31, 2017
(in thousands)
Real estate mortgage loans
Production and
intermediate-term loans
Agribusiness loans
Direct financing leases
Rural infrastructure loans
Rural residential loans
Total

Collectively
Evaluated for
Impairment

Individually
Evaluated for
Impairment

$

$

13,261
15,086
11,045
4,624
1,709
1

$

45,726

1,705

14,966

15,656
1,070
743
—
—
$

19,174

30,742
12,115
5,367
1,709
1
$

64,900

Recorded Investment in Loans
Principal and interest
December 31, 2016
(in thousands)

Collectively
Evaluated for
Impairment

Individually
Evaluated for
Impairment

Real estate mortgage loans
Production and
intermediate-term loans
Agribusiness loans
Direct financing leases
Rural infrastructure loans
Rural residential loans

$ 5,551,328

$

Total

1,797,739
1,585,553
214,920
246,420
101
$ 9,396,061

$

Real estate mortgage loans
Production and
intermediate-term loans
Agribusiness loans
Direct financing leases
Rural infrastructure loans
Rural residential loans
Total

Collectively
Evaluated for
Impairment

Individually
Evaluated for
Impairment

$

$

7,710
13,220
11,732
3,207
2,151
—

$

38,020

3,317

Total
Allowance
$

11,535
1,843
885
—
—
$

17,580

11,027
24,755
13,575
4,092
2,151
—

$

55,600

Note 4 – Investment Securities

Total
Allowance
$

December 31, 2016
(in thousands)

Total
Loans

85,476

$ 5,636,804

36,709
11,817
4,984
—
—

1,834,448
1,597,370
219,904
246,420
101

138,986

$ 9,535,047

Prior to December 1, 2018, Farm Credit West’s investment
securities portfolio was comprised of Farmer Mac guaranteed
agricultural mortgage-backed securities (AMBS). In three
separate transactions during 2003 and 2006, the Association
securitized a total of $1.4 billion in real estate mortgage loans
into Farmer Mac mortgage-backed securities. Portions of
two of these securities transactions were subsequently sold to
CoBank. Accordingly, the retained portions of these two
AMBS portfolios were classified as available-for-sale and
carried at fair value of $70.6 million at December 31, 2017.
As noted above, in 2004, 2006, and 2007, Farm Credit West
sold a total of $649 million of Farmer Mac AMBS securities
to CoBank at par. In accordance with FASB guidance, the
Association recognized gains totaling $8.8 million related to
the value of the mortgage servicing rights and other
beneficial interests retained in connection with the securities
sold. The value of the mortgage servicing rights was $2.2
million and $2.9 million at December 31, 2017 and 2016
respectively. Mortgage servicing rights were included within
other assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
Farm Credit West also held a third pool of Farmer Mac
securities that were not sold, in whole or in part, to another
entity. The Association had the intent and ability to hold
these mortgage-backed investment securities to maturity.
Accordingly, these securities were classified as held-tomaturity and carried at an amortized cost of $21.0 million at
December 31, 2017.
The payments received on these investment securities for the
years ending 2018, 2017 and 2016 were $16.1 million,
$22.4 million and $22.0 million respectively. These pay
downs are reflected in the Consolidated Statement of Cash
Flows in the Cash Flows from Investing Activities section
within loans and investment securities, net.
Effective December 1, 2018, Farm Credit West re-purchased
$60.2 million of securitization certificates held by CoBank.
The re-purchase of the securities from CoBank resulted in the
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cancellation of the servicing contract and the remaining
mortgage servicing rights of $2.0 million were written off to
Other non-interest income on the Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income in 2018. Additionally, Farmer Mac
agreed remitted the underlying loans totaling $134.1 million
in the securitization trusts to Farm Credit West in exchange
for the redemption of securitization certificates, the
dissolution of the trusts, and the termination of the
participating interests and securitization agreements.
As a result of these transactions, Farm Credit West
recognized total loans of $134.1 million with Farmer Mac
Long-Term Standby Commitment to Purchase agreements on
the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2018.
Accordingly, the investments in Farmer Mac guaranteed
AMBS and the unrealized gain on investment securities
available-for-sale were no longer reflected on its
Consolidated Balance Sheet.
Fees paid to Farmer Mac related to securities owned by Farm
Credit West were a reduction to the Association’s investment
interest income of $0.3 million during 2018, $0.4 million
during 2017, and $0.5 million during 2016. Furthermore,
Farm Credit West paid fees to Farmer Mac related to the
portfolio of securitized loans sold to CoBank. Those fees
totaled $0.3 million in 2018, $0.4 million in 2017, and
$0.5 million in 2016 and are recorded as an offset to other
non-interest income.
The following is a summary of the Farmer Mac AMBS in
2018, 2017 and 2016.

(dollars
in thousands)

M ortgage-Backed Securities — Available-for-Sale
Weighted
Amortized
Gross Unrealized
Fair
Average
Cost
Gains
Losses
Value
Yield

December 31, 2018 $
—
December 31, 2017
69,835
December 31, 2016
85,278

(dollars
in thousands)

$

—
813
1,604

$

—
—
—

$

—
70,648
86,882

N/A
4.52%
4.07%

M ortgage-Backed Securities — Held-to-M aturity
Weighted
Amortized
Gross Unrealized
Fair
Average
Cost
Gains
Losses
Value
Yield

December 31, 2018 $
—
20,890
December 31, 2017
December 31, 2016
27,830

$

—
292
535

$

—
—
—

$

—
21,182
28,365

N/A
4.33%
3.81%

Note 5 – Investment in CoBank
At December 31, 2018, the Association’s investment in
CoBank is in the form of Class A stock with a par value of
$100 per share. The Association is required to own stock in
CoBank to capitalize its direct loan balance and participation
loans sold to CoBank. The current requirement for
capitalizing its direct loan with CoBank is 4.0% of the
Association’s prior year average direct loan balance. Under
the current CoBank capital plan applicable to participations
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Farm Credit West sold to CoBank, patronage from CoBank
related to these participations is received as 75% cash and
25% Class A stock. The capital plan is evaluated annually by
CoBank’s board and management and it is subject to change.
CoBank may require the holders of its equities to subscribe
for additional capital as agreed per a general financing
agreement (GFA) that may be needed to help meet its capital
requirements or its joint and several liability under the Act
and regulations. In making such a capital call, CoBank shall
take into account the financial condition of each such holder
and such other considerations, as it deems appropriate.
The Association owned approximately 9.48% of the
outstanding common stock of CoBank at December 31, 2018.
Note 6 – Premises and Equipment
Premises and equipment consisted of the following.
2018

2017

2016

$ 43,943
9,968
2,005
405
56,321
(12,908)

$ 37,402
7,659
2,107
6,206
53,374
(11,220)

$ 31,306
4,784
2,120
8,137
46,347
(9,769)

$ 43,413

$ 42,154

$ 36,578

December 31, (in thousands)
Land, buildings, and
improvements
Furniture and equipment
Vehicles
Construction in progress
Premises and equipment at cost
Less: accumulated depreciation
Total premises and
equipment, net

Note 7 – Other Property Owned
Net gain on other property owned as reflected in the
accompanying Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income consisted of the following.
For the year ended December 31,
(in thousands)
Gain on sale, net
Carrying value adjustments
Operating expense, net
Gain on other
property owned, net

2018

2017

2016

$

(408)
—
6

$

(74)
—
2

$

(218)
—
71

$

(402)

$

(72)

$

(147)

Note 8 – Note Payable to CoBank
Farm Credit West's indebtedness to CoBank primarily
represents borrowings by Farm Credit West to fund its loan
portfolio. This indebtedness is collateralized by a pledge to
CoBank of substantially all of Farm Credit West's assets, and
is governed by the GFA. According to the agreement, the
aggregate outstanding amount of principal and accrued
interest shall not at any time exceed the borrowing base
(commitment amount). At December 31, 2018 Farm Credit
West’s borrowing base was approximately $9.0 billion, while
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outstanding principal and interest due to CoBank was
$7.9 billion. The GFA is subject to renewal periodically in
accordance with normal business practice and requires the
Association to comply with certain covenants. As of January
1, 2018, the most recent renewal of the GFA with CoBank
became effective. The GFA matures on December 31, 2022,
and management expects renewal of the GFA at that time.
Farm Credit West was in compliance with the terms and
conditions of the GFA as of December 31, 2018. The
associated promissory note is renewed annually.
Substantially all fixed-rate borrower loans are match-funded
with CoBank. Payments and disbursements are made on the
note payable to CoBank on the same basis the Association
collects payments from and disburses on borrower loans. The
majority of the Association’s borrower loans are made with a
variable rate and are funded with CoBank at a comparable
variable rate. The variable interest rate may periodically be
adjusted by CoBank based on the terms and conditions of the
borrowing as well as the market. The weighted average
interest rate was 2.7% at December 31, 2018 as compared to
2.0% and 1.4% at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
Under the Farm Credit Act, Farm Credit West is obligated to
borrow only from CoBank unless CoBank gives approval to
borrow elsewhere. Other than the funding relationship with
CoBank, the Association has no other uninsured or insured
borrowings. CoBank, consistent with FCA regulations, has
established limitations on the Association’s ability to borrow
funds based on specified factors or formulas relating
primarily to credit quality and financial condition. At
December 31, 2018, the Association’s note payable was
within the specified limitations.
The Association has the opportunity to commit loanable
funds with CoBank under a variety of programs at either
fixed or variable rates for specified timeframes. Purchases in
the program receive credit on the committed loanable funds
balance classified as a reduction of interest expense. These
committed funds are netted against the note payable to the
Bank. The committed funds as of December 31, 2018 were
$1.2 billion with an average credit rate of 1.8%,
$970.0 million at December 31, 2017 with an average credit
rate of 1.3% and $865.0 million at December 31, 2016 with
an average rate of 1.0%.

make a common equity investment in capital stock (for
agricultural producers) or participation certificates (for nonproducers). Those capitalization bylaws allow stock
requirements to range from (1) the lesser of $1 thousand or
two percent of the amount of the loan to (2) seven percent of
the loan. The Board of Directors has the authority to change
the common equity requirement as long as the change is
within this range. At December 31, 2018 and for all periods
presented in the Consolidated Balance Sheet, the required
investment was $1 thousand per voting common stockholder
and $1 thousand per nonvoting participation certificate
holder. Farm Credit West may require shareholders to
subscribe to additional common equity to meet minimum
FCA capital adequacy regulations.
Farm Credit West retains a first lien on the stock or
participation certificates owned by borrowers. In accordance
with the Farm Credit Act, such equities are unprotected and
at-risk. Retirement of at-risk equities will be solely at the
discretion of the Board of Directors, or by Farm Credit
West’s president when consistent with authority delegated by
the Board. Such retirements will generally be at the lower of
par or book value. Repayment of a loan does not
automatically result in retirement of the corresponding
common equity investment.
Regulatory Capitalization Requirements and
Restrictions
The FCA sets minimum regulatory capital requirements for
Banks and Associations. Beginning in 2017, new regulatory
capital requirements were adopted. These new requirements
replaced the core surplus and total surplus requirements with
Common Equity Tier 1, Tier 1 Capital, and Total Capital
risk-based capital ratio requirements. In addition, a Tier 1
Leverage ratio and an Unallocated Retained Earnings (URE)
and URE Equivalents Leverage ratio were implemented. The
Permanent Capital Ratio continues to remain in effect;
however, the denominator was revised to align with the new
capital ratios.

Note 9 – Members’ Equity
Descriptions of Farm Credit West's capitalization
requirements, capital protection mechanisms, regulatory
capitalization requirements and restrictions, and equities are
provided in the following sections.
Common Equity Investment Requirement – Capital
Stock and Participation Certificates
In accordance with Farm Credit West’s capitalization bylaws,
as a condition of borrowing, each borrower is required to
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The tables below summarize each of the ratios and their
primary components:
Type of capital
as a % of
risk-weighted assets

Primary Components
of Numerator

Common Equity Tier Unallocated retained earnings and URE
1 (CET1) Capital
equivalents, common cooperative equities
ratio
(qualifying capital stock and allocated equity)1
Tier 1 Capital ratio

CET1 Capital, non-cumulative perpetual
preferred stock

Total Capital ratio

2
Tier 1 Capital, allowance for loan losses ,
3
common cooperative equities , term preferred
4
stock and subordinated debt

Permanent capital
ratio

Retained earnings, common stock, preferred
H stock, and subordinated debt, subject to
certain limits

Type of leverage
as a % of
total assets

Primary Components
of Numerator

Tier 1 Leverage ratio*

Tier 1 Capital

Minimum URE
Leverage ratio

URE, URE Equivalents and purchased stock in
Farm Credit entities

* Must include the regulatory minimum requirement for the URE and UREE
Leverage ratio.
1

Equities outstanding 7 or more years

2

Capped at 1.25% of risk-adjusted assets

3

Outstanding 5 or more years, but less than 7 years

4

Outstanding 5 or more years

The below table summarizes regulatory requirements and
Farm Credit West results at December 31, 2018 and 2017:

December 31,

2018

2017

Common Equity Tier 1
Capital (CET1) ratio
Tier 1 Capital ratio
Total Capital ratio
Tier 1 Leverage ratio
Minimum URE Leverage ratio
Permanent capital ratio

14.00%
14.00%
14.66%
15.29%
16.95%
17.64%

13.33%
13.33%
13.95%
14.37%
15.99%
17.37%

Regulatory
Minimum
with Buffer**
7.00%
8.50%
10.50%
5.00%
1.50%
7.00%

** The new capital requirements have a three-year phase-in of the capital
conservation buffer applied to the risk-adjusted capital ratios. There is no phase-in of
the leverage buffer. Amounts shown reflect the full capital conservation buffer.

If the capital ratios fall below regulatory requirements,
including the buffer amounts, capital distributions (equity
redemptions, dividends, and patronage) and discretionary
senior executive bonuses are restricted or prohibited without
prior FCA approval.
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System regulation empowers FCA to direct a transfer of
funds or equities by one or more System institutions to
another System institution under specified circumstances.
This regulation has not been utilized to date. Farm Credit
West has not been called upon to initiate any transfers and is
not aware of any proposed action under this regulation.
Preferred Stock
Farm Credit West is authorized to issue and have outstanding
up to 500 million shares of class H preferred stock. As of
December 31, 2018, 378,105 shares were outstanding with a
par value of $1.00 per share. Purchases may be made by
individuals or entities that hold legal title to, or beneficial
interest in, shares of any class of Farm Credit West common
stock or participation certificates and are accredited investors at
the time of their purchase of preferred stock. Farm Credit
West retains a first lien on the preferred stock owned by
members and such equities are unprotected and at-risk in
accordance with the Farm Credit Act. Retirement of preferred
stock is at the sole discretion of the Board, or by Farm Credit
West’s president when consistent with authority delegated by
the Board. Retirements of preferred stock may also require
approval by FCA.
Holders of preferred stock are entitled to vote only on
amendments to Farm Credit West Bylaws that would affect a
preference accorded to the preferred stock. Each customer’s
initial subscription must be for a minimum of $5 thousand.
In accordance with policy, the maximum investment
allowable per investor is $4 million. The $4 million limit is
in place to promote equitable use of the program among
stockholders.
Dividends on each share of preferred stock accrue on a daily
basis at the dividend rate on the par value of such share.
Preferred stock dividends will accrue whether or not they
have been declared and whether or not there are profits,
retained earnings, or other funds of Farm Credit West legally
available for the payment of dividends. Accrued dividends
will accumulate (up to and including the date of payment
thereof) until declared and paid in the form of stock.
Dividends are declared in the order accrued (i.e., oldest first),
but will not be payable unless and until declared by the Board.
The Board is not under any obligation to declare and pay
dividends annually or on any other periodic basis. Accrued but
unpaid dividends will not bear interest, nor will dividends
accrue on unpaid accrued dividends. Dividends may only be
declared and paid out of undistributed and unallocated net
earnings of Farm Credit West, and then only if, after such
declaration or payment, Farm Credit West will meet minimum
prescribed regulatory capital adequacy requirements. So long
as any shares of preferred stock are outstanding, Farm Credit
West may not pay or declare any dividend on any class of its
capital stock or distribute any patronage dividends, unless all
accrued dividends on preferred stock as of the end of the most
recent calendar month shall have been paid or declared and a
sum set aside in payment thereof.
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The dividend rate is a per annum rate which is subject to
change each calendar month. For any particular month, the
dividend rate shall not exceed 8.0% nor be less than the
federal funds rate. At December 31, 2018, the preferred
stock dividend rate was 2.3%, and 2.0% in 2017 and 2016.
Dividends of $8.6 million, $8.0 million and $7.5 million were
declared and distributed in 2018, 2017 and 2016 respectively.
All shares approved for retirement will be retired at an
amount equal to the share’s par value, plus accrued but
unpaid dividends. In addition, Farm Credit West may “call”
(retire) all or any portion of a holder’s preferred stock at any
time for the preferred stock’s par value plus accrued but
unpaid dividends.
Preferred stock is a component of permanent capital, but may
not exceed 25% of calculated permanent capital. Preferred
stock is not included in CET1, Tier 1, and Total Regulatory
Capital for regulatory capital and leverage ratio calculations.
Common Equity Outstanding
Each owner of class C capital stock is entitled to a single
vote. Other classes of borrower equities do not provide
general voting rights to their owners. Voting stock may not
be transferred to another person unless such person is eligible
to hold voting stock. At December 31, 2018, Farm Credit
West had 892,593 shares of class C capital stock at a par
value of $5.00 per share/unit.
Under certain circumstances, Farm Credit West is also
authorized to issue nonvoting class A common stock with a
par value of $5.00 per share. At December 31, 2018, no
shares of class A stock were outstanding. Farm Credit West
issues nonvoting class F participation certificates to those
eligible borrowers who are not eligible to hold class C voting
stock per FCA regulations. At December 31, 2018, 112,463
shares of class F stock were outstanding at a par value of
$5.00 per share.
Unallocated Retained Earnings
As a cooperative, Farm Credit West can distribute net income
annually as patronage in the form of cash or allocated
retained earnings. Unallocated retained earnings include
patronage-sourced net income that is retained each year. The
Board must approve any use of unallocated retained earnings.
Any net losses, to the extent they exceed any contingency
reserve and unallocated retained earnings shall, except as
otherwise provided in the Farm Credit Act, be treated as
impairing: first, non-designated unallocated retained earnings
and unallocated retained earnings evidenced by nonqualified
written notices of allocation; second, allocated retained
earnings, if any, evidenced by qualified written notices of
allocation in the reverse order of issuance until all such
allocated retained earnings has been impaired; third, to all
classes of common stock and participation certificates until

fully impaired; and fourth, to preferred stock until fully
impaired.
In the event of liquidation or dissolution of Farm Credit
West, any assets remaining after payment or retirement of all
liabilities shall be distributed in the following order of
priority. First, to the holders, pro rata, of all classes of
preferred stock until an amount equal to the aggregate par
value of all such shares then issued and outstanding has been
distributed to such holders. Second, to the holders, pro rata,
of all classes of common stock and participation certificates,
until an amount equal to the aggregate par value of all such
shares then issued and outstanding has been distributed to
such holders. Third, to the holders of allocated retained
earnings evidenced by qualified written notices of allocation,
if any. Fourth, to the holders of unallocated retained earnings
evidenced by nonqualified written notices of allocation.
Fifth, any remaining assets after such distributions shall be
distributed to present and former patrons on a patronage
basis, to the extent practicable.
Patronage Distributions
Consistent with its bylaws which provide for the allocation of
patronage dividends, Farm Credit West operates under
Subchapter T of the Internal Revenue code (i.e., the
Association operates as a cooperative). All patronage
distributions to a borrower are on such proportionate
patronage basis as may be approved by the Board.
Farm Credit West allocates 100% of its patronage-sourced
income before income taxes, less preferred stock dividends
paid, to its patrons. At each year-end, the Board evaluates
whether to retain Farm Credit West’s net income to
strengthen its capital position or to distribute a portion of the
net income to customers by declaring a qualified/cash
patronage dividend. That portion of Farm Credit West’s
patronage-sourced income before income taxes, less preferred
stock dividends paid, not distributed in cash is also allocated
to patrons. In accordance with Internal Revenue Service
requirements, each customer is sent a nonqualified written
notice of allocation. Nonqualified allocations, but not
qualified (cash) patronage dividends, are included in Farm
Credit West’s unallocated retained earnings account and in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, are
reported as unallocated retained earnings on the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet and Consolidated
Statement of Changes in Members’ Equity. Such allocations
may provide a future basis for a distribution of capital. The
Farm Credit West Board considers these unallocated retained
earnings to be permanently invested in the Association. As
such, there is no current plan to revolve or redeem these
amounts. No express or implied right to have such capital
retired or revolved at any time is granted.
In 2018, 2017, and 2016 Farm Credit West operated two
patronage pools. Patrons of Southwest are eligible to receive
patronage distributions from the consolidated patronage2018 ANNUAL REPORT | 67
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sourced net earnings of Southwest and its two direct
subsidiaries, and patrons of Farm Credit West are eligible to
receive patronage distributions from Farm Credit West’s
patronage-sourced net earnings excluding Southwest’s
earnings.
The Board approved a cash patronage distribution of
$115.7 million out of 2018 patronage-sourced income before
income taxes of $247.9 million; that $115.7 million was paid
in early 2019. Farm Credit West patrons will receive $105.0
million and Southwest patrons will receive $10.7 million of
the $115.7 million total. The Board approved a cash
patronage distribution of $82.7 million out of 2017
patronage-sourced income before income taxes of
$219.9 million; that $82.7 million was paid in early 2018.
The Board approved a cash patronage distribution of
$79.5 million out of 2016 patronage-sourced income before
income taxes of $205.9 million; that $79.5 million was paid
in early 2017.
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss
Farm Credit West reports other comprehensive income (loss)
as a component of comprehensive income in the
accompanying Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income, Consolidated Statement of Changes in Members’
Equity and accumulated other comprehensive income as a
component of members’ equity in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheet.
As described in Note 4, Farmer Mac returned the total
underlying loans in the securitization trusts to Farm Credit
West in exchange for the redemption of the securities, the
dissolution of the trusts, and the termination of the
participating interests and securitization agreements. At
December 31, 2018, as a result Farm Credit West holds loans
instead of investment securities, and there was no unrealized
gain on investment securities – available for sale, as in prior
years.
As described in Note 12, other comprehensive loss at
December 31, 2018 resulted from the unrealized net actuarial
loss component of the Pension Restoration Plan liability at
Farm Credit West. In addition, as an equity owner in FPI,
Farm Credit West’s service provider of technology services,
the Association has also recorded its proportional share of
FPI’s pension-related unrealized actuarial loss.
For the years ended December 31, 2017, and December 31,
2016, Farm Credit West recorded other comprehensive
income based on the market value of the Association’s
investment securities held as available-for-sale and the
pension-related other comprehensive loss resulting from the
unrealized net actuarial loss component of the Pension
Restoration Plan liability.

The following is a summary of accumulated other
comprehensive gain (loss) included in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet.

Unrealized gain on investment
securities – available-for-sale
Unrealized net actuarial (loss)
on Pension Restoration Plan
Unrealized actuarial
(loss) in FPI pension plan

$

Accumulated other
comprehensive loss

2017

—

$

813

2016

$

1,604

(3,819)

(5,023)

(4,973)

(1,191)

—

—

$ (5,010)

$

(4,210)

$

(3,369)

Note 10 – Patronage Distributions from Farm Credit
Institutions
Patronage income received from Farm Credit institutions
follows.
For the year ended December 31,
(in thousands)

2018

2017

2016

CoBank
Other Farm Credit institutions

$

50,623
5,650

$

43,683
4,237

$

41,742
2,982

Total patronage income

$

56,273

$

47,920

$

44,724

Patronage distributions from CoBank relating to the
Association’s average direct note borrowings are distributed
in cash. For CoBank patronage relating to average
participated loan volume sold to CoBank, a portion of the
annual patronage is distributed in cash and the remainder in
the form of allocated equity.
The amount earned in 2018 was accrued as of December 31,
2018 and will be paid by CoBank in March 2019. In
addition, included in the 2018 amount was a $6.5 million
one-time special cash patronage declared and paid by
CoBank in 2018. The amount earned and accrued in 2017
was paid by CoBank in March 2018. The amount earned and
accrued in 2016 was paid by CoBank in March 2017.
Patronage distributions are also received from other Farm
Credit institutions that Farm Credit West has sold loan
participations to or has received services from.
Note 11 – Income Taxes
The provision for income taxes follows.
For the year ended December 31,
(in thousands)
Current federal tax provision
Current state tax provision
Provision for (benefit from)
income taxes
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2018

December 31, (in thousands)

2018

2017

2016

$

(15)
24

$

95
(167)

$

124
(5)

$

9

$

(72)

$

119
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There was minimal impact in the provision for income taxes
for 2018 resulting from the enactment of federal tax
legislation in late December 2017. The legislation, among
other things, lowered the federal corporate tax from 35% to
21% beginning January 1, 2018. In accordance with GAAP,
the change to the lower corporate tax rate led to a remeasurement of the deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax
assets in 2017, the period of enactment. Management’s
position is that none of the deferred tax benefits will be
realized in future periods and a valuation allowance is
provided against net deferred tax assets. Accordingly, no net
tax benefit was recognized.
The provision for income tax differs from the amount of
income tax determined by applying the applicable U. S.
statutory federal income tax rate to pretax income as
quantified in the following table.

Provision for (benefit from)
income taxes

Deferred tax assets:
Allowance for loan losses
Nonaccrual income
Loss carryforwards
Gross deferred tax assets
Less: valuation allowance
Deferred tax assets, net of
valuation allowance

2017

2016

$ 52,103
15

$ 74,848
(110)

$ 70,102
(3)

(30,517)

(48,974)

(43,154)

(24,297)

(28,050)

(27,030)

2,943
—
(56)
(182)

(2,338)
3,662
949
(59)

203
—
(41)
42

$

9

$

(72)

$

$

Deferred tax liabilities:
Lease adjustment
Patronage distribution from
CoBank
Gross deferred tax liabilities

2018

Patronage distribution declared
by taxable entities
Increase (decrease) in deferred
tax asset valuation
allowance
Change in federal tax law/rates
Prior year tax adjustments
Other

2018

December 31, (in thousands)

Net deferred tax liability

For the year ended December 31,
(in thousands)
Federal tax at statutory rate
State tax, net
Effect of non-taxable FLCA
subsidiary

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are comprised of the
following at the dates indicated.

119

As detailed in the following table, deferred tax assets and
liabilities are established considering the commitment of the
Farm Credit West Board and management to make operating
decisions that will ultimately utilize such deferred tax assets.
The Association’s valuation allowance was $8.9 million in
2018, $5.9 million in 2017 and $8.3 million in 2016. The
Association will continue to evaluate the realizability of the
deferred tax assets and adjust the valuation allowance
accordingly.

$

8,959
536
1,042
10,537
(8,859)

2017
$

8,946
368
853
10,167
(5,916)

2016
$ 11,917
1,543
1,380
14,840
(8,254)

1,678

4,251

6,586

(1,678)

(1,922)

(2,976)

—

(2,329)

(3,610)

(1,678)

(4,251)

(6,586)

—

$

—

$

—

Farm Credit West has no uncertain tax positions to be
recognized as of December 31, 2018, 2017 or 2016.
The Association recognizes interest and penalties related to
unrecognized tax positions as an adjustment to income tax
expense. The tax years that remain open for federal and
major state income tax jurisdictions are 2014 and forward.
Pursuant to its bylaws, the Farm Credit West Board has
approved patronage resolutions that, subject to first making
other bylaw-required applications (including the setting aside
of necessary and appropriate additions to unallocated retained
earnings), call for Farm Credit West (and subsidiaries) to be
operated as a cooperative utilizing a patronage program. In
years when operational circumstances allow, patronage
allocations will be declared based on that year’s results with
payment occurring early in the following year. See the
Patronage Distributions section of Note 9 for a history of
patronage declarations and payments.
Note 12 – Employee Benefit Plans
Certain Farm Credit West employees participate in a multiemployer defined benefit retirement plan (Defined Benefit
Plan). The Department of Labor has determined the plan to
be a governmental plan; therefore, the plan is not subject to
the provisions of the Employee Retirement Income Security
Act of 1974, as amended (ERISA). As the plan is not subject
to ERISA, the plan’s benefits are not insured by the Pension
Benefit Guaranty Corporation. Accordingly, the amount of
accumulated benefits that participants would receive in the
event of the plan’s termination is contingent on the
sufficiency of the plan’s net assets to provide benefits at that
time. This is a noncontributory plan which covers eligible
employees. Benefits are based on salary and years of service.
The Defined Benefit Plan was closed to future employees and
current employees not yet vested at December 31, 1997.
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The multi-employer Defined Benefit Plan, which includes
other associations as employers, reflects an unfunded liability
totaling $61.9 million at December 31, 2018. The pension
benefits funding status reflects the net difference of the fair
value of the plan assets and the projected benefit obligation.
The projected benefit obligation is the actuarial present value
of all benefits attributed by the pension benefit formula to
employee service rendered prior to the measurement date
based on assumed compensation levels. The projected
benefit obligation of the plan was $253.9 million at
December 31, 2018, $271.1 million at December 31, 2017,
and $257.9 million at December 31, 2016. The fair value of
the plan assets was $192.0 million at December 31, 2018,
$200.7 million at December 31, 2017, and $172.2 million at
December 31, 2016.
Defined Benefit Plan costs are determined for each individual
employer based on costs directly related to its eligible
employees in the plan as well as an allocation of the
remaining costs based proportionately on the estimated
projected liability of the employer under the plan. Farm
Credit West recognizes its proportional share of expense and
contributes its proportional share of funding. Total plan
expense for all participating employers was $1.9 million in
2018, $3.6 million in 2017, and $5.9 million in 2016. Farm
Credit West’s allocated share of plan expenses included in
salaries and employee benefits was $0.5 million in 2018,
$1.1 million in 2017, and $1.3 million in 2016. Participating
employers contributed $16.0 million in 2018, $16.0 million in
2017, and $17.5 million in 2016 to the plan. The
Association’s allocated share of these pension contributions
was $4.6 million in 2018, $4.7 million in 2017, and
$5.3 million in 2016. While the plan is a governmental plan
and is not subject to minimum funding requirements, the
employers contribute amounts necessary on an actuarial basis
to provide the plan with sufficient assets to meet the benefits
to be paid to participants. The amount of the total employer
contributions expected to be paid into the pension plan during
2019 is $16.0 million. The Association’s allocated share of
these pension contributions is expected to be $4.9 million.
Eligible current and retired employees of Farm Credit West
are provided postretirement benefits other than pensions
through the Farm Credit Foundations Retiree Medical Plan
and Retiree Life Plan. Benefits provided are determined on a
graduated scale, based on years of service. The anticipated
costs of these benefits are accrued during the period of the
employee’s active service. Postretirement benefits (primarily
health care benefits) included in salaries and employee
benefits expense were less than $0.1 million in 2018, and
approximately $0.1 million in 2017 and 2016. These
expenses are equal to Farm Credit West’s cash contributions
for each year.
Farm Credit West also participates in a non-qualified defined
benefit plan (Pension Restoration Plan) that is unfunded. The
purpose of this plan is to supplement a participant’s benefits
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under the Defined Benefit Plan to the extent that such
benefits are reduced by the limitations imposed by the
Internal Revenue Code. Benefits payable under the Pension
Restoration Plan are offset by a reduction in the benefits
payable from the Defined Benefit Plan. Pension Restoration
Plan expenses included in salaries and employee benefits
were $1.5 million in 2018, $1.5 million in 2017, and
$1.6 million in 2016.
The amounts recognized in Farm Credit West’s Consolidated
Balance Sheet for the Pension Restoration Plan follow.
For the year ended December 31,
(in thousands)
Change in benefit obligation:
Beginning benefit obligation
Service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial (gain)/loss
Benefits paid

2018

2017

2016

$ 10,886
353
274
(374)
(1,018)

$ 10,192
318
251
1,017
(892)

$ 10,898
301
260
447
(1,714)

10,121

Ending benefit obligation
Change in plan assets:
Company contributions
Benefits paid
Ending fair value of plan
assets
December 31 net amount
recognized (accrued
benefit liability)

10,886

10,192

1,018
(1,018)

892
(892)

1,714
(1,714)

—

—

—

$ (10,121)

$ (10,886)

$ (10,192)

Amounts included in accumulated other comprehensive loss
for the Pension Restoration Plan on Farm Credit West’s
Consolidated Balance Sheet follows.
2018

December 31, (in thousands)
Unrecognized net actuarial loss
Accumulated other
comprehensive loss

2017

2016

$

3,819

$

5,023

$

4,973

$

3,819

$

5,023

$

4,973

The projected benefit obligation and accumulated benefit
obligation for the Pension Restoration Plan follow.
December 31, (in thousands)
Projected benefit obligation
Accumulated benefit obligation

2018

2017

2016

$ 10,121
$ 8,939

$ 10,886
$ 9,436

$ 10,192
$ 8,484

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Components of net periodic pension expense for the Pension
Restoration Plan included in Farm Credit West’s
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income follow.
For the year ended December 31,
(in thousands)

2018

Service cost
Interest cost
Net amortization and deferral
of actuarial costs

$

353
274

Net periodic benefit cost

$

1,457

2017
$

318
251

$

1,536

830

2016
$

301
260

$

1,608

967

1,047

An estimated net actuarial loss of $0.6 million for the Pension
Restoration Plan will be amortized into income during 2019.
Changes in benefit obligation recognized in other
comprehensive income/loss are included in the following
table.
For the year ended December 31,
(in thousands)
Current year net actuarial
(gain)/loss
Amortization of:
Net actuarial loss
Total recognized in other
comprehensive
(income)/loss

2018
$

(374)

2017
$

(830)

$

(1,204)

1,017

2016
$

(967)

$

50

447
(1,047)

$

(600)

Weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit
obligation (liability) follow.
December 31,
Discount rate
Rate of compensation increase

2018
3.81%
5.50%

2017
2.99%
5.50%

2016
3.20%
5.50%

Weighted average assumptions used to determine net periodic
benefit cost (expense) follow.
December 31,
Discount rate
Rate of compensation increase

2018
2.99%
5.50%

2017
3.20%
5.50%

2016
3.17%
5.50%

The Association expects to contribute $0.8 million to the
Pension Restoration Plan in 2019.

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected
future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid.
(in thousands)

Pension Restoration Benefits

2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024 through 2028

$
821
$
604
$
482
$
925
$
929
$ 10,298

Farm Credit West participates in the Farm Credit Foundations
Defined Contribution Plan (Defined Contribution Plan). The
Defined Contribution Plan has two components. Employees
who do not participate in the Defined Benefit Plan may
receive benefits through the Employer Contribution portion
of the Defined Contribution Plan. In this plan, Farm Credit
West provides a monthly contribution based on a defined
percentage of the employee’s salary. Employees may also
participate in a Salary Deferral Plan governed by Section
401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Farm Credit West
matches a certain percentage of employee contributions.
Employer contributions to the defined contribution plan were
$3.1 million for the year ended 2018, $3.1 million for the
year ended December 31, 2017 and $2.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2016.
Note 13 – Related Party Transactions
In the ordinary course of business, Farm Credit West may
enter into loan transactions with directors and senior officers
of Farm Credit West, directors and senior officers of CoBank,
the immediate families of such directors and officers, and
other organizations with which such directors and officers
may be affiliated. Such loans to directors and senior officers
are subject to special approval requirements contained in
FCA regulations and are made on the same terms, including
interest rates, amortization schedule and collateral, as those
prevailing at the time for comparable transactions with
unrelated borrowers. There were no loans outstanding to
senior officers or their immediate family members at
December 31, 2018.
Information related to loans/leases as well as the underlying
loans related to the Farmer Mac-guaranteed securities made
to such persons are shown below.
For the year ended December 31,
(in thousands)
New loans
Repayments/transfers
Ending loan balances

2018

2017

2016

$ 237,246
217,464
278,785

$ 214,145
170,460
259,003

$ 185,419
157,259
215,318

In the opinion of management, none of these loans
outstanding at December 31, 2018 involved more than a
normal risk of collectability.

2018 ANNUAL REPORT | 71

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Farm Credit West has a director loan quality policy that,
unless waived in specific instances while ensuring
Association safety and soundness, calls for a director to
immediately resign and be ineligible for appointment,
election, or reelection if that director is obligated to Farm
Credit West on a loan that is subject to adverse
circumstances. If a waiver is permissible, the director must
prepare a signed corrective plan detailing steps to eliminate
the adverse circumstance within a specified period.
Additionally, Farm Credit West has an employee loan quality
policy calling for various authorities and responsibilities of an
employee to be suspended if the employee is party to a loan
that becomes delinquent or adversely classified.
The following table shows information related to the
preferred stock holdings of Association directors.
For the year ended December 31,
(in thousands)
Preferred stock issued
Preferred stock retired
Ending preferred stock balances

2018
$

635
—
1,987

2017
$

390
612
1,493

2016
$

2,011
1,500
1,687

Association employees are not eligible to hold preferred
stock.
Farm Credit West also has non-lending business relationships
with certain other System entities. During 2018, 2017, and
2016, respectively, the Association paid $10.8 million, $10.0
million, and $9.2 million to Financial Partners, Inc. for
technology services. The Association paid $0.3 million in
2018, 2017 and 2016 to Foundations for human resource
services. Farm Credit West is an owner in each entity along
with certain other Farm Credit entities.
Note 14 – Regulatory Enforcement Matters
There are no regulatory enforcement actions in effect for
Farm Credit West.
Note 15 – Commitments and Contingencies
Farm Credit West has various commitments to extend credit
and contingent liabilities.
Farm Credit West may participate in financial instruments
with off-balance sheet risk to satisfy the financing needs of its
borrowers. These financial instruments include commitments
to extend credit and standby letters of credit. These
instruments involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit
risk in excess of the amount recognized in the financial
statements.
Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a
borrower as long as there is not a violation of any condition
established in the contract. Commitments generally have
fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may
require payment of a fee by the borrower. At December 31,
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2018, $2.8 billion in commitments to extend credit, excluding
standby letters of credit, were outstanding.
Farm Credit West participates in standby letters of credit to
satisfy the financing needs of its borrowers. These letters of
credit are irrevocable agreements to guarantee payment of
specified financial obligations. Farm Credit West’s
agreement to guarantee payment is supported by a
commitment to repay Farm Credit West from the borrower on
whose behalf the letter of credit was issued. At
December 31, 2018, $37.7 million of standby letters of credit
were outstanding. Given the borrower obligations that
support these letters of credit, combined with the modest
marginal fees charged and modest marginal expenses
incurred in their extension, management deems these standby
letters of credit to have no reportable fair value. At
December 31, 2018, $6.5 million of those letters of credit will
expire in 2019, $11.6 million expire in 2020, $7.5 million
expire in 2021, $6.0 million expire in 2022, and $6.1 million
expire in 2023.
Since many of these commitments are expected to expire
without being drawn upon, the total commitments do not
necessarily represent future cash requirements. However,
these credit-related financial instruments have off-balancesheet credit risk because their amounts are not reflected on
Farm Credit West’s Consolidated Balance Sheet until funded
or drawn upon. The credit risk associated with issuing
commitments and letters of credit is substantially the same as
that involved in extending loans to borrowers. Management
applies the same credit policies to these instruments. Upon
fully funding an instrument, the credit risk amounts are equal
to the contract amounts and the potential for loss from such
transactions is subject to borrower repayment or the value of
collateral securing the loan (if any). The amount of collateral
obtained, if deemed necessary upon extension of credit, is
based on management’s credit evaluation of the borrower.
Farm Credit West does not anticipate any material losses as a
result of these commitments or letter of credit transactions.
In December 2018, Farm Credit West recorded a $3.0 million
liability associated with undisbursed loan commitments. It is
probable that a portion of a specific borrower’s standby letter
of credit and unfunded commitment will be drawn in 2019
and represents a loss to the Association. Due to its terms,
Farm Credit West is required to honor the commitment but its
collectability is in doubt.
In the ordinary course of business Farm Credit West may be
party to legal claims in which monetary damages are asserted.
Management is unaware of any pending claims for which the
ultimate liability would have a material effect on Farm Credit
West’s financial position or results of operations.
Note 16 – Fair Value Measurements
Accounting guidance defines fair value as the exchange price
that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a
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liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or
liability. The fair value measurement is not an indication of
liquidity. See Note 2 for additional information. Fair value
measurements are determined on a recurring basis or
nonrecurring basis. Assets measured at fair value on a
recurring basis for each of the fair value hierarchy values are
summarized below. During the three years presented, the
Association recorded no transfer in or out of levels 1, 2 or 3.
There were no liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring
basis for the periods presented.
Fair Value M easurement Using
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3

(in thousands)
Assets:
Assets held in trusts for
nonqualified benefit
plans
December 31, 2018
December 31, 2017
December 31, 2016

Total
Fair Value

$ 1,189
1,555
3,239

$ 1,189
1,555
3,239

Investment securities –
available-for-sale
December 31, 2018
December 31, 2017
December 31, 2016

$

—
70,648
86,882

$

—
70,648
86,882

The table below represents a reconciliation of Farm Credit
West’s investment securities – available-for-sale measured at
fair value on a recurring basis for each of past three years.

(in thousands)

Fair Value M easurement Using
Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)
Investment securities – available-for-sale
2018
2017
2016

Balance at beginning of year
Unrealized losses
included in other
comprehensive loss
Settlements

$

Balance at December 31

$

70,648

$

(813)
(69,835)
—

86,882

$ 103,292

(791)
(15,443)
$

70,648

(688)
(15,722)
$

86,882

Assets measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis were
considered level 3 and are summarized in the following table.
There were no liabilities measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis for the periods presented.

(in thousands)
Assets:
Nonaccrual loans,
December 31, 2018
December 31, 2017
December 31, 2016
Other property owned,
appraised value
December 31, 2018
December 31, 2017
December 31, 2016

Fair Value
M easurement Using
Significant Unobservable
Inputs (Level 3)

Total
Fair
Value

$

16,107
14,555
42,759

$

16,107
14,555
42,759

$

2,008
6,232
4,280

$

2,008
6,232
4,280

Valuation Techniques
As more fully discussed in Note 2, accounting guidance
establishes a fair value hierarchy, which requires an entity to
maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use
of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. The
following represents a brief summary of the valuation
techniques used by Farm Credit West for assets and liabilities
subject to fair value measurement.
Assets held in trust: Assets held in trust for nonqualified
benefit plans are related to supplemental retirement plans and
are generally classified under Level 1 and 2. The trust assets
held by Farm Credit West include cash, money market funds
and mutual funds that have quoted market prices in an active
market and are therefore classified within Level 1.
Investment Securities: Where quoted prices are available in
an active market, available-for-sale securities would be
classified as Level 1. If quoted prices are not available in an
active market, the fair value of securities are estimated using
pricing models, quoted prices for similar securities received
from pricing services or discounted cash flows. Generally,
these securities would be classified as Level 2. Farm Credit
West has no Level 1 or Level 2 securities. Where there is
limited activity or less transparency around inputs to the
valuation, the securities are classified as Level 3. Securities
classified as Level 3 included Farm Credit West’s mortgagebacked securities issued by Farmer Mac, the valuation of
which involves significant unobservable inputs. Farm Credit
West valued its investment securities – available-for-sale by
determining the present value of that security using a
comparison of (a) the existing interest rates on its securitized
loans to (b) the current, adjusted market interest rate for
securities with similar characteristics, and valuing
accordingly.
Farmer Mac securities are backed by agricultural mortgage
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loans for which there are no available quotes. Significant
inputs that are observable include the LIBOR yield curve and
volatility. Significant inputs that are not observable include
market spreads and prepayment speeds which are derived by
correlations and assumptions. Therefore, Farmer Mac
securities were classified as Level 3.
Nonaccrual Loans: For nonaccrual loans evaluated for
impairment under FASB impairment guidance, the fair value
is based upon the underlying collateral since the loans are
collateral-dependent loans and real estate is the collateral.
With regard to impaired loans, it is not practicable to provide
specific information on inputs as each collateral property is
unique. The fair value measurement process uses
independent appraisals and other market-based information,
market conditions, specific issues relating to the collateral
and other matters. As a result, these fair value measurements
fall within Level 3 of the hierarchy. When the value of the
real estate, less estimated costs to sell, is less than the
principal balance of the loan, a specific reserve is established.
Other Property Owned: With regard to other property
owned, it is not practicable to provide specific information on
inputs as each property is unique. The process for measuring
the fair value of other property owned involves the use of
appraisals or other market-based information. As a result,
these fair value measurements fall within Level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy. Costs to sell represent transaction costs and
are not included as a component of the asset’s fair value.
Note 17 – Quarterly Financial Information
(Unaudited)
Quarterly results of operations for the years ended December
31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, follow.

(in thousands)
Net interest
income
(Provision for
loan losses) /
Loan loss
reversal
Noninterest
income
Noninterest
expense
Net income
pre-tax

First

Second

2018
Third

Fourth

Total

$ 67,066

$ 66,532

$ 69,332

$ 71,388

$ 274,318

(2,083)

(5,254)

25,038

15,587

21,178

11,860

73,663

(22,205)

(21,885)

(21,860)

(25,987)

(91,937)

$ 67,816

$ 54,980

$ 67,807

$ 57,505
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(843)

244

(7,936)

$ 248,108

(in thousands)
Net interest
income
Provision for
loan losses
Noninterest
income
Noninterest
expense
Net income
pre-tax

(in thousands)
Net interest
income
Provision for
loan losses
Noninterest
income
Noninterest
expense
Net income
pre-tax

First

Second

2017
Third

Fourth

Total

$ 63,142

$ 63,472

$ 66,403

$ 65,350

$ 258,367

(1,027)

(3,775)

(4,850)

(1,974)

(11,626)

17,529

14,449

14,900

15,010

61,888

(22,187)

(21,425)

(21,365)

(23,509)

(88,486)

$ 57,457

$ 52,721

$ 55,088

$ 54,877

$ 220,143

First

Second

2016
Third

Fourth

Total

$ 64,311

$ 62,135

$ 61,418

$ 62,553

$ 250,417

(3,490)

(4,792)

(4,768)

(7,166)

(20,216)

16,876

15,951

13,810

13,798

60,435

(21,169)

(19,891)

(21,416)

(21,977)

(84,453)

$ 53,403

$ 49,044

$ 47,208

$ 206,183

$ 56,528

Note 18 – Subsequent Events
On February 28, 2019, the final merger involving Farm
Credit West’s wholly owned subsidiaries was completed.
Farm Credit Services Southwest, ACA, Farm Credit Services
Southwest, FLCA and Farm Credit Services Southwest, PCA,
were merged into the Farm Credit West entities, Farm Credit
West, ACA, Farm Credit West, FLCA and Farm Credit West,
PCA respectively. Effective March 1, 2019, Farm Credit
West, ACA is now comprised of two subsidiaries, Farm
Credit West, FLCA and Farm Credit West, PCA.
Accordingly, there will be one patronage pool for 2019. The
final merger had no impact on Farm Credit West’s financial
condition or results of operations.

Disclosure Information Required by
Farm Credit Administration Regulations
Description of Business
The description of the territory served, persons eligible to
borrow, types of lending activities engaged in and financial
services offered, and related Farm Credit organizations
required to be disclosed in this section is incorporated herein
by reference from Note 1 to the financial statements included
in this Annual Report.
The description of significant developments that had or could
have a material impact on earnings or interest rates to
borrowers, acquisitions or dispositions of material assets,
material changes in the manner of conducting the business,
seasonal characteristics, and concentrations of assets, if any,
required to be disclosed in this section is incorporated herein
by reference from “Management’s Discussion and Analysis”
included in this Annual Report.

The below table presents five years of capital ratios prior to
the new capital regulations implemented in 2017.
At December 31,
Permanent capital ratio
Total surplus ratio
Core surplus ratio

2016

2015

2014

2013

2012

17.55%
13.49%
13.49%

17.54%
13.54%
13.50%

19.62%
14.92%
14.90%

18.62%
14.46%
14.35%

16.99%
13.70%
13.56%

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis” in this Annual
Report is required to be disclosed in this section and is
incorporated herein by reference.
Board of Directors’ Charter, Code of Ethics, and
Independence

With the final resolution of litigation involving the Farm
Credit Services Southwest ACA/FLCA/PCA subsidiaries, the
Farm Credit West Board passed a resolution approving the
final merger involving Farm Credit West and its wholly
owned subsidiaries (Farm Credit Services Southwest, ACA,
Farm Credit Services Southwest, FLCA and Farm Credit
Services Southwest, PCA). Effective March 1, 2019, Farm
Credit West, ACA is now comprised of two subsidiaries,
Farm Credit West, FLCA, and Farm Credit West, PCA.

The Farm Credit West Board of Directors has adopted a
Charter to support the Board’s leadership and oversight role
in the accomplishment of the Association’s mission. Also,
the Board has adopted a Code of Ethics, whereby the Board
and each director commit to conduct business in accordance
with the highest ethical standards. In accordance with the
Farm Credit West Board of Directors’ Charter, annually the
Corporate Governance Committee determines the
independence of each director (as defined in the subject
Charter). Evaluating each situation using established
“independence” criteria, the Board has determined each Farm
Credit West director to be “independent” in accordance with
those criteria. Both the Charter and Code of Ethics
documents can be viewed on the Farm Credit West website
(farmcreditwest.com).

Description of Capital Structure

Board Committees

Legal Proceedings
Information required to be disclosed in this section is
incorporated herein by reference from Note 15 and Note 18 to
the financial statements included in this Annual Report.

Information required to be disclosed in this section is
incorporated herein by reference from Note 9 to the financial
statements included in this Annual Report.
Description of Liabilities
The description of debt outstanding required to be disclosed
in this section is incorporated herein by reference from Notes
1, 8, 9 and 12 to the financial statements included in this
Annual Report.
The description of contingent liabilities required to be
disclosed in this section is incorporated herein by reference
from Notes 1 and Note 15 to the financial statements in this
Annual Report.
Selected Financial Data
The selected financial data for the five years ended
December 31, 2018 required to be disclosed in this section is
incorporated herein by reference from the “Five-Year
Summary of Selected Financial Data” in this Annual Report.

Farm Credit West maintains four committees that are
primarily composed of directors: a Corporate Governance
Committee, an Audit Committee, an Enterprise Risk
Management Committee, and a Human Capital Committee.
The members of those committees are identified in the
director disclosures below. The full Board considers these
committees to have the range of expertise and experience to
meet their responsibilities.
Corporate Governance Committee
Farm Credit West’s Corporate Governance Committee is
comprised of the chairman of the Board of Directors (who
also chairs this Corporate Governance Committee), the vice
chairman of the Board, the prior chairman of the Board, the
chairs of the Audit Committee, Enterprise Risk Management
Committee and Human Capital Committee, and the President
& CEO. The Corporate Governance Committee meets as
needed to act on broad issues, typically when the full board is
not available to meet. A copy of the Corporate Governance
Committee Charter can be viewed on the Farm Credit West
website.
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Human Capital Committee
Farm Credit West’s Human Capital Committee meets as
needed to address Farm Credit West’s ability to attract and
retain staff. These responsibilities include, but are not limited
to, annually reviewing/approving Farm Credit West’s
compensation programs, establishing performance standards
for the President & CEO, and conducting the President and
CEO’s performance evaluation. A copy of the Human
Capital Committee Charter can be obtained by members upon
request.
Enterprise Risk Management Committee
Farm Credit West’s Enterprise Risk Management Committee
meets as needed to provide oversight for the majority of the
enterprise risk management practices of the Association. The
committee monitors risk within the financial, information
technology, credit and valuation functions as well as overall
risk management performance of the Association. The
committee also determines the basis on which to require
industry and/or stress studies. Additionally, it monitors
compliance with the applicable policies and recommends
policy changes to the full Board. A copy of the Enterprise
Risk Management Committee Charter can be obtained by
members upon request.
Audit Committee
Farm Credit West’s Audit Committee manages the audit
function as detailed in an internal audit policy and an Audit
Committee charter. At least one Audit Committee member is
designated a “financial expert” as defined in FCA
regulations. All committee members are expected to have a
practical knowledge of finance and accounting. A copy of
the Audit Committee Charter can be obtained by members
upon request.
The primary functions of the Audit Committee are to: (1)
assist the full Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities
for the financial reporting process, the system of internal
control, the audit process, and the process for monitoring
compliance with laws/regulations; (2) pre-approve and
oversee all auditing and non-audit services provided by
independent auditors, and; (3) oversee the audit effort of the
Association’s internal audit function. A report of Audit
Committee activities is included in this Annual Report.

Directors
Farm Credit regulations require the disclosure of directors’
business experience for the last five years, other entities on
whose board the director serves, compensation received as a
Farm Credit West director, and certain other information.
Compensation amounts are presented in whole dollars.
In May 2018, J. Dick Eastman retired from Farm Credit
West’s Board following 18 years of service as a director. In
2018, Mr. Eastman served 4 days at Board and Board
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committee meetings and 2 days in other official activities on
behalf of the Board, for which he was compensated $23,490.
Joseph C. (Joey) Airoso, Chairman of the Board of
Directors
Term of Office: Mr. Airoso has served on the Board since
2007. His current term ends in 2023.
Mr. Airoso serves as chairman of the Farm Credit West
Board and Corporate Governance Committee and is a
National Association of Corporate Directors (NACD)
Governance Fellow. He demonstrates his commitment to the
highest standards of boardroom excellence by earning NACD
Fellowship, the gold standard director credential, year-afteryear. NACD Fellowship is a comprehensive and continuous
program of study that empowers directors with the latest
insights, intelligence, and leading boardroom practices. Mr.
Airoso operates a family-owned dairy and farm, Airoso Dairy
Farms. He is a board member of College of Sequoias Ag
Advisory; Central Valley Dairy Regional Water Monitoring
Program; and Pixley Irrigation Water Commission. In 2018,
Mr. Airoso served 13 days at Board and Board committee
meetings and 8 days at other official activities on behalf of
the Board, for which he was compensated $59,360.
Sureena B. Thiara, Vice-Chair of the Board of
Directors
Term of Office: Ms. Thiara has served on the Board since
2005. Her current term ends in 2021.
Ms. Thiara serves as vice chairman of the Farm Credit West
Board and Corporate Governance Committee and is a
National Association of Corporate Directors (NACD)
Governance Fellow. She demonstrates her commitment to
the highest standards of boardroom excellence by earning
NACD Fellowship, the gold standard director credential,
year-after-year. NACD Fellowship is a comprehensive and
continuous program of study that empowers directors with
the latest insights, intelligence, and leading boardroom
practices. Ms. Thiara is a partner in Far Horizon Insurance
Partnership (insurance). She is also a partner in Manseena
Orchards (leases agricultural land). She is also a managing
member in JKB Land Holdings, LLC (agricultural land) and
JKB Enterprises, LLC (farming). She is also a crop insurance
agent. In 2018, Ms. Thiara served 11 days at Board and
Board committee meetings and 8 days in other official
activities on behalf of the Board, for which she was
compensated $53,420.
Robert Amarel, Jr., Director
Term of Office: Mr. Amarel has served on the Board since
2007. His current term ends in 2023.
Mr. Amarel serves as chairman of the Farm Credit West
Human Capital Committee and serves on the Corporate
Governance Committee and is a National Association of
Corporate Directors (NACD) Board Leadership Fellow. He
demonstrates his commitment to the highest standards of
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boardroom excellence by earning NACD Fellowship, the
gold standard director credential, year-after-year. NACD
Fellowship is a comprehensive and continuous program of
study that empowers directors with the latest insights,
intelligence, and leading boardroom practices. Mr. Amarel
manages Reason Farms, which is involved in growing prunes,
walnuts, almonds and also owns commercial properties. He
is also a director of Sunsweet Growers, a prune processing
and marketing cooperative; the California Dried Plum BoardState Marketing Order; Prune Marketing Committee-Federal
Prune Marketing Order; and a Farm Bureau member ag
spokesman. He also serves as CoBank’s representative on
the board of the California Farm Water Coalition. In 2018,
Mr. Amarel served 13 days at Board and Board committee
meetings and 6 days in other official activities on behalf of
the Board, for which he was compensated $53,420.
Teresa Castanias, Appointed Director
Term of Office: Ms. Castanias has served on the Board since
2016. Her current term ends in 2021.
Ms. Castanias serves on the Farm Credit West Audit
Committee and is a National Association of Corporate
Directors (NACD) Governance Fellow. She demonstrates
her commitment to the highest standards of boardroom
excellence by earning NACD Fellowship, the gold standard
director credential, year-after-year. NACD Fellowship is a
comprehensive and continuous program of study that
empowers directors with the latest insights, intelligence, and
leading boardroom practices. Ms. Castanias has a tax
consulting practice operating as Teresa Castanias, CPA,
focused on cooperative issues and other business and
individual tax matters. Ms. Castanias has substantial
experience leading and coordinating tax engagements, and
focuses on consulting with cooperatives on business and tax
issues. Ms. Castanias is an active member of the Legal, Tax
and Accounting (“LTA”) Committee of the National Council
of Farmer Cooperatives (“NCFC”); active member of the Tax
Committee of the National Society of Accountants for
Cooperatives (“NSAC”); member of the American Institute
of Certified Public Accountants; and member of the
California Society of Certified Public Accountants. Currently
she serves on the board and is treasurer of the California
Center for Cooperative Development, a non-profit for
community and economic development, in Davis, CA. In
2018, Ms. Castanias served 16 days at Board and Board
committee meetings and 3 days in other official activities on
behalf of the Board, for which she was compensated $47,490.
Mark A. Cook, Director
Term of Office: Mr. Cook has served on the Board since
2016. His current term ends in 2020.
Mr. Cook serves on the Farm Credit West Human Capital
Committee. Mr. Cook is a managing member of North
Bowie Farming, LLC (custom farming and farm
management). He is also president of Sierra Farming
Company, Inc. (pistachios and custom farming) and vice-

president of Coronado Vineyards, Inc. (wine/wine grapes).
Mr. Cook is a member of Sierra Land Company, LLC (land
ownership); managing member of Four Star Pistachio, LLC
(pistachios); managing officer of J&P Pistachio Ranch, LLC
(pistachios) and of WPD Pistachio, LLC (pistachios);
president of Ironwood Pistachio, LLC (pistachios and
alfalfa); managing officer of R&R Orchards, LLC (pecans);
president of Whitetail Creek Orchard, LLC (pecans and
alfalfa); managing officer of Double K Orchard, LLC
(pistachios); Lazy Dog Orchard, LLC (pistachios); and Ash
Creek Orchards, LLC (pistachios); and Ash Creek Orchards,
LLC (pistachios). Mr. Cook is vice president of Arizona
Pistachio Growers Association; director of Arizona Pecan
Growers Association, Western Pecan Growers Association
and A & P Growers Cooperative (industry organizations);
and director of Cochise County Farmers Association
(propane, lubricants). In 2018, Mr. Cook served 13 days at
Board and Board committee meetings and 8 days in other
official activities on behalf of the Board, for which he was
compensated $47,490.
Catherine Fanucchi, Director
Term of Office: Ms. Fanucchi has served on the Board since
2015. Her current term ends in 2020.
Ms. Fanucchi serves on the Farm Credit West Audit
Committee. Ms. Fanucchi is a manager, grower and operator
for Tri-Fanucchi Farms, LLC; Poso Ridge, LLC; and La
Carota Farms, LLC (all farming entities). This is a
diversified family farm producing fruit, vegetables and
almonds. She is secretary for Gold Ribbon Potato Co., Inc.
(potato packing shed) and president of Il Pomodoro, Inc.
(agricultural property). She is also a managing member of
Cal Diamonds, LLC (agricultural property); president of
Catchu, Inc. (farming); vice president and secretary of Lucca
Exports, Inc. (IC D corporation); managing member of Bag
Katu, LLC and Hye Yem, LLC; and manager of G3
Trees,LLC (all agricultural properties). Ms. Fanucchi is a
director of the Western Growers Association (insurance
provider and agricultural advocate). She is a member of the
California State Bar Association. In 2018, Ms. Fanucchi
served 16 days at Board and Board committee meetings and
3 days in other official activities on behalf of the Board, for
which she was compensated $47,490.
Douglas C. Filipponi, Director
Term of Office: Mr. Filipponi has served on the Board since
2006. His current term ends in 2020.
Mr. Filipponi serves as chairman of the Farm Credit West
Enterprise Risk Management Committee and serves on the
Corporate Governance Committee and is a National
Association of Corporate Directors (NACD) Governance
Fellow. He demonstrates his commitment to the highest
standards of boardroom excellence by earning NACD
Fellowship, the gold standard director credential, year-afteryear. NACD Fellowship is a comprehensive and continuous
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program of study that empowers directors with the latest
insights, intelligence, and leading boardroom practices. Mr.
Filipponi is president of Filipponi-Thompson Drilling, Inc.
(drills water wells) and managing member of Margarita
Vineyards, LLC (wine grapes). He is also managing member
of Santa Margarita Cattle Company, LLC (cattle); owner of
Vaquero Water Ranch (cattle); and managing member of
Santa Margarita Ranch, LLC (landlord); Mission Lakes, LLC
(landlord for quarry operation); DKF I, LLC (wine grapes);
and Major Domo, LLC (agricultural land). He is a general
partner of Filipponi & Thompson (agricultural land) and chief
operating officer of Ancient Peak, Inc. In 2018, Mr.
Filipponi served 13 days at Board and Board committee
meetings and 4 days in other official activities on behalf of
the Board, for which he was compensated $53,420.
Craig C. Gnos, Director
Term of Office: Mr. Gnos has served on the Board since
2002. His current term ends in 2019.
Mr. Gnos serves on the Farm Credit West Enterprise Risk
Management Committee as vice chairman and is a National
Association of Corporate Directors (NACD) Governance
Fellow. He demonstrates his commitment to the highest
standards of boardroom excellence by earning NACD
Fellowship, the gold standard director credential, year-afteryear. NACD Fellowship is a comprehensive and continuous
program of study that empowers directors with the latest
insights, intelligence, and leading boardroom practices. Mr.
Gnos is involved in the production of alfalfa, corn,
cucumbers, tomatoes, squash, sunflowers, watermelons,
almond trees and wheat at E & H Farms and Batavia Farms.
Mr. Gnos serves as president and secretary for Gnos Bros. Inc
(equipment rental) and Batavia Inc. (payroll). Mr. Gnos
serves on the Solano County Farm Service Agency
Committee as chairman. In 2018, Mr. Gnos served 13 days at
Board and Board committee meetings and 4 days in other
official activities on behalf of the Board, for which he was
compensated $47,490.
Robert N. Hansen, Director
Term of Office: Mr. Hansen has served on the Board since
1999. His current term ends in 2021.
Mr. Hansen serves on the Farm Credit West Risk
Management Committee and is a National Association of
Corporate Directors (NACD) Governance Fellow. He
demonstrates his commitment to the highest standards of
boardroom excellence by earning NACD Fellowship, the
gold standard director credential, year-after-year. NACD
Fellowship is a comprehensive and continuous program of
study that empowers directors with the latest insights,
intelligence, and leading boardroom practices. Mr. Hansen is
a partner in Hansen Farms (which raises irrigated field crops)
and 3-H Cattle Company (cattle). He is a board member of
the Duncan Reclamation District (reclamation district). Mr.
Hansen is also a director of the Hanford Community Medical
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Center (healthcare). In 2018, Mr. Hansen served 12 days at
Board and Board committee meetings and 1 day in other
official activities on behalf of the Board , for which he was
compensated $47,490.
Blake Harlan, Director
Term of Office: Mr. Harlan has served on the Board since
2003. His current term ends in 2022.
Mr. Harlan serves as vice chairman of the Farm Credit West
Human Capital Committee and is a National Association of
Corporate Directors (NACD) Governance Fellow. He
demonstrates his commitment to the highest standards of
boardroom excellence by earning NACD Fellowship, the
gold standard director credential, year-after-year. NACD
Fellowship is a comprehensive and continuous program of
study that empowers directors with the latest insights,
intelligence, and leading boardroom practices. Mr. Harlan is
president of Harlan Family Ranch (farming). He also does
business as Harlan Feed, which manufactures and distributes
hay cubes to the livestock industry. Mr. Harlan is also a
partner in Wilson Bend Farms (farming)s. In 2018, Mr.
Harlan served 13 days at Board and Board committee
meetings and 1 day in other official activities on behalf of the
Board, for which he was compensated $47,490.
Tom Ikeda, Director
Term of Office: Mr. Ikeda has served on the Board since
2017. His current term ends in 2022.
Mr. Ikeda serves on the Farm Credit West Enterprise Risk
Management Committee. Mr. Ikeda is corporate secretary of
Ikeda Bros (a diversified farming operation of vegetables,
citrus and avocados). Mr. Ikeda also serves as president of
Pismo Oceano Vegetable Exchange (agricultural cooling,
shipping and sales), as well as Fukuhara Farms, Inc.,
(agricultural land leasing). Mr. Ikeda serves on the Board of
San Luis Obispo County Farm Bureau (agricultural
advocacy); California Leafy Green Research Board
(agricultural research funding); and the San Luis Obispo
County Agricultural Liaison Advisory Board (agricultural
advocacy). In 2018, Mr. Ikeda served 13 days at Board and
Board committee meetings and 9 days in other official
activities on behalf of the Board, for which he was
compensated $47,490.
Colin Mellon, Director
Term of Office: Mr. Mellon has served on the Board since
2015. His current term ends in 2021.
Mr. Mellon serves on the Farm Credit West Audit
Committee. He was a board member of Farm Credit Services
Southwest since 2007 and with the merger in November 2015
is now a member of the Farm Credit West board. Mr. Mellon
is owner/manager of a diversified farming enterprise in
Yuma, Arizona operating as Mellon Farms. He is president
of C.L. Mellon Inc. and Doug Mellon Farms II, Inc. (farming
operations); and Desert Applicators, Inc. (agricultural
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services). He is also a managing member of 5 M Holdings,
LLC and Mellon Brothers, LLC (real estate holdings); and
Tri Farm Investors, LLC (farming). He is also a director of
Yuma County Water Users Association (water association)
and Yuma Fresh Vegetables Association (agricultural
advocacy). In 2018, Mr. Mellon served 15 days at Board and
Board committee meetings and 5 days in other official
activities on behalf of the Board, for which he was
compensated $47,490.
Mark N. Osterkamp, Director
Term of Office: Mr. Osterkamp was elected to the Board in
June 2018 and has served on the Board since July 2018. His
current term ends in 2023.
Mr. Osterkamp serves on the Farm Credit West Audit
Committee. Mr. Osterkamp is president of Osterkamp
Farms, Inc. (farming). He also serves as a director for
Rockwood Chemical Company (agricultural chemicals
cooperative); Imperial County Farm Bureau and CA Beet
Growers Association (both agricultural advocacy); Field
Inspection LLC (transportation and field inspections);
Keystone Agricultural Company (agricultural equipment and
management); Planters Hay Inc. (hay press and forage
export); Planters Hay Trucking (equipment transport holding
company); and PHX Management Inc. (agricultural
management). In 2018, Mr. Osterkamp served 8 days at
Board and Board committee meetings and 5 days in other
official activities on behalf of the Board, for which he was
compensated $23,730.
Barry T. Powell, Appointed Director
Term of Office: Mr. Powell has served on the Board since
2007. His current term ends in 2022.
Mr. Powell serves as chairman of the Farm Credit West Audit
Committee and serves on the Corporate Governance
Committee and is a National Association of Corporate
Directors (NACD) Board Leadership Fellow. He
demonstrated his commitment to the highest standards of
boardroom excellence by earning NACD Fellowship, the
gold standard director credential. NACD Fellowship is a
comprehensive and continuous program of study that
empowers directors with the latest insights, intelligence, and
leading boardroom practices. The Board has determined that
he is an audit committee financial expert. Mr. Powell is a
financial consultant (Powell Consulting) within the
agricultural sector. In addition, from August 2013 to present,
he has served as CEO for North Valley Ag Services, a
fertilizer and crop input cooperative. Mr. Powell serves on
the Board of Cristo Rey High School (Catholic high school).
In 2018, Mr. Powell served 16 days at Board and Board
committee meetings and 5 days in other official activities on
behalf of the Board, for which he was compensated $53,420.

Brian Talley, Director
Term of Office: Mr. Talley has served on the Board since
2016. His current term ends in 2019.
Mr. Talley serves on the Farm Credit West Human Capital
Committee and is a National Association of Corporate
Directors (NACD) Governance Fellow. He demonstrates his
commitment to the highest standards of boardroom
excellence by earning NACD Fellowship, the gold standard
director credential, year-after-year. NACD Fellowship is a
comprehensive and continuous program of study that
empowers directors with the latest insights, intelligence, and
leading boardroom practices. Mr. Talley is president of
Talley Farms, Talley Vineyards and Las Ventanas Ranch.
Talley Farms is a grower, packer and shipper of vegetables
and operates a direct to consumer harvest box program.
Talley Vineyards specializes in estate grown chardonnay and
pinot noir wines. Las Ventanas Ranch is a custom homesite
community. Mr. Talley is managing member of Lopez
Company, LLC (land); HIOJT, LLC (land); and Biddle
Ranch Company, LLC (land). Mr. Talley serves as treasurer
of SLO Coast AVA Association (vintners association) and is
a member of the SLO County Flood Control District Zone 3
Advisory Committee (water advisory committee). In 2018,
Mr. Talley served 13 days at Board and Board committee
meetings and 7 days in other official activities on behalf of
the Board, for which he was compensated $47,490.
Director Compensation, Travel, Subsistence, and
Other Related Expenses
Director compensation is under the oversight of the Board’s
Human Capital Committee. During 2018, each Farm Credit
West director was compensated based on an annual retainer
paid in monthly installments. The 2018 compensation rates
based on position were as follows: Board chair - $59,360; the
Board vice chair and Board committee chairs - $53,420; and,
all other directors - $47,490. The total compensation Farm
Credit West paid all directors for 2018 amounted to
$747,670.
Directors, senior officers, and other staff are reimbursed
reasonable costs of essential travel, subsistence, and other
related expenses. A copy of the policy authorizing such
reimbursements is available to shareholders upon request.
The total amount of reimbursements to directors for travel,
subsistence, and other related expenses totaled $51,900,
$97,000 and $97,000 in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Senior Officers
Farm Credit regulations also require the disclosure of the
business experience for the last five years for each senior
officer and comprehensive compensation information that
follows.
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Mark D. Littlefield, President and Chief Executive
Officer
Mr. Littlefield has served in his current position since January
2011. Prior to that, he served as an Executive Vice President
(and Senior Vice President) of Farm Credit West since its
founding in 2001. He has been employed in the Farm Credit
System since 1984. Mr. Littlefield serves on the Farm Credit
West Corporate Governance Committee and is a National
Association of Corporate Directors (NACD) Governance
Fellow. He demonstrates his commitment to the highest
standards of boardroom excellence by earning NACD
Fellowship, the gold standard director credential, year-afteryear. NACD Fellowship is a comprehensive and continuous
program of study that empowers directors with the latest
insights, intelligence, and leading boardroom practices. Mr.
Littlefield serves on the board as vice chairman for Financial
Partners, Inc. (Farm Credit technology service provider)
where he is also the chairman of Compensation Committee.
Chris N. Brumfield, Executive Vice President –
General Counsel & Corporate Secretary
Mr. Brumfield has served in his current position since the
founding of Farm Credit West in 2001. Prior to that he was
legal counsel for Central Coast Farm Credit, ACA (as well as
its predecessors) from 1993 until the merger that formed
Farm Credit West. He has been employed in the Farm Credit
System since 1988, except for an 18-month period from 1991
to 1993.
Daniel R. Clawson, Executive Vice President – Chief
Credit Officer
Mr. Clawson has served in his current position as Executive
Vice President (and Senior Vice President) - Chief Credit
Officer since January 2014. Prior to that he served as a
Regional Vice President or a Senior Vice President in credit
operations since 2008. He has been employed in the Farm
Credit System since 1986.
Jean L. Koenck, Executive Vice President – Chief
Financial Officer
Ms. Koenck has served in her current position since July
2016. Prior to that, she served as Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer for Farm Credit West since
November 2015 and as Executive Vice President – Chief
Financial Officer for Farm Credit Services Southwest since
January 2015. She has been employed in the Farm Credit
System since 2004. Prior to 2004, Ms. Koenck spent 13
years with a large commercial bank. Ms. Koenck is a
Certified Public Accountant (CPA).
William M. Noland, Executive Vice President – Chief
Operating Officer
Mr. Noland has served in his current position since January
2014. Prior to that, he served as Executive Vice President Chief Credit Officer and Senior Vice President of Credit
Operations since the founding of Farm Credit West in 2001.
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He has been employed in the Farm Credit System since 1981.
Mr. Noland serves on the Agribusiness Advisory Council for
California Polytechnic State University, San Luis Obispo.
Kevin Ralph, Executive Vice President –
Administrative Services
Mr. Ralph has served in his current position since November,
2015 and manages the Special Assets, Appraisal and Chattel
Departments. Prior to that he served as Regional Vice
President of Special Assets since 2012 and Vice President of
the Leasing Department since 2008. Mr. Ralph started his
Farm Credit career in 1988 as a loan officer. In addition, Mr.
Ralph spent ten years with a large commercial bank.
Chris Roche, Executive Vice President – Chief
Human Resource Officer
Ms. Roche has served in her current position since January,
2015. Prior to that she served as Senior Vice PresidentHuman Resources since May 2011. From 2006 to 2011, she
was a human resources manager for Aerojet Inc., an
aerospace and defense contractor. Ms. Roche was also
previously employed in the Farm Credit System from 1993 to
2002 as a human resources director.
Melanie Johnson, Senior Vice President – Director
of Internal Audit
Ms. Johnson has served in her current position since January
2012. Prior to that she served as Vice President – Assistant
Director of Internal Audit since September 2009, and before
that she was a senior manager for PricewaterhouseCoopers,
LLP. Ms. Johnson is a Certified Internal Auditor (CIA) and a
Certified Public Accountant (CPA).
Compensation of CEO and Senior Officers
The following information is provided in accordance with
Farm Credit Administration (FCA) regulations regarding
senior officer disclosure.
Overview
Our total compensation philosophy for the President and
CEO (CEO) and senior officers of Farm Credit West (FCW)
is designed to align the interests of our senior officers with
those of our shareholders. We accomplish this by providing
incentive compensation that rewards management for
performance that builds long-term value for our stockholders,
fulfills our mission, ensures safety and soundness of our
organization and enhances the value of our cooperative.
Compensation Philosophy and Objectives
The Human Capital Committee (HCC) of the Board of
Directors follows a comprehensive compensation philosophy
where the goals are to:
•

Attract, retain, and reward a qualified and diverse
workforce with the skills required to accomplish FCW’s
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strategic business objectives by offering competitive
market-based compensation;
•

Place a portion of total compensation for senior officers
at risk and contingent upon the Association remaining
sound financially and meeting established performance
goals; and

•

Enhance management of risk and accountability.

CEO and other senior officers. Due to the cooperative
business structure of the Association, the compensation plan
does not contain stock-based compensation components. The
HCC recommends to the Board of Directors the annual
compensation level of the CEO, comprised of salary and
supplemental compensation, including short- and long-term
incentive compensation. The CEO is responsible for setting
the compensation levels of the Association’s senior officers.

The compensation plan is intended to:

Summary Compensation Table

•

Support a strong and enduring cooperative enterprise;

•

Reward successful business year results through an
Annual Incentive Plan;

•

Foster long-term financial stability through the LongTerm Officer Incentive Plan; and

•

Significantly contribute to the retention of the CEO and
other senior officers.

Compensation earned by our CEO and aggregate
compensation of other senior officers and highly
compensated employees for the years ended December 31,
2018, 2017 and 2016 is disclosed in the accompanying table.
Our current Board policy regarding reimbursements for
travel, subsistence and other related expenses states that all
employees, including senior officers, shall be reimbursed for
actual reasonable travel and related expenses that are
necessary and that support our business activities. A copy of
our policy is available to shareholders upon request.

The HCC annually reviews market information related to the
level and mix of salaries, benefits, and incentive plans for the
(in whole dollars)
Name of
Individual or
Number in
Group1

Annual

Long-Term

Incentive

Incentive

Compensation

Change in

Compensation

Pension

Deferred/

Value

Perquisites4

Year

Salary

Mark D.
Littlefield

2016

$650,000

$281,840

$260,000

$1,111,768

$51,102

$2,354,710

2017

$700,000

$299,040

$280,000

$1,167,376

$53,208

$2,499,624

President & CEO:

2018

$700,000

$353,055

$280,000

$760,398

$56,105

$2,149,558

Aggregate number
of senior officers
and highly
compensated
employees
(excluding CEO)

2016(9)

$1,948,125

$553,285

$740,237

$301,693

$370,883

$3,914,223

2017(7)

$1,685,000

$507,924

$394,611

$335,134

$323,161

$3,245,830

2018(7)

$1,832,500

$639,775

$458,125

($15,564)

$353,344

$3,268,180

2

2

3

Total

1. The senior officers and highly compensated employees included above are those officers defined by FCA regulations Section 619.9310 and
Section 620.6. On March 31, 2016, senior officer Chris Doherty’s work schedule was reduced and his total compensation for 2016 is
included in the totals for that year.
2. Incentive compensation amounts represent amounts earned in the reported fiscal year, which are paid in the 1st quarter of the subsequent
year. The annual incentive compensation amounts are calculated based on relevant performance factors for the reported fiscal year, while
the long-term incentive compensation amounts are calculated based on the relevant performance factors for each of the plan years 20162018. Certain employees received a final payout of long-term incentive compensation that was earned in 2016 based on the relevant
performance of Farm Credit Services Southwest.
3. The Change in Pension Value is generally due to the annual changes in compensation, years of service, age and actuarial assumptions such
as the discount rate.
4. Represents company contributions to a 401(k) retirement savings plan and nonqualified deferred compensation plan, as well as payment for
certain other expenses, such as: relocation, automobile allowance/fringe, excess vacation payout, retirement gifts, long-term disability
insurance benefits, and life insurance benefits.
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The Salary, Annual Incentive Compensation, and Long-Term
Incentive Compensation columns of the Summary
Compensation Table include all amounts earned during 2018
regardless of whether a portion of such compensation has
been deferred by the CEO or other Senior Officers’ elections
pursuant to the Farm Credit Foundations Defined
Contribution /401(k) Plan (“401(k) Plan”) and the Farm
Credit Foundations Nonqualified Deferred Compensation
Plan (“NQDC Plan”). Individual compensation for any
Senior Officer included here in the aggregate is available to
shareholders upon written request.
The Deferred/Perquisites Compensation column of the
Summary Compensation Table is primarily comprised of
company contributions to benefit plans, taxable automobile
benefits, group term life insurance premiums, and long-term
disability premiums. In 2018, the Association’s employer
matching contribution to the CEO’s account in the 401(k)
Plan was $14,837 and its contribution to the CEO’s account
in the NQDC Plan to restore the employer match that was
limited due to restrictions in the Internal Revenue Code was
$27,583. For 2018, the Association’s employer matching and
non-elective contributions for the other Senior Officers’
accounts in the 401(k) Plan were $176,300 and contributions
to their accounts in the NQDC Plan were equal to $56,685.
Annual Incentive Compensation – In addition to base salary,
substantially all employees can earn additional compensation
under the annual Performance Based Compensation program
which is tied to the overall business performance and to the
employee’s performance. The annual performance-based
program is based on the fiscal year and is designed to
motivate employees to exceed annual performance targets
established by the Board of Directors. In 2018, performance
targets were established for the following factors:
•

Capital – CET1 Ratio and Surplus before OCI;

•

Asset Quality - Acceptable & OAEM loans / total loans,
criticized assets / total regulatory capital, net loan
charge-offs, nonearning asset volume, and average
earning assets;

•

Management - FCA efficiency ratio, customer survey,
and CIPA (a comprehensive performance measure); and

•

Earnings - net income and return on invested capital.

The plan includes provisions for the Board to evaluate the
Association’s performance in other important but subjective
areas of operations through a discretionary rating component.
In addition to the company-wide goals established by the
Board, individual goals for each employee are established by
management to incent specific performance objectives.
Long-Term Incentive Plans – The Long-Term Incentive Plan
component provides targeted long-term awards for key
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management personnel based on position and responsibilities.
For each senior officer, a long-term incentive award was
established and communicated at the beginning of the plan
term. The payout of the Long-Term Incentive award is three
years later and is conditioned upon satisfactory performance
of the senior officer and the Association exceeding the
threshold CIPA score and FCA Efficiency Ratio as
determined in the plan. Employees that voluntarily terminate
employment or do not maintain satisfactory performance
forfeit these long-term awards.
Expense Reimbursement – All employees are reimbursed for
travel and subsistence expenses incurred when traveling on
Association business. A copy of the travel policy is available
to shareholders upon written request.
Retirement Plan Overview – The CEO and a senior officer
participate in two defined benefit retirement plans: (a) the
11th Farm Credit District Employee’s Retirement Plan; and
(b) the former 9th and 11th District Pension Restoration Plan,
which is a nonqualified retirement plan. Additionally,
substantially all employees participate in the 401(k) Plan,
which has an employer matching contribution. Certain
eligible employees participate in the NQDC Plan, which
allows individuals to defer compensation and which restores
the benefits limited in the 401(k) Plan by restrictions in the
Internal Revenue Code.
Qualified Pension Plan – In general, the 11th Farm Credit
District Employees’ Retirement Plan provides participants
with a single life annuity benefit at normal retirement that is
equal to 1.95% of average monthly compensation during the
60 consecutive months in which an individual receives his
highest compensation (High 60) multiplied by his/her years
of service. The benefit is actuarially adjusted if the
individual chooses a different form of distribution than a
single life annuity. The pension valuation was determined
using a blended approach assuming 30% of the benefits
would be paid as a lump sum and 70% as an annuity at the
participants earliest unreduced retirement age. The 11th Farm
Credit District Employee’s Retirement Plan pays benefits up
to the applicable limits under the Internal Revenue Code.
Non-qualified Pension Restoration Plan – The Former 9th and
11th District Pension Restoration Plan is unfunded and nonqualified for tax purposes. Benefits payable under this plan
are equal to the excess of the amount that would be payable
under the terms of the Qualified Pension Plan, disregarding
the limitations imposed under Internal Revenue Code
Sections 401(a)(17) and 415, over the pension actually
payable under the Qualified Pension Plan. The plan also
restores any benefits attributable to non-qualified deferred
compensation excluded from the benefit determined under
the Qualified Pension Plan. The non-qualified pension
restoration valuation was determined using an assumption
that benefits would be paid as a lump sum at the participants

Disclosure Information Required by
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earliest unreduced retirement age.
Pension Benefits
The table below shows certain pension benefit information by plan for the President and CEO and the senior officer group,
including highly compensated employees, as of December 31, 2018. Amounts are in whole dollars.
Name of
Individual
Mark D.
Littlefield
President & CEO:

Total

Plan Name

11th Farm Credit
District Employees’
Retirement Plan
Former 9th and 11th
District Pension
Restoration Plan

Number of
Years of Credited
Service

Actuarial Present
Value of
Accumulated
Benefits

Payments
During Last
Fiscal Year

36

$2,448,794

$0

36

$6,351,236

$0

36

$8,800,030

$0

Aggregate Number of Senior Officers and Highly Compensated Employees (excluding the CEO):
Number in
Plan Name
Number of
Actuarial Present
Payments
Group1
Years of Credited
Value of
During Last
Service
Accumulated
Fiscal Year
Benefits
1 Participant
11th Farm Credit
District Employees’
38
$2,704,846
Retirement Plan
1 Participant
Former 9th and 11th
District Pension
38
$963,189
Restoration Plan
Total
38
$3,668,035

$0
$0
$0

1. The senior officers and highly compensated employees to be included in the pension benefits disclosure are those defined by FCA
regulations Section 619.9310 and Section 620.6.
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Transactions with Senior Officers and Directors
Farm Credit West’s policies on loans to and transactions with
its full-time officers and directors, required to be disclosed in
this section, are incorporated herein by reference from
Note 13 to the financial statements included in this Annual
Report. At December 31, 2018, no loans to Farm Credit
West directors or full-time officers, CoBank directors or fulltime officers, their immediate families, or affiliated
organizations involved more than a normal risk of
collectability.
Director and Officer Preferred Stock Ownership
The following table shows information related to the
preferred stock holdings of Association directors.
For the year ended
December 31, 2018
(in thousands)
Joseph C. Airoso
Robert E. Amarel Jr.
Douglas C. Filipponi
Craig C. Gnos
Robert N. Hansen
Total

Preferred Stock
Year-end
Balance
$

$

55
119
506
900
407
1,987

Issued
$

$

—
—
500
—
135
635

Retired
$

$

—
—
—
—
—
—

Farm Credit West has a comprehensive policy dealing with
the equitable issuance and retirement of its class H preferred
stock. Total preferred stock held by directors was 0.5% of
total preferred stock outstanding at December 31, 2018. The
preferred stock dividend rate at December 31, 2018 was
2.30% for all preferred stockholders. Farm Credit West
preferred stock policy prohibits ownership of preferred stock
by Association employees.
Involvement of Directors and Officers in Certain
Legal Proceedings
There were no matters which came to the attention of
management or the Board of Directors regarding involvement
of current directors or senior officers in specified legal
proceedings other than what is discussed in Note 15 to the
financial statements included in this Annual Report.
Relationship with CoBank
The financial condition and results of operations of CoBank
materially affect stockholder investments in Farm Credit
West. Copies of the CoBank Annual Report and copies of
CoBank’s most recent quarterly financial report are available
from Farm Credit West free of charge.
Farm Credit West’s statutory obligation to borrow from
CoBank is discussed in Note 8 to the financial statements
included in this Annual Report.
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Farm Credit West’s requirement to invest in CoBank capital
is discussed in Note 5 to the financial statements included in
this Annual Report.
CoBank’s role in mitigating Farm Credit West’s exposure to
interest rate risk is described in the Liquidity and Funding
Sources section of “Management’s Discussion and Analysis”
included in this Annual Report.
Relationship with Independent Auditors
There were no changes in independent auditors and no
material disagreements with the independent auditors on any
matters of accounting principle or financial statement
disclosures during 2018. In 2018, we paid PricewaterhouseCoopers, LLP, $272,332 for audit services, $81,304 for
assessment work on internal controls over financial reporting
and $30,062 for a transfer pricing analysis.
Financial Statements
The financial statements, together with the report thereon of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP dated March 8, 2019, as well
as “Management’s Discussion and Analysis” in this Annual
Report, are incorporated herein by reference.
Description of Property
Certain information regarding office properties owned and/or
occupied by Farm Credit West at December 31, 2018 can be
found on the next page. The Paso Robles office is the only
office that is leased and that lease terminates on December
31, 2019. All other properties listed are owned by Farm
Credit West. Farm Credit West also owns some commercial
real estate parcels adjacent to the Kern County, Santa Maria,
Templeton, Tulare, and Woodland offices, all of which are
held as investments in land to generally accommodate future
expansion.
In 2017, Farm Credit West built a new facility and relocated
its Yuba City branch from a leased facility in Yuba City prior
to its lease termination in October of 2017.
In 2015, Farm Credit West purchased an office building in
Rocklin, California to replace its leased facility in Roseville.
Initial occupancy occurred in May of 2016 when phase 1
remodeling was completed and full occupancy occurred in
January of 2017 when phase 2 remodeling was completed.
Farm Credit West continues to lease and accordingly,
sublease the Roseville facility until its lease termination on
April 30, 2019.
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Office Locations
ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICE
3755 Atherton Road
Rocklin, CA 95765
916.780.1166
800.909.5050
DINUBA
940 W. El Monte Way
Dinuba, CA 93618
559.591.9378

RURAL ARIZONA/SAFFORD
1120 S. 20th Avenue
Safford, AZ 85546
928.348.9571

VENTURA
2031 Knoll Drive
Ventura, CA 93003
805.477.1020

HANFORD
1111 W. Lacey Boulevard
Hanford, CA 93230
559.584.2681

SANTA MARIA
1178 Tama Lane
Santa Maria, CA 93455
805.922.7991

WOODLAND
440 Pioneer Avenue
Woodland, CA 95776
530.666.3333

IMPERIAL VALLEY
485 Business Park Way
Imperial, CA 92251
760.355.0291

TEMPE
3003 S. Fair Lane
Tempe, AZ 85282
602.431.4100

YUBA CITY
1800 Lassen Boulevard
Yuba City, CA 95993
530.671.1420

KERN COUNTY
19628 Industry Parkway Drive
Bakersfield, CA 93308
661.399.7360

TEMPLETON
175 Cow Meadow Place
Paso Robles, CA 93446
805.434.3665

YUMA
2490 S. 5th Avenue
Yuma, AZ 85364
928.344.3200

PASO ROBLES
1446 Spring Street, Suite 201
Paso Robles, CA 93446
805.237.0998

TULARE
200 E. Cartmill Avenue
Tulare, CA 93274
559.684.1478
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